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Case Name:
R. v. Caron

Between
Her Majesty the Queen, Respondent, and
Gilles Caron, Applicant/Appellant, and
Her Majesty the Queen, Respondent, and
Pierre Boutet, Applicant/Appellant

[2011] A.J. No. 1563
2011 ABCA 385
515 AR. 304
Docket: 1003-0016-A, 1003-0017-A

Registry: Edmonton

Alberta Court of Appeal
J.E.L. Céte J.A.

Heard: November 23, 2011.
Judgment: December 21, 2011.

(110 paras.)

Criminal law -- Rights of accused -- State-funded counsel -- Application by accused for state-funded
counsel for appeal allowed in part -- Appeal had gone far beyond issues raised by accused's traffic
violation, becoming challenge to validity of all of Alberta's unilingual legislation -- Voluminous
materials were already filed -- Accused had ability to continue earning income, but some health
problems -- Accused chose not to permit intervenors and co-appellant to control litigation -- Little
preparation was needed to continue appeal, and province's resources were not to be spent lightly --
Funds of 811,600 were loaned to accused -- Criminal Code, s. 684.

Application by Caron for state-funded counsel for his appeal from a conviction for a traffic viola-
tion. The issue on appeal was not whether or not Caron had made an illegal turn, but the validity of
all of Alberta's unilingual legislation. To the time of the application, 89 days of trial time had been
occupied with Caron's case. There were two intervenors and another appellant involved in the ap-
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peal. The intervenors seemed to have funds, and there was no evidence about the resources of Ca-
ron's co-appellant. Caron did not want these other parties to take control of the litigation. He was
unemployed at the time of the application, but had skills in the trades and intended to seek employ-
ment. He had some health problems. He sought funding for two lawyers, totaling approximately
$80,000.

HELD: Application allowed in part. Caron was loaned funding for one lawyer, capped at a maxi-
mum of $11,600. Full state funding was not appropriate, where Caron had a choice to allow others
to take the lead with the litigation, where the case had already taken an exorbitant amount of time
and court resources, and where Alberta was in a deficit position. Given the slow pace of the litiga-
tion, it was likely that Caron would be able to fund it on a reasonable scale with his earnings from
his next position. His health problems created the risk that funding the litigation might strip him of
many of his assets. The hours Caron's counsel suggested they would need for the appeal were un-
necessary, given the amount of material already filed. The award was based on one day of argument
by senior counsel before the Court of Appeal, with the assistance of a student, with minimal prepa-
ration time.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules Cited:
Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46, s. 684
Languages Act, S.A. 1988, c. L-7.5,
Manitoba Act 1870,

N.W.T. Act 1875,

N.W.T. Act 1886,

N.W.T. Act 1891,

Counsel:

T.R.A. Haykowsky, for the Respondent Crown.

R.J.F. Lepage, for the Applicant M. Caron and 1'Assemblée Communautaire Fransaskoise
A.W. Damer, for the Applicant M. Boutet.

M.C. Doucet, Q.C. F.J. Lerocque, for I'Association Canadienne-Frangaise de 1'Alberta.

Reasons for Decision
A. Background

1 The biggest issue here is ordering the respondent to fund the appellant's appeal to the Court of
Appeal.

2 The present litigation is the 5th round of attempts to have all the legislation in the three "Prai-
rie" provinces (old Rupert's Land) written and published in English and French. And this litigation
in effect seeks to render all the existing provincial legislation void in the meantime.
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3 M. Bilodeau partly succeeded in the first attempt in Manitoba in 1986, as the Manitoba Act
1870 expressly called for bilingual legislation. But the existing legislation was held valid in the in-
terim, because of the necessity doctrine. See A-G' Man v Bilodeau, [1986] 1 S.C.R. 449 and Ref re
Man Language Rts, [1985] 1 S.C.R. 721.

4 Second, Father Mercure brought a similar challenge in Saskatchewan. Saskatchewan (and
Alberta), unlike Manitoba, had no legislation of their own on the topic. But there was a section in
the old N.W.T. Acts 1875, 1886 and 1891 providing for bilingual legislation. N.W.T. legislation was
held still in force, but not constitutionally entrenched, so it could be repealed by the successor
province: R v Mercure, [1988] 1 S.C.R. 234. The same was held for Alberta: R v Paquette, [1990]
2 S.C.R. 1103.

5 Third, Alberta passed an Act (in both languages) repealing any need for bilingual legislation:
Languages Act 1988, ¢ L-7.5. (Saskatchewan did so in qualified terms.)

6 Fourth, that new Alberta legislation was then challenged by M. Lefebvre, but was upheld:
Lefebvre v R(1993) 135 AR 338 (CA).

7 Fifth, M. Caron resisted his 2003 traffic violation ticket under Alberta legislation on traffic
safety. He began by objecting that the ticket was written only in English, but the litigation then
turned into a challenge to any Alberta legislation which was not bilingual, i.e. to all Alberta legisla-
tion. M. Caron now relies on two or three documents respecting the admission of Manitoba and the
Northwest Territories (Rupert's Land) into Canada.

8 That is this litigation.

9 I had every intention of issuing this decision in both official languages. Having written it in
English, I had inquiries made to the usual secure federal government translators about the time and
money which would be involved to produce a French version. The estimated time was about three
weeks (14-15 business days), which would be presumably four or five weeks given Christmas holi-
days. The money estimate was about $9000 to $10,000, though that was a cautious figure, and it
might be less. For reasons which will become self-evident in this decision, I find the cost of transla-
tion here totally disproportionate. This is a decision on a procedural matter, not on the merits. Dif-
ferent considerations might well apply to a decision on the merits. Also distressing is the amount of
time which translation would consume, given the deadlines agreed upon for factums.

10 There is no good solution to this distressing dilemma. After thought, I have decided that the
lesser of two evils is to issue unilingual reasons. Needless to say, this is not a reflection on any of
the parties concerned, nor on the careful, thoughtful, clear, well-articulated arguments which I
heard.

B. Facts
11 I recite below the bare-bones history of this Caroncase, including previous funding applica-
tions.

Application for costs and interim costs: 2006 ABPC 278, 416 AR 63 (Aug 2)
Second application for state-funded counsel: (PC) 2006 CarswellAlta 2052 (Nov
7) Appeal re costs and state-funded counsel: 2007 ABQB 262, 413 AR 146

Award of interim costs: 2007 ABQB 632, 424 AR 377
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Merits at trial: 2008 ABPC 232, 450 AR 204

Crown's application for stay of interim funding order: 2008 ABCA 111, 429 AR
79

Appeal from interim costs order: 2009 ABCA 34, 446 AR 362

Merits on appeal: 2009 ABQB 745,476 A.R. 198

Leave to appeal to Supreme Court of Canada: (2009) 400 N.R. 391

Merits (leave to appeal to Court of Appeal): 2010 ABCA 343,493 A.R. 200

Appeal from Court of Appeal re interim costs: 2011 SCC 5, [2011] 1 S.C.R. 78,
411 N.R. 89

C. Evidence and Procedure
12 M. Caron seeks a grant of litigation funding by the Crown in Right of Alberta.

13 It would not have been economical or prompt to hear oral evidence on the present motion.
No one asked for that, and this Court does not really do that when hearing motions under s 684 of
the Criminal Code.

14 I received and weighed a new set of evidence. It was not the evidence heard five years ago
in Provincial Court or the Court of Queen's Bench for funding, and facts have changed since then.
The Supreme Court of Canada's 2011 Carondecision (supra) says that

funding orders ... should be carefully fashioned and reviewed over the course of
the proceedings ... [to be] balanced against the need to encourage the reasonable
and efficient conduct of litigation ... (para 47)

15 All parties agreed that I should sit alone under R 516, treating all topics before me as matters
incidental to an appeal. And the Court of Appeal's jurisdiction was objected to (by the Crown) only
as to the costs' amount (whether confined to the amounts in Schedule C).

D. Postponing Deadline

16 M. Caron wished the deadline to file his factum, authorities, and extracts of key evidence
postponed to a date in March. The Crown and proposed interveners had no objection, and I ordered
that.

E. Two Interventions

17 Two bodies moved to be allowed to intervene in this appeal to the Court of Appeal: I'Asso-
ciation Canadienne-Frangaise de 1'Alberta, and I'Assemblée Communautaire Fransaskoise. They had
intervened in the courts below (and de facto on the leave motion). No one objected to this proposal.
The two bodies in question have much experience in the field, and able counsel who file thorough,
useful materials. They represent the interests (and probably the outlook) of broader classes or
groups.
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18 I give each group the right to intervene but not to adduce more evidence (which they do not
propose to do). They must stick to the topics on which leave was granted (as must the parties). The
length of oral argument (if any) will be up to the hearing panel.

F. Basic Approach to Funding

19 The reasons below relate to the big contested issue before me: funding (called "advance
costs").

20 The three Okanagantests approved by the Supreme Court of Canada most recently in its
2011 Carondecision are as follows:

I "genuinely cannot afford to pay for the litigation, and no other realistic op-
tion exists ... "
2. "claim ... is prima facie meritorious ... "
3. "issues raised transcend the individual interests of the particular litigant, are of

public importance, and have not been resolved in previous cases"

(R v Caron, 2011 SCC 5, [2011] 1 S.C.R. 78, 99-100 (para 39, follg. Okanagan IB v Min of For-
ests, 2003 SCC 71, [2003] 3 S.C.R. 371,313 N.R. 84).

21 The tests are subject to a fourth overriding test: the case is "sufficiently special" that it
would be unjust "to deny the advance costs ... or consider other methods ..." (ibid.).

22 I will spend some time below (in Parts L to O) discussing #1. I defer that for a moment, so
that I need discuss the evidence only once and need not repeat the same discussion under two dif-
ferent topics.

23 Test #2 requires less discussion here. In all funding cases, it is tempting to go quite far in
discussing the strength of case of the party seeking funding. But that is not test #2 in the Okana-
gancase. No chambers judge can or should get to the bottom of the merits at a preliminary stage,
even for the limited purpose of funding. And here another chambers judge has given leave to appeal
on two issues, which he found arguable. Finally, the Provincial Court judge and the Queen's Bench
judge differed on these topics. So the case of M. Caron is arguable. The fact that this is an appeal
(and probably an intermediate one) may be relevant to quantum, but is not enough to depart from
the previous findings as to #2 in this Caroncase. The previous courts hearing M. Caron's funding
matters have held #2 to be satisfied. They found enough arguable merit.

24 Much the same can be said about test #3.

25 Test #4 is not specifically further discussed by the Supreme Court of Canada in Caron
(probably because the discussion there of #s 2 and 3 would largely have to be repeated.)

26 One might assume that the answer to a request for advance Okanaganfunding for a suit or
appeal would have to be an unqualified yes or no. The only question would be whether the three (or
four) Okanagancriteria were met or not. But it is not quite that simple, I respectfully suggest.

27 There is no doubt that this type of funding is supposed to be very exceptional, and so the
courts cannot and should not water down the Supreme Court of Canada's tests by giving funding
(even partial funding) for a near miss, or as a consolation prize. The tests (as modified) must all be
met in order to get any money at all.



Page 6

G. Proportionality and Economy

28 But the converse does not hold. If the Okanagantests are all met, it does not follow that the
automatic or invariable answer is full funding for all of the suit at every stage. Still less does it nec-
essarily mean full funding for the most exhaustive and lavish effort that can be planned, using the
best possible means and the fullest resources in Canada (or on the globe).

29 Why is that?
H. Law on Degree of Funding
30 First, the Supreme Court of Canada says so.

31 The court asked to fund should sign no blank cheque, should craft terms carefully, and be
mindful of all options: Okanagan, supra, para 41; Little Sisters v Commr of Nat Rev, 2007 SCC 2,
[2007] 1 S.C.R. 38, 356 N.R. 83 (paras 40-43, 94, 112); Caron2011, para 47.

32 The Supreme Court of Canada also tells courts not to create a new Legal Aid scheme, and
the Legal Aid Society of Alberta usually pays a good deal less than the applicant suggests now.

33 Considerations of proportionality and due economy call for partial or strictly restricted
funding in many cases.

34 There is not much Canadian authority on this topic of restraint in quantum of funding. But I
see some analogy for this precise aspect of funding, in Supreme Court of Canada authority on a dif-
ferent topic. I mention it because the law here is not yet fully formed. Where the relevant factors
show entitlement to spousal support, they also impact on its quantum. Support need not produce
equalization of the resources on both sides, and the court must look at all the relevant factors, and at
practical and policy considerations in individual cases. See Bracklow v. Bracklow [1999] 1 SCR
420, 448-49, 450, 451, 236 NR 79 (paras 50, 53, 54).

35 The Supreme Court of Canada has set strict criteria to get advance costs (funding) for litiga-
tion. So surely the funding should be given only to the extent necessary to meet those criteria. The
fact that the litigation or the defence is important but could not exist without funding, does not log-
ically mean that the funding must be unlimited.

36 Here too in funding cases, the aim is allowing the possibility of litigation, not achieving
equality of resources (Little Sisters, supra, paras 5, 43).

I. Competing Demands and Limited Revenue

37 In constitutional funding litigation (including judges' salaries), financial exigencies are to be
taken into account. Alberta has some exigencies, as its deficit figures show. The Alberta Hansard of
February 24, 2011 shows that the Crown tabled with the Legislature part of its Budget called Fiscal
Overview. Page 10 says that "[t]he deficit for 2011-2012 is expected to be larger, at $3.4 billion,
and a balanced budget is not forecast until 2013-2014 ... revenue is forecast to be $1.7 billion lower
in 2011-2012 ... than expected in Budget 2010." Details follow there. A $3.4 billion annual deficit is
about $1,000 for each man, woman and child in Alberta, or several thousand dollars for each
household, each year.

38 So the choice is to borrow still more to fund this litigation, or to cut back on competing
claims on government spending, especially for health care and education. (I single them out because
other budget documents say that these two items will consume 64% of the Alberta government's
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spending.) Canada does not score very well internationally on health care wait times, and Alberta
does not score significantly better than most of Canada. Other competing constitutionally-protected
funding calls on the government include legal aid for poor people facing jail or loss of their chil-
dren, and possibly some financial assistance to the handicapped. Choices must be made.

J. Less Necessary Work to Do Now

39 Given the Provincial Court and Queen's Bench Carondecisions on the merits, this is M. Ca-
ron's third go around. (And arguably the fifth or sixth, if one includes previous people's suits, as de-
scribed above.) Surely most of the work should have been done already. M. Caron's counsel are al-
ready familiar with the record.

40 I have examined, and been impressed by the size and scope of, the briefs already filed on
appeal on the merits in the Court of Queen's Bench. I note especially how full and detailed is M.
Caron's "Memoire de I'Intimé" filed December 22, 2008. And I note how many authorities and his-
torical documents are now made easily available to all parties by all the briefs filed there by all
concerned.

41 Presumably there was also careful argument in Provincial Court, as the length of the Provin-
cial Court judge's judgment on the merits (2008 ABPC 232) would suggest.

42 No new evidence was to be adduced in the Court of Queen's Bench, and no party or inter-
vener proposes to adduce any in the Court of Appeal. (Given the terms of the Criminal Code and
the order for leave to appeal, that is not surprising.) So this appeal to the Court of Appeal will be the
third time that this very record and these issues have been argued by the same parties, indeed prob-
ably by the same counsel.

43 Indeed the issues and work should be simpler this time, as leave to appeal to the Court of
Appeal was granted only on two questions of law. The Criminal Code (incorporated into provincial
legislation) compels that limit.

44 Counsel suggested to me that they must review the whole record of 89 days of trial in Pro-
vincial Court. But they must have done that two times before: in Provincial Court and in the Court
of Queen's Bench. So have counsel for their opponent the Crown. All the evidence which either side
thought relevant enough to mention is already cited in the various Court of Queen's Bench briefs.

45 It is doubtful that a large volume of new relevant case law has been decided on this rather
special topic since early 2009 when the last Court of Queen's Bench briefs were filed. And it should
not take long to see whether the cases which were relied on in the Court of Queen's Bench and are
still relevant in the Court of Appeal have since been judicially considered. Computers do that task
quickly.

46 A few hours' discussing and thinking about the topic afresh, and rearranging the order of
arguments, would possibly be useful. But I doubt that anything much needs to be built from scratch.

47 M. Caron's Court of Queen's Bench "Memoire de 1'Intimé" filed December 22, 2008 was
obviously prepared on a computer, so revising it should be easy. Little rekeyboarding and no
wholesale proofreading should be needed.

48 And the Court of Appeal is likely but a temporary bus stop, as the Supreme Court of Canada
may well give leave to appeal.

K. Signs of Lack of Restraint
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49 The proof of the pudding is in the eating.

50 I can also detect some signs of insufficient economy and restraint in this litigation to date,
quite apart from the percentage of the litigation which has been about funding itself.

51 This litigation has hypertrophied (in size and range of issues) since it first got funding.
Eighty- nine days of trial seems suspiciously long for an undisputed traffic offence, even though the
real defence point is constitutional reliance on three or so additional documents.

52 To get copies of the briefs of argument in the Court of Queen's Bench, it was necessary to
access the Court of Queen's Bench file in Edmonton. That "file" already consists of 14 cardboard
cartons.

53 If the government pays both sides, and no expense is spared, and neither side finds an an-
swer especially urgent, why would the litigation ever end? What would the accused or his support-
ers have to lose by exhaustive litigation? Alberta experience shows that even at comparatively low
Legal Aid rates, a criminal trial sometimes can take months, even years. Admitting one piece of ev-
idence can take a day of trial time. 4 fortiori if the funding is enough to pay higher hourly rates,
almost market, for most lawyers. Many judicial inquiries are notorious for taking years.

54 The influence of supply and demand is no more popular than the influence of gravity, but
despite that, supply and demand still exert a steady widespread pull.

L. Resources Already Available

S5 There is another issue. Even using a standard of funding subject to proportionality and due
economy, sometimes not even all of that should be funded. Why?

56 Take the simplest example. What if it would take (say) $30,000 to prosecute economically
some desirable and publicly very important court proceeding, and the three tests from Okanaganare
met? If such an applicant does not now have $30,000, and cannot get any more financial help from
anyone, should he or she be granted $30,000? That depends. If he or she has nothing (beyond sub-
sistence needs) and never will have anything, then the answer may well be yes.

57 But if the applicant will likely get the needed $30,000 within a year or two, then his or her
problem is one of financing, not of lack of resources. At most, he or she needs a $30,000 loan or
credit. Even a suitable barrister who would give credit for a year or two (earning interest in the
meantime) might suffice.

58 What if that hypothetical applicant (litigant) has already been able to assemble or get
$12,000 for the proposed litigation? Then he or she does not need $30,000; his or her need is only
for $18,000 funding. Similarly, if such an applicant had nothing now, but was likely soon to get
$12,000 elsewhere, then the funding should not exceed $18,000.

M. Degree of Need in this Case
59 Such considerations are especially apt in the present case.
60 In evidence are M. Caron's affidavit, and the transcript of his cross-examination on it.

61 What do they show about need? First, in November 2011, M. Caron became unemployed in
Alberta. Yet he has two trades in the construction industry, which is now very healthy in Alberta.
He had a steady work history, earning quite adequate pay, though nothing lavish. He appears to
have no dependents, and mentions no spouse or partner. So money was tight at the time he swore
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his affidavit, but future earnings and employment seemed likely. His counsel told me that he plans
to get work.

62 Second, M. Caron provides some very brief information which suggests that he has a type of
muscular dystrophy, that of the region of the eyes and the pharynx (upper throat). The only result
which is in evidence is this. He says that he fatigues more easily than normal. Presumably that
might imply a need for shorter work hours and more holidays (though no evidence actually says
that). He does not suggest that he cannot work, or cannot work at his two trades. Indeed he worked
at both trades until very recently, six months after the medical letter relied upon. He stopped for
seasonal or adventitious reasons, not medical ones.

63 I have read and reread M. Caron's affidavit, and his cross-examination on it. On a very quick
reading, the affidavit seems to say more than a more careful second reading actually reveals. It often
hints but does not come out and state. Many contrary facts were brought out in his
cross-examination. I found a number of his answers on cross-examination argumentative rather than
helpful or informative.

64 The best that I can conclude about his finances, in favour of his application, is this. His cash
is temporarily tight, but he has a number of solid assets which show every prospect of advancing in
value. He has (maybe pardonably) leveraged his investments at present, but that will benefit him so
long as assets rise in value in the longer term, which seems likely. And he has good employment
prospects. As noted, he intends to get more employment.

65 Therefore, M. Caron could raise much or all of the necessary funds in the medium run, but
probably not immediately. And in the past he has got some funding: $60,000 (in two tranches) from
the Court Challenges Fund. The evidence is not entirely clear what stage that was for. And then he
got $6,000 from the public (with the fund-raising help of one of the interveners).

N. Other Possible Sources of Funding

66 M. Caron has not sought Legal Aid since 2005. There are other possible avenues of assis-
tance not fully explored (and maybe not at all); some monetary, some non-monetary.

67 For example, M. Caron's co-litigant, M. Boutet, Legal Aid, and the two interveners.

68 I have no evidence about M. Boutet's financial condition, but he had counsel present for the

financing application (who made but one brief submission on another procedural topic). And M.
Boutet took part in the Court of Queen's Bench, where his counsel filed a brief on the merits. He is
said to be "waiting in the wings" should M. Caron flag. That is a striking fact.

O. Interveners

69 The two groups who argue (with evidence) that this issue is vital, have not contributed any
cash. (They did help M. Caron raise the $6,000 from the public.)
70 The two intervener Associations show no signs that they operate on a shoestring. For exam-

ple, the Court of Queen's Bench brief of L'Assemblée Communautaire Fransaskoise Inc. is 24 pages
long, and discusses the law and even offers statistics. There is a good deal of information about the
interveners in the various pieces of evidence. The inference that they have funds flows from virtu-
ally all of it. And they willingly took an extensive part in this litigation in the two courts now under
appeal (and again de facto on the leave application).
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71 Since the two interveners are evidently so keen, able, and experienced, and so familiar with
M. Caron's case and well funded, I wondered why they could not simply take the major role, with
M. Caron more or less riding their coattails. After all, at this stage the issues now have become en-
tirely legal. There never was any issue about M. Caron's left turn, and that is not what occupied 89
days of trial. No court is likely to find that M. Caron is subject to different law than all other Alber-
tans or all other Franco-Albertans. So far M. Caron and the interveners have argued more or less the
opposite. Furthermore, as the Criminal Code and the Alberta legislation on provincial offences pro-
cedure dictate, the appeal to the Court of Appeal is confined to defined questions of law alone.
Much issue-driven multi-party litigation works very satisfactorily by some variant on the coattails
method.

72 Why will the coattails method or something similar not suffice here? During oral argument,

counsel for M. Caron did not suggest that it would be impossible. He said instead that M. Caron re-

fuses to let either intervener enjoy such a role. M. Caron firmly desires to remain in control himself,
said his counsel. Having read M. Caron's cross-examination on affidavit, I can see that that is clear-
ly M. Caron's approach.

73 That is the right of any litigant paying for his or her own lawyer. Maybe it might sometimes
be the right of a litigant with publicly-important interests still at play which are distinct from the
interests of other parties or interveners (though that tends to conflict with some of the Okanagant-
ests). And having his own solicitor to advise him might be the right of such a party. (For example,
any prudent private defendant whose liability insurance limits are at least ostensibly exceeded by
the claim gets independent advice.) But I have trouble seeing that the taxpayers should fund ex-
penses which arise simply from M. Caron's desire to remain at the wheel of this appellate vehicle,
and to leave the interveners in the passengers' seats or driving their own vehicles.

74 In my considered view of the balance of probabilities, and looking at alternative calcula-
tions, M. Caron has enough assets and savings to finance and fund this present appeal (not on a lav-
ish scale, but on a reasonable scale). That is especially true over a few years. I say that after allow-
ing for his house mortgage and the loan from his sister. I so conclude that after estimating a reason-
able budget to run this appeal (on which see further Part Q below).

75 If M. Caron were in full health, the decision on funding would be simpler. One possibility
would have been giving him only some assistance in getting credit or financing.

76 But M. Caron's health condition also must be weighed. It conflicts with much of what is
discussed above. On balance, I have concluded that I should give some significant weight to the risk
of permanently stripping him of many of his assets (or making him drop his appeal to avoid that
risk), given his potential of somewhat diminished ability to work.

77 I would probably not assist him on these facts if I concluded that M. Caron were merely the
cat's paw of some other solvent person or organization. (For example, it is remarkable how often a
public-interest litigant in the last decade has been a newly-incorporated single-issue society.) But
the evidence here does not demonstrate such artificial manipulation.

P. Terms and Conditions

78 Now it is necessary to turn to what limits and restrictions should be placed on this funding.

Q. Controlling Costs
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79 Members of the Supreme Court of Canada have spoken publicly of the danger to society of
unbridled litigation expenses. Most notably, the Chief Justice of Canada has several times given
widely-publicized speeches warning the legal profession that the middle classes are becoming una-
ble to afford litigation.

80 That choice of the middle classes as the problem area is significant. Thirty years ago,
wealthy parties were the ones who felt the burden of huge litigation (civil or criminal) which never
ended. Back then, stipulating for time records and a set hourly rate was the only common method of
controlling legal bills. Then large American companies began to control their legal bills, a practice
which has spread very widely across North America to steady consumers of legal services.

81 Today, corporate in-house counsel often see controlling legal expenses paid to outside law
firms as a very important part of their job. And they use a considerable array of devices to do so, as
publications for Canadian lawyers have repeatedly discussed in the last 20 or so years. Now it is far
less common for such a large sophisticated legal consumer simply to agree to buy however many
billable hours its outside lawyers decide to devote to a certain lawsuit. Such big clients use many
devices, though some devices (such as competitive bidding or tendering) would not be appropriate
in the present litigation.

82 Recent electronic journals for house counsel are full of suggestions on this topic, and sug-
gest that their use is widespread. These journals seem too ephemeral to make citing them very use-
ful. (The common terms which would be useful to search seem to be "alternative fee arrangements”,
"alternative billing", or "flat fees".) But an article in a traditional journal which has a brief discus-
sion of these topics, with a few citations, is Menkel-Meddow (1994) 44 Case W Reserve L Rev 621,
660-61. Other more practical (less academic) articles are Reed (1989) 15 Legal Economics (#6) 18;
Krocheski and Malone (1994) 20 Law Practice Management (#3) 22; Snyder (1998) 24 Law Prac-
tice Management (#3) 25; Hall (2009) 35 Law Practice (#4) 52; Bayley (2010) 36 Law Practice (#6)
32.

83 Those steady clients' aim is to put some sort of regulator on the flow of what before often
gushed like a fire hydrant with an open pipe. One of their aims was to give both the litigant and
their outside counsel some incentive to balance effective advocacy and research against proportion-
ality and overall social costs.

84 The magazine Canadian Lawyer surveys corporate counsel annually. Its latest issue reports
its latest survey, and says that the survey shows that exactly half of the billing arrangements of
companies with their primary outside law firm are on a basis other than pure hourly rates (Nov/Dec
Issue, p 41).

85 It has long been the custom in Alberta when giving legal assistance under s 684 of the
Criminal Code to use the Legal Aid tariff to set the rate.

86 The reasoning above is general, and there is no ground to confine it to commercial or indus-
trial clients. It is just as apt for government or non-profit organizations.

87 In May 2007, the office of the federal Auditor General tabled an audit of Justice Canada en-
titled "Managing the Delivery of Legal Services to Government - Department of Justice Canada".
There had been an audit in 1993, and one of the issues identified then was poor management of the
hiring of external legal agents.
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88 On April 8, 2008, the House of Commons Standing Committee on Public Accounts held a
hearing on the audit tabled in May 2007. The audit examined whether the Department of Justice
was effectively managing delivery of legal services. The Deputy Minister told the committee that
the department had completed actions to improve basic information regarding work arrangements
and monitoring ongoing costs.

89 In the present litigation, two simultaneous senior expensive lawyers here seem excessive,
even if they will work for half their usual rates.

90 In principle, I have no objection to the hourly rates which M. Caron's counsel propose actu-
ally to charge (half their usual ones). I say that after noting that the federal government's usual rates
for outside counsel seem lower. But (as noted below) I would not allow for two counsel at once for
any significant periods. And if times (total hours) get long, then some work should be done by
someone much more junior than either of these two counsel.

91 Instead, my big problem is with the number of hours contemplated. Any bill (account)
should be taxed (reviewed) by the court's taxing officer if the Crown disputes its amount. Evidently
taxation of legal agents' accounts is the standard policy of the federal government: see Department
of Justice Canada, Agent Affairs Program, Policies, Guidelines and Reference Documents (June
2008) at http://canada.justice.gc.ca/min-la/ConPolPolCon/conpol-polcon- eng. asp. Of course, M.
Caron will not be funded for arguing topics not material to the two questions on which leave has
been granted.

92 There is a temptation to try here a more innovative blended approach of a kind in the litera-
ture cited. But I have decided to stick fairly closely to the only control method mentioned in argu-
ment. Counsel for M. Caron suggested hourly billing (at a set hourly rate) but subject to a "cap”
(total dollar limit). (Earlier the Court of Queen's Bench had put some cap on hours funded in the
trial process.)

93 So I will also impose a cap (maximum). To give more flexibility and choice to M. Caron
and his counsel in choosing methods and means, I will make it a dollar cap, not a cap on the number
of hours. And similarly I will only set one total cap, not caps for each stage to come. Counsel for M.
Caron suggested in oral argument an $80,000 cap.

94 But at the hourly rate which he himself suggests actually charging for this appeal ($200),
that would be 400 hours further work on this appeal. At the rate which his associate counsel sug-
gests charging ($150), that would be over 533 hours. (It would be a little less if one deducts a few
disbursements.) If one counsel did some of the work and the other the rest, the number of hours
would be somewhere between 400 and 533 hours.

95 In light of all the comments above, I find those very excessive amounts of time.
R. Calculating the Cap
96 The record is already paid for and at hand.

97 It will not take two counsel to argue this appeal orally, especially as the usual time limit for
one party is 45 minutes, and no appeal ever takes over a day to argue, even with multiple parties.
Someone in court to assist senior counsel by taking notes and handling and finding the papers
would be useful; but a junior, even an able student, could do that. His or her usual hourly rate would
be less than $300/hour. So even adding something for travel time, the actual oral argument of the
appeal should not cost more than about $3500 in fees.
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98 As noted, the factum needs comparatively little fresh writing. Large chunks of it can come
right from the previous Court of Queen's Bench brief after some re-editing and further thought. If a
few more hours of more picky work prove necessary, the most senior counsel need not do all that.
And once the factum is complete, what papers to put into the Extracts will be comparatively easy to
see. Running them down to photocopy should not take senior counsel, given the previous Queen's
Bench appeal and its briefs. A fortiori for the book of authorities.

99 It is not customary to charge any fee for the non-legal clerical staff who do keyboarding,
photocopying, collating, binding, or shipping.

100 So I conclude that preparing, filing and serving the appellant Caron's factum, books of au-
thorities, and book of extracts should cost no more than $4500 in fees. One should add a little more
for preparation for oral argument, and notionally calculate a maximum of $5200 in fees for all types
of preparation before oral argument.

101 That is a maximum of $8700 in fees.

102 I expect M. Caron's counsel to cooperate with all the other counsel on both sides to try to
avoid reproducing the same evidence or authorities more than once, unless the duplication is very
brief.

103 There will be a good deal of photocopying of the factum and extracts. I would allow $800
for that, plus another $1000 for travel and miscellaneous disbursements. (I have allowed there for a
longer factum than usual, just to be safe.)

104 The subtotal maximum so far is $10,500.

105 [ will increase that by about 10% for unforeseen contingencies or minor incidental corre-
spondence and services. That boosts the total to $11,600. That is the only maximum (cap) which I
fix.

106 It may be thought that the 10% margin for error allowed above is not enough. The unex-
pected can cost more than 10%. However, the evidence before me showed that M. Caron pledged to
donate $1000 of his own money permanently to this cause (litigation), and that $5000 has been left
over unspent from the previous $60,000 funding. I have deducted none of that unspent $6000
(which is not the same $6000 as the public donations). This unspent sum will serve as a further re-
serve against cost overruns. It is many times the 10% which I expressly added.

S. Loan Not Grant

107 Alberta Legal Aid ordinarily makes loans, not outright grants, though of course many are
not actually repayable in the result because of want of assets.

108 Much of M. Caron's need is temporary, or medium-term. Therefore, [ will not order an out-
and-out permanent grant to him, but rather a loan under contract.

109 All sums paid out under today's order to M. Caron or his counsel must be repaid by M.
Caron, with 3% per year interest compounded annually, but only at $200 per month, beginning
April 1, 2012, and on the first of each month after. I give power to the Registrar or her designate to
rule (in the event of dispute) on reasonableness of terms of the loan contract, which will be drafted
in the first instance by the Crown. No sums will be advanced until the loan contract is settled and
signed. I refer to the Registrar or her designate later from time to time the power to hear evidence,
and to recommend to a judge whether to postpone payments in part or whole (whether on terms or
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otherwise), on proof of M. Caron's inability to pay or serious hardship. That will be done only on
application by M. Caron.

T. Costs of Present Motions

110 Each party or intervener will bear its own costs for the joint motion for delayed factum,
intervention, and funding, especially because success on the big funding issue was mixed.

JEL.COTE J.A.
cp/e/glect/qljxr/qlcas
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VICKERS J.:--
Nature of Application
1 This is a matter remanded by the Supreme Court of Canada for reconsideration of an interim

costs order (the "funding order").
The Funding Order/Current Situation

2 On November 27, 2001 I made the funding order directing the defendants to share equally in
the payment of the plaintiffs' future costs. The order called for the payment of all reasonable dis-
bursements as agreed upon by the defendants or as approved on taxation. Interim legal fees were to
be paid as increased costs at 50% of special costs: Nemiah Valley Indian Band v. Riverside Forest
Products Ltd., [2001] B.C.J. No. 2484, 2001 BCSC 1641. An appeal to the Court of Appeal was
dismissed:; Xeni Gwet'in First Nations v. British Columbia, [2002] B.C.J. No. 1652, 2002 BCCA
434. An appeal was then filed in the Supreme Court of Canada. That Court remanded the matter on
January 12, 2004 in the following terms:

This appeal is remanded to the British Columbia Supreme Court to be dealt with
in accordance with the reasons of this Court in British Columbia (Minister of
Forests) v. Okanagan Indian Band, [2003] 3 S.C.R. 371, 2003 SCC 71.

(Tsilhqot'in Nation v. Canada Attorney General, [2002]
S.C.C.A. No. 295

3 The parties have consented to three other orders relating to the funding order. On February
28, 2002 I made an order directing an interim payment to plaintiffs' counsel from each defendant
with liberty to apply for further directions if there was no agreement on the amounts to be paid un-
der the funding order.

4 On July 19, 2002 an order was made that the Registrar hearing the assessment of the appro-
priate hourly rates for work done for the plaintiffs by Woodward & Co. be seized of any further ap-
plications required to settle hourly rates for the purpose of calculating advances under the funding
order. Finally, on November 3, 2003 an order was made that any party could apply to the court to
change the percentage of increased costs ordered at 50 per cent of special costs on the basis that the
intent of the funding order was not being met.

5 As I noted in my reasons for judgment concerning the publication of accounts information,
William et al v. HMTQ et al, [2004] B.C.J. No. 834, 2004 BCSC 549, in January 2002 the parties
entered into Confidentiality Agreements relating to confidential information that would necessarily
have to be disclosed prior to the payment of costs pursuant to my order. The Confidentiality
Agreements contemplated that the parties would negotiate and enter into an Accounts Administra-
tion Agreement setting out procedures for the administration of accounts to be submitted from time
to time by counsel for the plaintiffs. Such an agreement was concluded and is currently in operation.
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6 The parties do not agree as to when the Accounts Administration Agreement will expire. It
will expire when the maximum funding level is reached (Art. 1.1.01(2)) and therein lies the disa-
greement. Costs counsel for the defendants estimates that the agreement will expire sometime in
May 2004. The defendants have advised they do not intend to renew the agreement.

7 The motion for a funding order, on remand from the Supreme Court of Canada, was assigned
to me as the trial judge by Brenner C.J. on March 26, 2004. The first issue I must decide is the na-
ture of the remand.

Nature of Remand

8 Counsel for the plaintiffs argued that the issue on remand was whether the funding order,
made on November 27, 2001, was consistent with the principles set out in British Columbia (Min-
ister of Forests) v. Okanagan Indian Band, supra. In his submission, that should be the first stage of
the court's inquiry. At a second stage the court could review the order in the light of present day
circumstances. Counsel for the defendants argued against a two stage process and urged the court to
reconsider the matter taking into account the circumstances as they now exist.

9 In British Columbia (Minister of Forests) v. Okanagan Indian Band, supra, the trial judge had
declined to make an order for costs in advance. British Columbia (Minister of Forests) v. Okanagan
Indian Band, [2000] B.C.J. No. 1536, 2000 BCSC 1135. An appeal to the Court of Appeal was al-
lowed. British Columbia (Minister of Forests) v. Okanagan Indian Band (2001), 208 D.L.R. (4th)
301; 2001 BCCA 647. On December 12, 2003 the judgment of the Supreme Court of Canada was
released. At paragraph 40, Lebel J., for the majority, said:

With these considerations in mind, I would identify the criteria that must be pre-
sent to justify an award of interim costs in this kind of case as follows:

1.  The party seeking interim costs genuinely cannot afford to pay for the liti-
gation, and no other realistic option exists for bringing the issues to trial -
in short, the litigation would be unable to proceed if the order were not
made.

2. The claim to be adjudicated is prima facie meritorious; that is, the claim is
at least of sufficient merit that it is contrary to the interests of justice for
the opportunity to pursue the case to be forfeited just because the litigant
lacks financial means.

3. The issues raised transcend the individual interests of the particular liti-
gant, are of public importance, and have not been resolved in previous
cases.

10 At paragraph 45 of the majority judgment Lebel J. said:

It is unnecessary to send this case back to the chambers judge to apply the criteria
set out here, because it is apparent from his reasons that, had he done so, he
would have ordered interim costs in favour of the respondents. Sigurdson J.
found as a fact that the Bands were in extremely difficult financial circumstances
and could not afford to pay for legal representation. The only alternative which
he suggested might be available for funding the litigation was a contingent fee
arrangement, which, as I have stated, was not feasible. He found the Bands'
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claims of aboriginal title and rights to be prima facie plausible and supported by
extensive documentary evidence; although the claim was not so clearly valid that
there was no need for it to be tested through the trial process, it was certainly
strong enough to warrant pursuit. Finally, Sigurdson J. found the case to be one
of great public importance, raising novel and significant issues resolution of
which through the trial process was very much in the interests of justice. He even
went so far as to urge the executive branches of the federal and provincial gov-
ernments to provide funding so that the respondents' claims could be addressed.

11 In this case the Supreme Court of Canada could not, from the record before it, determine
whether costs were warranted based upon the principles it had just set out. That is all I take from the
remand order.

12 I think it proper to treat the remand order as a rehearing of the original matter before me,
taking into account the new material filed by the parties. Metzner v. Metzner (2000), 190 D.L.R.
(4th) 366, 2000 BCCA 474. That is the proper procedure for two reasons. First, the defendants have
indicated they do not intend to seek recovery of costs already paid. As a result there is no need to
decide if the original order was properly made based upon the new set of principles. Second, the
action is different than what it was in November 2001. Riverside Forest Products Ltd. is no longer a
defendant and substantial amendments have been made to the Statement of Claim. Nemiah Valley
Indian Band v. Riverside Forest Products, [2003] B.C.J. No. 361, 2003 BCSC 249. In these circum-
stances I propose to consider this a rehearing of the original matter taking into account all the mate-
rial filed by counsel for the purpose of this hearing.

New Material/Motion for Costs Information by Plaintiffs

13 The matter is now at trial and has already consumed in excess of 100 trial days over a period
of 1.5 years. There has been a substantial expenditure for legal fees and disbursements by all par-
ties. The plaintiffs’ costs are far in excess of those originally estimated. Some of the affidavits filed
for this hearing contain material critical of counsel. Portions of the affidavit material are argumenta-
tive and to that extent they are not helpful and could not be considered as evidence. Despite the
criticisms and arguments contained in the affidavit material, counsel, during their arguments, did
not invite the court to reach conclusions about the litigation strategy of any party. For the purposes
of this remand hearing and at this stage in the proceedings, I conclude that counsel have been cost
effective and efficient in the manner in which the case has been presented and defended.

14 In reaching my decision on whether the funding order should be terminated or revised, I
have not taken into account the fees and disbursement already paid to plaintiffs’ counsel as set out in
the Thayer affidavit filed in support of the application to terminate the funding order. On motion by
the defendants, I made an order on April 20, 2004 that costs counsel for the Province and Canada
were at liberty to disclose the total amount advanced by the Province and Canada from time to time
to the plaintiffs or their counsel for fees and disbursements pursuant to the costs order and the Ac-
counts Administration Agreement, the information set out in the Thayer affidavit. William et al v.
HMTQ et al, 2004 BCSC 549.

15 As a consequence of the information contained in the Thayer affidavit, the plaintiffs sought
a comparable order requiring the defendants to provide similar information relating to the fees and
disbursements they have incurred in these proceedings. Counsel for the plaintiffs points out that the
information concerning the total fees and disbursements paid under the funding order is before the
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court to allow the defendants to argue for cost efficiencies and for a cap on funding. In his submis-
sion it is not possible to address these questions in the absence of similar information from the de-
fendants. He says that if the court were to fix a cap then the court ought to have the information on
what the proceedings have cost the defendants to date. In the same way, an assessment of whether
the actions of the plaintiffs' advisors have been cost effective would be more usefully carried out
with the additional knowledge of what has been spent in the defence of the action. He points out the
defendants are fully funded, while the plaintiffs are only reimbursed a portion of their legal ac-
counts.

16 The defendants did not consent to the production of this information. I conclude that the in-
formation concerning the total fees and disbursements paid by the defendants in the defence of this
action cannot be disclosed because it is protected by solicitor client privilege. Maranda v. Richer
(2003), 232 D.L.R. (4th) 14,2003 SCC 67.

17 Counsel for the plaintiffs acknowledges that the information is privileged and not subject to
production. He says that if the material is not forthcoming, by consent, then the figures of what has
been paid to counsel for the plaintiffs should not be used by the court on a reconsideration of the
funding order.

18 I conclude the information sought to be disclosed is not relevant to the issues before me on a
reconsideration of the funding order. As the material sought to be disclosed is not relevant, and is in
any case subject to solicitor client privilege, the motion is dismissed.

Positions of the Parties

19 Taking into account all of the information, the defendants say the funding order made in
November 2001 should be terminated. In the alternative, they argue that it should be amended so as
to reduce the financial obligations and attach conditions designed to promote the reasonable and
efficient conduct of the litigation. The plaintiffs say the funding order should be continued but
amended to provide for payments at 100% of special costs.

Criteria Considered

20 Lebel J, for the majority in British Columbia (Minister of Forests) v. Okanagan Indian Band,
supra, concluded that the inherent jurisdiction of the courts to grant interim costs to a litigant must
only be exercised in "rare and exceptional circumstances" and subject to "stringent conditions" and
the "observance of appropriate procedural controls" (para. 1). I propose to bear those directions in
mind and consider whether each of the criteria set out by Lebel J. is met in this case.

21 The first criterion is whether the plaintiffs:

genuinely cannot afford to pay for the litigation, and no other realistic option ex-
ists for bringing the issues to trial - in short, the litigation would be unable to
proceed if the order were not made. (para. 40)

22 On November 27, 2001 I said the following at paragraphs 7 and 8 of my judgment.

[7] The plaintiffs have invested substantial sums of time, effort and money in
these proceedings to date. However, I conclude they lack the financial re-
sources to proceed further. But for success on this application they will be
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unable to continue with these proceedings. To continue to trial requires the
commitment of substantial financial resources. Disbursements alone are
estimated to exceed $125,000.

[8] The principal claim advanced by the plaintiffs is for declaratory relief re-
lating to the Trapline Territory and the Brittany Triangle. Even if the plain-
tiffs succeed, there is unlikely to be a fund of money available for the
payment of legal fees on a contingency basis. As well, the claims for dec-
larations of aboriginal rights and title are claims to a collective right. If
successful, the plaintiff will not acquire assets that can be disposed of to
satisfy legal fees earned under some form of contingency arrangement.
Apart from the fact that the plaintiffs' solicitors have declined to enter into
a contingency arrangement, I conclude the nature of the claims advanced in
these actions makes them singularly unsuitable for such an arrangement.
Given the nature of the claims, the time already invested by the plaintiffs'
solicitors and the impending trial date, it is no answer to this application to
say that the plaintiffs should enter into a contingency agreement with solic-
itors who are prepared to do so.

23 Counsel for the defendants argue that the situation today is altered because on December 23,
2003, the Ministry of Forests offered to enter into a Forest and Range Agreement with the
Tsilhgot'in National Government (TNG). The plaintiff, Roger William, is Chief of the Xeni
Gwet'in, one of six bands of aboriginal people which has formed the TNG. The offer would have
provided $1.544 million annually and a licence to cut approximately 167,000 cubic metres of timber
annually for a 5 year term. On February 13, 2004, the Tribal Chairman of the TNG, Chief Ervin
Charleyboy, declined to accept the offer. In his letter he said, in part:

... We remind you again that the Tsilhqot'in Nation has never ceded, surrendered,
or given away - or indeed in any way compromised - our assertion of sovereignty
to our traditional land base. We certainly do not intend to do so at this time ei-
ther.

We reaffirm this position now with the realization that your government takes the
position that the Crown has legal right and jurisdiction to rule our lands by the
mechanisms of law, regulation, and delegated civil servant procedures for alien-
ating our land and resources. Recent statements from various sectors of your civil
service have reaffirmed that your government has taken the position that the ac-
commodation principle of Aboriginal Title will not apply until it is proven in
court. Again, we remind you that that process of proving aboriginal title is now
underway in your Supreme Court with a good likelihood of success.

We therefore will not be party to any agreements that have the agenda of dimin-
ishing or in any way compromising the sovereignist position that has been the
consistent Tsilhqot'in position in relation to Crown intrusions into our territory.
Your proposed Forest and Range Revenue Sharing Agreement, although putting
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forth some money and forest tenures, is in fact a pittance compared to the com-
pensation package that will come our way in due course when our aboriginal title
to our territory is confirmed by your court system - which you are beholden to
abide by.

24 I conclude the references to court proceedings in that letter are to these proceedings and to a
second action commenced in this Court in December 2003 by the Tsilhqot'in people making specif-
ic claims to what they consider are Tsilhqot'in lands not included in the land that is the subject of
these proceedings.

25 The defendants say the proposed agreement indicates the presence of a sufficient fund of
money to pay for legal fees and disbursements in this case. Secondly, they say the reference by the
TNG to a large "compensation package" to "come their way in due course" means that the TNG
expects to acquire an asset which can be used for paying legal fees and disbursements.

26 The Chiefs of the TNG are very wary in all of their negotiations with the Province. As the
letter indicates, they appear distrustful of provincial officials and take the position that any logging
activity on their traditional lands can only proceed with their approval. Specifically, the Xeni
Gwet'in, through a process of five community votes over an extended period of time, directed their
leadership not to enter into agreements with the Province, which would have seen some logging in
the Brittany Triangle, unless control of that process was retained by the Xeni Gwet'in. The new
agreement proposed by the Province does not restrict logging to the Brittany Triangle, nor does it
say that is necessarily where the logging will take place. It is clear, however, that the TNG will not
consent to logging on what they consider are Tsilhqot'in traditional lands without some recognition
of the rights they allege.

27 I find that matters have not changed since November 2001. In the letter setting out the pro-
posed Forest and Range Revenue Sharing Agreement the Regional Manager for the Southern Inte-
rior Forest Region says "at this point I expect that the revenue benefit may be available starting in
April 2005." If the offer were accepted, there would be no immediate revenue stream that could be
used to satisfy legal fees and disbursements. This trial cannot be postponed further to some unspeci-
fied future date when the revenues might be expected to arrive. As well, the proposed agreement
provides that revenue offered is to be used to enable the Tsilhqot'in to meet their consultation obli-
gations. It is not clear whether payments now made by the Province to assist in consultation obliga-
tions would be discontinued or renewed.

28 The letter from the TNG makes reference to a fund of money at the end of the day. While
the Amended Statement of Claim seeks damages from the Province for any unjustifiable infringe-
ment of Tsilhqot'in aboriginal title and Xeni Gwet'in aboriginal rights, the Xeni Gwet'in have been
successful for over a decade now in preventing logging in the claim area. I have not heard any evi-
dence as to the extent of the damages sought and at this point in the proceedings it is not possible to
say there will be a fund of money arising out of the claims advanced in these proceedings. The pri-
mary claims advanced are for declarations of rights and title and unjustified infringement of rights
and title, with secondary claims advanced for consequential relief. There is no claim against Canada
for monetary relief. Insofar as I am aware, the second action has not advanced beyond the filing of a
writ of summons in December 2003.
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29 The statement by the TNG in the letter is more political than factual. In these proceedings a
declaration of rights and title and a declaration of infringement of rights and title will not provide a
"compensation package."

30 I conclude, as I did in November 2001, that the plaintiffs lack the financial resources to pro-
ceed further. But for success on this application they will be unable to continue with these proceed-
ings. Counsel for the plaintiffs is not prepared to enter into a contingency fee agreement. For the
reasons set out in my earlier judgment a contingency agreement is not appropriate. It would be par-
ticularly inappropriate to require the plaintiffs to seek counsel who would be prepared to enter into a
contingency fee agreement at this stage in the proceedings.

31 I conclude the plaintiffs cannot afford to pay for the litigation, and no other realistic option
exists for bringing the issues to trial. The litigation would be unable to proceed further if the order
were not made.

32 The second criterion is whether the claim is "prima facie" meritorious. Is the claim:

at least of sufficient merit that it is contrary to the interests of justice for the op-
portunity to pursue the case to be forfeited just because the litigant lacks financial
means?"

(British Columbia (Minister of Forests)
v. Okanagan Indian Band,
supra at para. 40)

33 On November 27, 2001 at paragraphs 30 to 33 of my judgment I said:

[30] In Okanagan Indian Band, supra, the aboriginal people purported to log
Crown lands without authorizations under provincial legislation. The ac-
tion commenced by the Crown sought to stop these activities. In that con-
text claims were advanced placing in issue aboriginal rights and title. In
this case the Ministry of Forests granted certain forest licences to private
companies and the plaintiffs commenced these proceedings to ensure no
forest related activities took place on land over which they claim aboriginal
rights and title. In the first case aboriginal activities with chain saws pro-
voked the action by the Crown. In this case Crown activities, namely the
issuing of forest licences, provoked the action by the plaintiffs. In this con-
text, who brings the matter before the court, and the mechanism that trig-
gers the action, are not proper grounds to distinguish these cases.

[31] This case is every bit as important as the Okanagan Indian Band case. In
fact, if matters proceed as planned it will be the first post Delgamuukw
land claims trial. The same important issues that arose in the Okanagan In-
dian Band case arise in this case. In addition, this will be the first trial in-
volving an aboriginal trapping right since the test for proving aboriginal



[32]

[33]
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activity rights was set out by the Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. Van der
Peet, [1996] 2 S.C.R. 507. The Province has also advanced a defence that
the rights of the plaintiffs have been extinguished by the creation of re-
serves and that the plaintiffs' rights, if any, lie in seeking compensation
from the federal Crown. It is in this context that the Attorney General for
Canada is joined in these proceedings.

For all of these reasons, there are exceptional and unique circumstances in
this case. I have no difficulty in concluding it is a case of great public im-
portance. The public interest is not served if the plaintiffs are required,
from lack of funds, to abandon these proceedings. The public interest is
served by seeing this action go to trial.

I am unable, in any principled way, to distinguish this case from the Oka-
nagan Indian Band case. If anything, this case appears far more advanced
and stands poised on the eve of trial.

34 After the trial commenced the plaintiffs filed a motion to amend the pleadings. On February
14, 2003 I made an order allowing the amendments. Nemiah Valley Indian Band v. Riverside Forest
Products, [2003] B.C.J. No. 361, 2003 BCSC 249. In the amended pleadings as they now stand the
reserve creation defence is no longer an issue. There are no private forest company defendants
against whom specific acts of infringement are alleged. A motion by the Province to strike out the
Amended Statement of Claim under the provisions of Rule 19(24) was argued at the same time as
the plaintiffs' motion to amend. After setting out the arguments advanced by the parties I said the
following at paragraphs 59 to 66:

[59]

[60]

I have concluded that the pleadings disclose a real and not merely hypo-
thetical dispute.

Accordingly, British Columbia's motion must fail.

I agree with counsel for the plaintiff that the parties take quite different
views on the issues before the court. In my view, the pleadings allege a
past, present and threatened infringement of rights and title. I do not accept
the proposition that specific and discrete infringements are required for the
plaintiff's action to proceed. To reach such a conclusion might cause a
claimant to conclude that civil disobedience was required in order to ad-
vance a discrete incidence of infringement to trial.
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[61] Past infringement is alleged, and if British Columbia requires particulars of
this activity before it files a statement of defence, or in preparation for trial,
it need only make an appropriate demand for particulars.

[62] In Haida Nation v. British Columbia (Minister of Forests), [2002] B.C.J.
No. 1882, 2002 BCCA 462, Lambert J.A. said at paragraph 87:

What then is the position of Weyerhaeuser? It is unquestionably a
party to every one of the Crown's infringements except the passing
of the Forest Act. [Emphasis added.]

Again, at paragraph 91, he said:

The provincial Crown may infringe on the aboriginal title and abo-
riginal rights of the Haida people if it can justify the infringement.
The infringement would consist in establishing a legislative and ad-
ministrative scheme under the Forest Act, granting Weyerhaeuser an
exclusive right to harvest timber in the area covered by T.F.L. 39,
renewing the issuance of T.F.L. 39, transferring T.F.L. 39 to
Weyerhaeuser, approving management plans, and issuing cutting
permits, all in the furtherance of the same legislative scheme, and all
in violation of the aboriginal title and aboriginal rights of the Haida
people. The provincial Crown may justify its actions by meeting the
tests for justification. Among the tests is a requirement that the Hai-
da people be consulted before the infringement actions are taken. In
this case, the Crown provincial did not consult the Haida people in
any effective way at any stage of the furtherance of the legislative
and administrative scheme, and so is in breach of its obligation of
consultation at every stage where a justification test would require
effective consultation. That conclusion responds to the provincial
Crown's obligation with respect to consultation as dealt with in the
original reasons.

[63] The observations of Lambert J.A. leave open the argument that the estab-
lishment of the legislative and administrative scheme under the Forest Act
may be an infringement. If, after a full trial, such a conclusion were
reached, it would then be necessary to determine if the infringement was
justified.

[64] On November 22, 2002, the Chief Forester published a document relating
to the William Lake TSA, entitled "Rationale for Allowable Annual Cut
(AAC) Determination”. This document is said to be effective January 1,



[65]

[66]
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2003. At page 41 it reads:

Respecting aboriginal title, from an analysis of the information re-
garding aboriginal interests available to me, it is unclear over how
much of the land base and exactly where the assertions of aboriginal
title may be shown to exist.

Based on all of this information and my related considerations, I
conclude that the nature, scope, and geographical location of poten-
tial aboriginal rights and title within the Williams Lake TSA remain
inconclusive. Consequently, I am uncertain as to whether those in-
terests would logically extend to an impact on the AAC [Allowable
Annual Cut]. Therefore, I will make no adjustments to the projected
timber supply respecting First Nations' issues at this time. If further
information becomes available indicating the existence and location
of a sound title claim, I can re-examine my determination and con-
sider this information that may lead to an area being excluded from
contributing to the timber supply. Similarly, if the court action by the
Xeni Gwet'in reaches conclusion during the term of this determina-
tion, and the outcome warrants, I will evaluate my AAC determina-
tion prior to the five-year deadline for the next determination under
the Forest Act.

By these words, the Chief Forester is saying that for the present he does not
intend to remove all or part of the claim area from the Williams Lake TSA.
He is unable to make such a decision on the evidence presently available to
him. The plaintiffs say that if the Trapline Territory and the Brittany Tri-
angle remain in the Williams Lake TSA there is a continuing threat to their
aboriginal rights and title. They rely on an historical record of infringement
and say that the root of the problem lies in the legislative and administra-
tive scheme under the Forest Act and Regulations. That is an issue to be
determined by the court after a full trial on the merits.

Despite the removal of Riverside from these proceedings, I conclude that
the Statement of Claim, as amended, does disclose a cause of action. It is
not a moot or theoretical claim but raises live issues between the parties
that must be resolved. The language of Rowles J.A. in Tsilqot'in Nation v.
Canada (Attorney General), supra, applies equally to the claims of the
plaintiff as presently disclosed by the amended Statement of Claim. In
considering the claims in an historical context, she said at paragraph 133:
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... it makes no sense to describe the Xeni Gwet'in's actions as being a
means to gain a strategic bargaining advantage. It seems to me that a
description more consistent with events and the steps they have tak-
en is that the Xeni Gwet'in are simply attempting to protect what
they see as their interests, and, in view of the history, it is unsurpris-
ing that the Xeni Gwet'in would fear that decisions have or will be
made that will impact their asserted aboriginal rights and title. The
Xeni Gwet'in are not required to wait until irreparable harm has been
done to their trapping area before commencing an action.

35 In my view my earlier remarks address the second criterion. I conclude that "the claim to be
adjudicated is prima facie meritorious." It is "at least of sufficient merit that it is contrary to the in-

terests of justice for the opportunity to pursue the case to be forfeited just because the litigant lacks
financial means."

36 I turn now to the third criterion. In considering whether this is one of those "rare and excep-
tional" cases warranting a funding order the court is required to consider whether:

the issues raised transcend the individual interests of the particular litigant, are of
public importance, and have not been resolved in previous cases."

(British Columbia (Minister of Forests)
v. Okanagan Indian Band,
supra at para. 40)

37 The defendants reluctantly acknowledge that I have already decided there is a case to be
tried. But on this third criterion they raise similar arguments on this motion to those raised by the
Province on the motion to quash the Amended Statement of Claim under Rule 19(24). In the sub-
mission of the defendants' counsel all the same issues must be considered once again in the context
of whether public funding should be available for a case of this nature. In their submission, the cri-
teria set out by the Supreme Court of Canada go beyond whether there is a proper case to proceed.
The Court's emphasis on the efficient conduct of litigation dictates that cases qualifying for public
funding must be narrowly focused, raise a live controversy and not be excessively abstract. They
argue that the issues raised in this case do not get beyond the individual interests of the plaintiffs
and do not raise issues of public importance.

38 In Ktlodééche First Nation v. Canada, [2004] 1 C.N.L.R. 155, 2003 NWTSC 70, Vertes J.
said at paragraph 30:

While there may be some merit to having a mechanism whereby First Nations
could obtain advisory opinions defining the scope of their rights, the reality is
that, at present, if they come to court then the court must still apply Canadian le-
gal norms. This was a point made by the Supreme Court in a number of cases.
For example, in Van der Peet, in discussing the need to assess a claim to an abo-
riginal right by taking into account the perspective of aboriginal people them-
selves, the Court noted (at para. 49) that the "perspective must be framed in terms
cognizable to the Canadian legal and constitutional structure.” Thus a claim to an
Aboriginal right cannot be framed in broad general terms. It must be specific. It
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must be framed in the context of a substantive issue, not abstractions. And, the
pleadings, since that is part of how our civil system functions, must reflect those
specifics.

39 In this case the land over which declarations of rights and title are sought, the Brittany and
Trapline Territory, is a part of the Williams Lake Timber Supply Area. (TSA). The Amended
Statement of Claim pleads several unjustified infringements of rights and title. The prayer for relief
includes, inter alia, the following:

a)  Declarations that the Tsilhqot'in have existing aboriginal title to the Brit-
tany and the Trapline Territory;

b)  Declarations that these aboriginal title lands are not Crown lands as de-
fined in the Forest Act and Forest Practices Code of British Columbia Act
(as amended) and that this legislation does not authorize the inclusion of
the Brittany and Trapline Territory in the Williams Lake TSA or the issu-
ance of Forest Licences or Authorizations and the granting of interests in
forest resources on aboriginal title land in the Brittany and Trapline Terri-
tory;

¢)  Declarations that the Xeni Gwet'in has an existing right to carry on trap-
ping activities in the Brittany and Trapline Territory;

d)  Declarations that the issuance of the Forest Licences, the Authorizations,
and any Forest Development Activities carried out pursuant to the Author-
izations unjustifiably infringes the Tsilhqot'in's aboriginal title and the
Xeni Gwet'in's aboriginal rights in the Brittany and Trapline Territory and
are of no force and effect;

e)  Aninjunction restraining the Regional Manager or his delegates from is-
suing Authorizations for Forest Development Activities in the Brittany and
Trapline Territory;

f) Damages from British Columbia for unjustifiable infringement of
Tsilhqot'in aboriginal title and Xeni Gwet'in aboriginal rights;

g)  Damages for breach of fiduciary duty by British Columbia.

40 In summary, the Amended Statement of Claim alleges that the Province's forestry legislation
has been, and continues to be, an unjustifiable infringement on the Tsilhqot'in aboriginal title and
Xeni Gwet'in aboriginal rights. It is pleaded that the forestry legislation does not "authorize the in-
clusion of aboriginal title lands in the Williams Lake TSA, the issuance of Forest Licences or Au-
thorizations for Forest Development Activities on aboriginal title lands..." and accordingly, the li-
cences and authorizations are inapplicable and invalid to the extent that they purport to affect the
Brittany and Trapline Territory. In the alternative the plaintiffs plead that the forestry legislation is
"constitutionally inapplicable" to the extent that it authorizes the issuance of Forest Licences and
Authorizations for Forest Development Activities which infringe the aboriginal rights of the Xeni
Gwet'in or the aboriginal title of the Tsilhqot'in.

41 In the further alternative the plaintiffs plead that if there is the requisite statutory authority,
then the powers granted by the forestry legislation have been exercised in a manner that interferes
with aboriginal rights and title.
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42 The jurisprudence informs us that aboriginal title is a right in land and is more than a right to
engage in specific activities: Delgamuukw v. British Columbia, [1997] 3 S.C.R. 1010, 66 B.C.L.R.
(3d) 285 at paragraph 111. The aboriginal rights that collectively result in aboriginal title are not
absolute. Rights and title can be infringed if that infringement is justifiable: Delgamuukw v. British
Columbia, supra at para. 160.

43 I must ask what is "rare and exceptional” about this case that warrants public funding. How
will this case advance the jurisprudence? What is unique about this case that moves it into the cate-
gory of "rare and exceptional?" The fact that it has survived in excess of 100 trial days does not by
itself move it into that category.

44 What makes this case rare and exceptional is that it calls into question forestry legislation,
secking a declaration that this provincial legislative scheme does not apply to land in the Brittany
and Trapline Territory. The case envisioned by Lambert J.A. in Haida Nation v. British Columbia
(Minister of Forests), supra as to whether the legislative scheme might be an infringement is
squarely raised by the Amended Statement of Claim in this case. Surely that is an issue of great
public importance in a province whose economy relies so heavily on the forest industry.

45 I note in passing that in Gitxsan First Nation v. British Columbia (Minister of Forests),
[2002] B.C.J. No. 2761, 2002 BCSC 1701, Tysoe J. concluded in paragraph 79 that "the Haida de-
cisions go further than holding that a transfer of a forest tenure licence (or the equivalent change of
control of the licence holder) is a prima facie infringement of aboriginal title or rights." He too not-
ed the views of Lambert J.A. concerning the "potential infringement extend[ing] to the passing of
the Act and the issuance of the tree farm licence."

46 We already know that if the legislative scheme were to unjustifiably infringe on rights and
title in any specific situation then it would not be applied. On a case specific basis these kinds of
decisions appear to be made on a regular basis. See: Husby Forest Products Ltd. v. British Columbia
(Minister of Forests), [2004] B.C.J. No. 185, 2004 BCSC 142; Halfway River First Nation v. British
Columbia (Ministry of Forests) (1999), 64 B.C.L.R. (3d) 206 (C.A.); Lax Kw'Alaams Indian Band
et al v. Minister of Forests & West Fraser Mills Ltd. et al, [2004] B.C.J. No. 747, 2004 BCSC 420.
It is undoubtedly helpful in specific situations to have these case specific decisions. But they do not
and cannot go beyond the case specific situation. They will continue, at increasing public and pri-
vate expense, so long as aboriginal rights and title claims remain unresolved. A declaration, either
way, as to whether the provincial forestry legislation is an unjustifiable infringement on aboriginal
rights and title over the land that is the subject of these proceedings would be of great public im-
portance. Such a declaration would make unnecessary the need for the continual expense of indi-
vidual decisions by forestry officials followed by requests for judicial review.

47 There is another aspect which gives public importance to the issues framed in the Amended
Statement of Claim. Their determination would provide the guidance and direction to provincial
officials that the Chief Forrester seems to seek. In his rationale, quoted above, he notes the current
inconclusive state of affairs. He acknowledges his uncertainty as to the impact of aboriginal rights
and title in the Williams Lake TSA on the Annual Allowable Cut. If the legislative scheme is an
unjustifiable infringement and if his inclusion of the Brittany and the Trapline Territory in the Wil-
liams Lake TSA is an unjustifiable infringement such a declaration would remove any uncertainty
he might have and consequently be of great public importance. If the forestry legislation does apply
to the Brittany and Trapline Territory, a decision as to the nature and extent of aboriginal title and
rights in that territory would likewise clarify matters for administrative decision-makers.
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48 The determination of all of the issues relating to past, present and future unjustifiable in-
fringements occasioned by the alleged application and alleged threatened application of the provin-
cial legislative scheme would be of value to the plaintiffs and would serve the public interest. De-
termining whether the actual application of that scheme by the inclusion of the subject lands in the
Williams Lake TSA is an unjustifiable infringement would advance the state of the jurisprudence
and settle a long standing issue. Settling that dispute would be in the public interest.

49 I conclude the case does raise issues that "transcend the individual interests of the particular
litigant, are of public importance, and have not been resolved in previous cases." While the issues
are no doubt of great importance to the plaintiffs they also raise issues of public importance beyond
those already decided by the jurisprudence. A decision that the legislative scheme or the application
or threatened application of the scheme is or is not an infringement, with or without justification, is
site specific in the sense that it would apply to the Brittany and the Trapline Territory but it would
advance the jurisprudence to affect the resolution of similar disputes in other areas. In my view it is
a "rare and exceptional” case. Accordingly I have concluded that the funding order of November 27,
2001 must be continued.

Terms of Continued Order

50 The making of an interim costs order must be subject to "stringent conditions" and the "ob-
servance of appropriate procedural controls." The questions of public importance ought to be tried
as expeditiously as possible. There is no need to spend another one to two years in the proof of this
case if an issue or issues can be framed which will advance issues of aboriginal rights and title in
the Brittany and Trapline Territory. Accordingly, I am directing counsel to frame an issue of law or
fact, or partly of law and partly of fact, pursuant to Rule 33 of the Rules of Court. If that cannot be
achieved by consent I will hear submissions on whether the court should order a special case under
that rule and the nature of that special case. If a special case is framed, the funding order will be
limited to the preparation and argument of that case.

51 I will retain jurisdiction to review the application of the funding order from time to time, but
in the interests of administrative efficiencies I urge the parties to reach another agreement on ac-
counts administration that meets their needs.

S2 The material before me does not warrant any change in the existing orders. If a new agree-
ment is not reached, counsel are at liberty to renew applications for a different method or level of
funding. I should say that my initial impression is that using the scales of cost would cause undue
additional costs and fail to result in adequate funding for a case of this nature. At the same time, I
do not think that costs in advance should necessarily be fixed as 100% of special costs. One solution
to this issue may be for the court to refer the matter to the registrar for a recommendation. Counsel
are invited to consider such a process if they are unable to reach an appropriate agreement.

Summary

53 In summary, the motion for disclosure of fees and disbursements paid by the defendants in
these proceedings is dismissed. The funding order dated November 27, 2001 is continued without
variation.

VICKERS J.
cp/i/qw/qlrds/qlsnv/qlbrl
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Half Moon Lake Resort Ltd. v. Strathcona (County), 2001 ABCA 50

Date: 20010227
Docket: 9903-0412-AC

IN THE COURT OF APPEAL OF ALBERTA

THE COURT:

THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE McCLUNG
THE HONOURABLE MADAM JUSTICE HUNT
THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE BERGER

IN THE MATTER OF THE MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT, S.A. 1994, c. M-26.1;
AND IN THE MATTER OF THE LAND TITLES ACT, R.S.A. 1980, c. L-5
AND IN THE MATTER OF THE LANDS WITHIN THE SOUTH EAST QUARTER OF
SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 52, RANGE 21, WEST OF THE FOURTH MERIDIAN,
AND WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF STRATHCONA COUNTY

BETWEEN:

HALF MOON LAKE RESORT LTD.,
APPLE AUCTION LTD., and BRIAN LOVIG

Appellants (Respondents)

-and -

STRATHCONA COUNTY

Respondent (Applicant)
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APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF
THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE J. A. AGRIOS
Dated June 29, 1999
Filed September 3, 1999

Docket: 0003-0132-AC/0003-0133-AC

IN THE MATTER OF THE MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT, S.A. 1994, c. M-26.1;
AND IN THE MATTER OF THE LAND TITLES ACT,R.S.A. 1980, c. L-5
AND IN THE MATTER OF THE LANDS WITHIN THE SOUTH EAST QUARTER OF
SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 52, RANGE 21, WEST OF THE FOURTH MERIDIAN,
AND WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF STRATHCONA COUNTY
BETWEEN:
STRATHCONA COUNTY
Appellant (Applicant)
- and -
HALF MOON LAKE RESORT LTD., APPLE AUCTION CORPORATION
OPERATING A BUSINESS UNDER THE FIRM NAME AND STYLE

APPLE AUCTION LTD., and BRIAN LOVIG

Respondents (Respondents)

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF
THE HONOURABLE MADAM JUSTICE M. T. MOREAU
Dated March 10, 2000
Filed April 3, 2000
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Docket: 0003-0296-AC

IN THE MATTER OF THE MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT, S.A. 1994, c. M-26.1;
AND IN THE MATTER OF THE LAND TITLES ACT, R.S.A. 1980, c. L-5
AND IN THE MATTER OF THE SALE OF LANDS WITHIN THE SOUTH EAST QUARTER
OF SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 52, RANGE 21, WEST OF THE FOURTH MERIDIAN, AND
WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF STRATHCONA COUNTY
BETWEEN:
HALF MOON LAKE RESORT LTD., and BRIAN LOVIG
Appellants (Respondents)
-and -

STRATHCONA COUNTY

Respondent (Applicant)
- and -

APPLE AUCTION LTD., OPERATING A BUSINESS UNDER
THE FIRM NAME AND STYLE APPLE AUCTION LTD.

Not Party to the Appeal

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF
THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE K. G. RITTER
Dated May 11, 2000
Filed June 14, 2000

REASONS FOR JUDGMENT RESERVED

REASONS FOR JUDGMENT OF THE HONOURABLE MADAM JUSTICE HUNT
CONCURRED IN BY THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE McCLUNG
AND CONCURRED IN BY THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE BERGER
COUNSEL:
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J. McCabe
L. Becker
For the Appellants

M.
K.

B. A. Sjolie
J. S. Grundberg
For the Respondent
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REASONS FOR JUDGMENT OF
THE HONOURABLE MADAM JUSTICE HUNT

[1] A company owned a large tract of land which, for several decades, was operated as a
campground. The company advertised an event at which it proposed to auction individual
campsites pursuant to a form of contract. The local municipality obtained an interim injunction
restraining the holding of the auction because the company had not obtained permission to
subdivide its property. The company then developed two additional forms of contract pursuant to
which it proposed to dispose of interests in its property. This appeal concerns the validity of the
contracts in light of s. 95(1) of the Land Titles Act, R.S.A. 1980, c. L-5 (“LTA”). It also raises
questions about the interaction between s. 95(1) and Part 17 of the Municipal Government Act,
S.A. 1994, c. M-26.1 (“MGA”).

[2] I conclude that all three contracts are invalid but that the first chambers judge should not
have awarded solicitor-client costs against the company. Thus I would allow the appeal in part.

BRIEF BACKGROUND

[3] Although four appeals were filed, oral argument focussed on the two that concern the
validity of the contracts and whether solicitor-client costs should have been awarded against the
Appellants in the first decision considered here (Appeal 9903-0412). Since the parties agreed
that the matters raised in the other two appeals (0003-0132/0003-0133) were moot or would be
rendered moot by this Court’s decision, these Reasons concentrate on the former issues. There is
a thorough examination of the facts in the second chambers decision considered here (Appeal
0003-0296): [2000] A.J. No. 615.

[4] The Appellant Lovig is the president of the Appellant Half Moon Lake Resort Ltd. (“Half
Moon”). Half Moon owns about 139 acres (“the Lands”) located in Strathcona County
(“County”), which Lands are subject to the jurisdiction of the Respondent County. Under the
relevant land use by-law, permitted uses for the Lands include campsites, outdoor amusement
establishments and outdoor participant recreation. The Lands contain over 200 campsites and
have been operated as a campground and dude ranch for several decades. Amenities such as
boating, equestrian and miniature golf facilities are found on the Lands.

[5] Half Moon advertised a public auction at which it proposed to dispose of interests in the
Lands pursuant to a form of contract (“the First Contract™). In its advertising, Half Moon
claimed to have obtained subdivision approval. This was not true, but Half Moon had registered
a plan of survey at the Land Titles Office.

[6] The County obtained an interim injunction which, among other things, prohibited sales
under the First Contract. Half Moon then provided individuals with the opportunity to acquire
interests in the Lands pursuant to another form of contract (“the Second Contract”).

2001 ABCA 50 (CanLll)
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[7] In cross-examination on an affidavit during this litigation, Lovig was asked about the
purpose of registering the survey plan at the Land Titles Office. He said at A.B. 39-41 that it was
“[t]o provide a record of definition of particular lot areas” and that it was to be used in
conjunction with or for reference to the sale of the lots under the First and Second Contracts.

(8] In the first decision under appeal, a permanent injunction was granted prohibiting the
Appellants from entering into agreements in the form of the First and Second Contracts. In his
brief Reasons, the chambers judge adopted the County’s arguments, saying at A.B. 130 (9903-
0412) that this was “clearly an attempt to do indirectly what cannot be done directly. ... It is
clearly a colourable attempt to create a subdivision. ... This scheme would subvert both the Land
Titles Act and the Planning Act.”

[9] He awarded solicitor-client costs against the Appellants, stating at A.B. 135 that there
had been an attempt to flaunt the spirit and intent of the interim injunction order. In his view, the
Second Contract was virtually the same as the First, the use of which had been prohibited by the
interim injunction. He considered that the Appellants had ignored the interim injunction through
a colourable attempt to accomplish with the Second Contract what they had been enjoined from
accomplishing with the First. He ordered the Registrar of Land Titles to cancel the plan of
survey registered by the Appellants.

[10] In the second decision under appeal, supra, a chambers judge considered yet another
form of contract (“the Third Contract™). He concluded that, while purporting to be a 35-year
lease, the Third Contract actually involved a sale of lots and was invalid due to s. 95(1) of the
LTA.

[11] At para. 19, he set out some of the factors that a court should take into account in
determining whether or not a purported lease is really a sale. In this case, the significant matters
included the involvement of 229 parcels of land; the Appellants, as “lessors”, retained virtually
no control over the property; rights relating to development of the land had been transferred to
the lessees; not all development concerns had been dealt with; the lessees and proposed lessees
were individuals rather than corporations; and there had been two previous unsuccessful attempts
to convey interests in the property to individual owners.

[12] He concluded that the Third Contract thwarted the purposes of the LTA4 and the MGA,
those purposes being “the security and certainty of title and the promotion of orderly and
efficient development of land” (para. 26). He granted an order declaring the Third Contract
invalid, void and illegal and permanently enjoining the Appellants from leasing interests in the
Lands under such contracts.

LEGISLATION

s.95(1), (3)(a) LTA4

2001 ABCA 50 (CanLll)
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95(1) No lots shall be sold under agreement for sale or otherwise according to any
townsite or subdivision plan until a plan creating the lots has been registered.

(3) No party to a sale or agreement for sale is entitled in a civil action or
proceeding to rely on or plead the provisions of this section

(a) if the plan of subdivision by reference to which the sale or
agreement for sale was made is registered when the action or
proceeding is commenced

s. 616(m), (s), (u), (ee), 617, 652(1) MGA
616. In this Part,

(m)  “lot” means
(i) a quarter section ...

(iv)  apart of a parcel of land described in a certificate of title if

the boundaries of the part are described in the certificate of
title other than by reference to a legal subdivision, or

v) a part of a parcel of land described in a certificate of title if
the boundaries of the part are described in a certificate of
title by reference to a plan of subdivision

(s) “parcel of land” means the aggregate of the one or more areas of
land described in a certificate of title or described in a certificate of
title by reference to a plan filed or registered in a land titles office

(w) “plan of subdivision” means a plan of survey prepared in
accordance with the Land Titles Act for the purpose of effecting a
subdivision

(ee)  “subdivision” means the division of a parcel of land by an
instrument and “subdivide” has a corresponding meaning
[Emphasis added.]

617. The purpose of this Part and the regulations and bylaws under this Part is to
provide means whereby plans and related matters may be prepared and adopted

2001 ABCA 50 (CanLll)
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(a) to achieve the orderly, economical and beneficial development, use
of land and patterns of human settlement, and

(b) to maintain and improve the quality of the physical environment
within which patterns of human settlement are situated in Alberta,

without infringing on the rights of individuals for any public interest except to the
extent that is necessary for the overall greater public interest.

652(1) A Registrar may not accept for registration an instrument that has the
effect or may have the effect of subdividing a parcel of land unless the
subdivision has been approved by a subdivision authority.

s. 16(d) Planning Act, R.S.A. 1970, c. 276 (“1970 Planning Act”)
16. Land shall not be subdivided unless

(d)  the proposed subdivision complies in all respects with this Act and
The Subdivision and Transfer Regulations, and is approved in the
manner prescribed by those regulations

THE FIRST AND SECOND CONTRACTS (“Contracts™)

[13] The First and Second Contracts, both titled “Contract of Purchase and Sale” (9903-0412
A.B. 204 and 212), are similar. The Purchaser agrees to purchase an undivided interest in Half
Moon’s Lands, coupled with another interest. Under the First Contract, the additional interest is
called an Exclusive Use Area; under the Second, it is a Leased Area. In each case, the two
interests together are referred to as “the Property”.

[14] Under the Contracts, the Exclusive Use Area and the Leased Area are specified by
reference to an attached survey document. It is common ground that the survey document is the
same as that registered by the Appellants at the Land Titles Office and cancelled by order of the
first chambers judge.

[15] The Contracts grant the Purchaser of the Property exclusive use of the Exclusive Use
Area or the Leased Area, according to attached terms and conditions. One term is that the
Purchaser shall be entitled to vacant possession of the Property unless provided otherwise in the
Contract.

[16] Details about the Exclusive Use Area and the Leased Area are set out in agreements
attached to the Contracts (A.B. 208, 216). The terms of the attachments are also similar. They
give the Purchasers “the exclusive right to occupy, use, improve and enjoy” the Exclusive Use or
Leased Areas. Any improvements constructed thereon belong to the Purchaser.
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[17] Each Contract contemplates the establishment of an association having powers similar to
those of a corporation under the Condominium Property Act, R.S.A. 1980, c. C-22, as amended.
The Association has the power to approve improvements on the Leased or Exclusive Use Areas.

[18] The main difference between the First and Second Contracts is the nature of the interest
that accompanies the undivided interest. Under the First, the rights are said to be interests in land
that can be protected by caveat (A.B. 208). Under the Second, the lease is for three years and can
be renewed for three years (A.B. 216). Effectively, the lease is renewable perpetually since each
Second Contract is automatically renewed by the renewal of a single lease held by any
Purchaser.

THE THIRD CONTRACT

[19] The Third Contract (0003-0296 A.B. 89) is titled Lease Agreement. It recites that Half
Moon, the Lessor and owner of the Lands, has designated 229 areas as reflected on an attached
Leasehold Survey. Again, it is common ground that this is the same survey referenced in the first
two contracts. The Lessee agrees to lease one of those areas for a prepaid lump sum in return for
the exclusive right to occupy, use, improve and quietly enjoy the Leased Area for 35 years. The
Lessee agrees to pay a pro rata share of the property taxes for the Land and the Common Areas
(being all the Land except the Leased Areas). A Tenants’ Association will be established to set
rules and regulations for the use of the Leased and Common Areas. Lovig is a co-covenantor
under the Lease Agreement and undertakes to ensure that Half Moon performs its covenants. In
fact, Half Moon’s sole covenant, also made by the Lessee, is not to assign the lease unless a
successor in interest promises to be bound by it. The Lessee undertakes not to file a caveat with
respect to its interest.

[20]  Under the attached Terms and Conditions, improvements to the Leased Areas can be
made only with the consent of the Tenants’ Association. The document is silent as to ownership
of improvements. A Management Committee representing the Association is empowered to
supervise the enforcement of the Agreement. The Lessee agrees to comply with municipal by-
laws.

THE VALIDITY OF THE CONTRACTS

The First and Second Contracts

[21] Counsel for the Appellants stated during oral argument that if the Third Contract is
invalid, so too are the First and Second. Since I conclude below that the Third Contract is

invalid, little needs to be said about the First and Second.

[22] The First and Second Contracts breach s. 95(1) of the LT4 because the additional
interests they convey (the Exclusive Use Area and the Leased Area) constitute the sale of a lot
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absent the registration of a subdivision plan. Such a contract is illegal: Boulevard Heights v.
Veilleux, [1915] 52 S.C.R. 185.

[23] The County concedes that the conveyance of an undivided interest in the Lands under the
Contracts is unobjectionable because the sale of an undivided interest is not prohibited by s.
95(1). In my opinion, however, the conveyance of the additional interests constitutes the
prohibited sale of a lot. To explain why, it is necessary to examine the nature of an undivided
interest.

[24] In order to create a tenancy in common, unity of possession must exist between the
tenants, all of whom “are equally entitled to possession of the whole; their respective shares
remain undivided during the currency of the relationship”: B. H. Ziff, Principles of Property
Law, 3rd ed. (Toronto: Carswell, 2000) at 304. Having an undivided interest and unity of
possession in the whole parcel, no tenant in common can claim a greater right of possession to
any part than could be claimed by any of the undivided owners: Kasha v. Bye, [1998] A.J. No.
697, Quinn M. Tenants in common share the right to possession of all the property so that their
shares are undivided in the sense that no boundary has been demarcated. E. H. Burn, Cheshire’s
Modern Law of Real Property, 14th ed. (London: Sweet & Maxwell, 1988); R. E. Megarry and
H. W. R. Wade, The Law of Real Property, 6th ed. (London: Butterworths, 2000), chapter 9 at
480.

[25] Through the conveyance of the additional interests, the Contracts purport to grant an
undivided owner the exclusive right of possession in perpetuity to part of the Lands. This is
offensive to the nature of an undivided interest and can be seen in no other light than the sale of
part of the Lands in contravention of s. 95(1).

[26] This result is obvious as regards the Exclusive Use Area under the First Contract, which
conveys a fee simple interest to a delineated portion of the Lands. The conveyance of the Leased
Area under the Second Contract is slightly less objectionable on its face.

[27] But an examination of the substance of the second transaction reveals the same result.
Although it purports to convey a three-year leasehold interest, that interest is effectively
renewable in perpetuity and has the hallmarks of a fee simple interest. For example, clause 2 of
the Terms and Conditions attached to the Lease Agreement forming part of the Second Contract
provides that the undivided interest and the lease interest “shall be deemed to be created
concurrently and shall not be separated for any purpose whatsoever except where expressly
authorized by this Agreement” (9903-0412 A.B. 218). The so-called lease interest has no
elements typical of a leasehold interest, such as a real limited term or a lessor’s right of re-entry
for breach of a condition. In substance, the Second Contract grants exclusive rights in perpetuity
to part of the Lands, absent an approved subdivision plan. It also breaches s. 95(1) and is illegal.

The Third Contract
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[28] To determine whether the Third Contract is valid, it is necessary to explore more fully the
prohibition in s. 95(1) of the L74 and its relationship to Part 17 of the MGA. An understanding
of Alberta’s earlier planning laws, as interpreted by the courts, is also important.

[29] The term “lot” is not defined in the LTA4. The same term in a predecessor provision has
been held to be capable of many meanings: Andersen v. Sinclair (1976), 2 Alta. L.R. (2d) 69 at
71 (S.C.T.D.). A common usage is “[a] portion or parcel of land; any piece of land divided off or
set apart for a particular use or purpose”: Town of Westmount v. Montreal Light, Heat and
Power Co., [1911] 44 S.C.R. 364 at 377.

[30] Subsection 616(m) of the MGA defines “lot” partly by reference to the term “plan of
subdivision”. The latter is defined in the same section as “a plan of survey prepared in
accordance with the [LTA] for the purpose of effecting a subdivision”. Since the only provision
in Alberta law for creating a subdivision is found in Part 17 of the MGA, there is obviously a
close link between the two statutes.

[31] It is not necessary in this case to decide the precise extent to which the definition of “lot”
in the MGA affects the same term in s. 95(1). It is sufficient to say that a “lot” in s. 95(1) refers
to a piece of land that has been set apart for a particular use. At the least, this definition is
compatible with the use of the term in the MGA.

[32] The Appellants suggest that the Third Contract creates no “lot”. I disagree. Each area to
be leased is identified by reference to the same survey document which, according to Lovig’s
own testimony, was intended to define lot areas under the First and Second Contracts. This
makes it apparent that the Third Contract creates pieces of land set apart for a particular use and
involves lots as the term is used in s. 95(1).

[33] The Appellants argue next that the Third Contract is not a ““sale” but simply a lease that is
not contrary to s. 95(1). They also assert that the Third Contract does not subdivide the Lands.
They say that, in contrast to earlier legislation, there is now no prohibition against the
subdivision of land absent planning approval, but only against registration at the Land Titles
Office of an instrument having such an effect. Since they do not intend to use the Land Titles
system, they claim the Third Contract is valid because it breaches no law. A response to these
interrelated arguments requires an analysis of past planning law and how the LTA4 and Part 17 of
the MGA interact.

[34] Earlier planning legislation, as exemplified by s. 16 of the 1970 Planning Act,
specifically prohibited subdivision without authority. Because this express prohibition is not
found in the present MGA, a leading authority on municipal law in Alberta concludes that the
MGA “does not purport to prohibit parties from entering into an unapproved transaction that has
the effect of subdivision.” F. A. Laux, Planning Law and Practice in Alberta, 2nd ed., looseleaf
(Toronto: Carswell, 1996). The paragraph in which his observation is made, however, also states
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that “except for contracts for the sale of lots created in an unregistered plan which are expressly
made illegal and unenforceable between the parties by s. 95 of the Land Titles Act, transactions
between parties amounting to an unapproved subdivision are probably not ipso facto rendered
void by the Municipal Government Act.”

[35] The sale of a lot is obviously a subdivision, so at least to this extent the Appellants are
mistaken to assert that there is no longer a prohibition against unauthorized subdivision. In
determining whether a transaction is the sale of a lot, the courts ought to analyse its substance
and not just its form. Earlier cases decided under provisions other than s. 95(1) have done just
that and are helpful in determining the real effect of the Third Contract. Three are of interest.

[36] In Otan Developments Ltd. v. Kuropatwa (1978), 7 Alta. L.R. (2d) 274 (S.C.A.D.), a
caveat protecting a lease was ordered removed because the Court concluded the lease had the
effect of subdividing property without planning authority. The parties had entered into an
agreement for the sale of the property, with the purchase price fully paid. When the owner failed
to obtain subdivision approval, he leased part of the parcel to the purchaser for a term of 49 years
at an annual rental of $1.

[37] Haddad J.A. concluded at 277 that the parties intended to give the appellant “virtually the
same control over the one acre as he would have had by becoming the registered owner of that
portion if that result could have been achieved.” He underscored at 278 that not every lease
would have the effect of subdividing land. Rather, in each case, the purpose and effect, or
possible effect, of the lease must be examined.

[38] Morrow J.A. (Prowse J.A. concurring) came to the same conclusion for different reasons.
The contract provided that the lease would terminate as soon as a registerable transfer was
obtained for the unsubdivided parcel to which it pertained. He viewed this as an attempt to
achieve the same effect as if subdivision approval had been procured. He noted that it would be
possible to lease part of a parcel for a considerable period of time for parking or hay or grazing
purposes without infringing the planning legislation. But in this case the parties were
“attempting to obtain the benefits of a subdivision under the guise of a ... lease ... without having
to comply with the applicable legislation within the foreseeable future” (at 286). The transaction
was colourable and attempted to thwart the object of the legislation.

[39] On the other hand, in Knowlton v. Registrar of Land Titles (1982), 19 Alta. L.R. (2d) 31
(Q.B.), Miller J. concluded that the registration of a caveat protecting a lease ought not to be
refused because the lease did not effect a subdivision. While McDonald’s lease was lengthy (40
years with an option to renew for 10 years), it had a bona fide commercial rationale in that the
building to be constructed on the premises would require a substantial capital investment. The
building would revert to the lessor at the end of the lease, with the lessee entitled to remove only
trade fixtures. Although pre-payment of the rent in the amount of approximately a half-million
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dollars was suggestive of a purchase, Miller J. noted at 39 that it might only represent the
discounted present value of the rental to be paid over the lease’s term.

[40] Unlike in Otan, there was no attempt to circumvent the planning legislation. There was
neither a prior unsuccessful attempt to subdivide nor any indication that the lease was intended
to accomplish such a result. There was no undertaking by the landlord to try to obtain
subdivision approval. Subdivision approval already obtained for the whole shopping centre
permitted the construction of a building of the type contemplated by McDonald’s. The lease
contained such typical provisions as the need for the lessor’s approval prior to assignment of the
lease or the erection of signs. It also gave the lessor the right to enter the premises under certain
circumstances.

[411 Robinson v. Guthrie (1984), 51 A.R. 356 (C.A.) involved an application for a declaration
that the appellant was a tenant under a 99-year lease covering part of a quarter section. The lease
provided for rental by way of a lump sum and payment of one-half the entire quarter section’s
annual taxes. There was no effort to obtain subdivision approval. Regardless of whether this
transaction might be colourable, the Court of Appeal held that it violated the prohibition against
unauthorized subdivision in s. 16 of the 1970 Planning Act because of its long term and the fact
that the single advance payment approximated the cost of a fee simple parcel. At para. 9,
Stevenson J.A. said that the transaction was intended to result in the division of the parcel for a
long period of time, with all the other incidents of ownership.

[42] These cases make it clear that each transaction must be examined to determine its true
character and set out some of the appropriate factors to consider in that process. Do the essential
elements of the Third Contract make it a real lease or is it in fact the “sale” of a lot prohibited by
s. 95(1)?

[43] The Appellants concede that, in answering this central question, the second chambers
judge considered some relevant factors, including the length of the lease and the payment
method. They complain, however, that he took account of inappropriate matters, including the
existence of the First and Second Contracts, the fact that the Lessees were individuals rather than
corporations, and a brochure prepared by the Appellants to explain why they were utilizing a 35-
year lease. Even if some of these criticisms are valid, the totality of rights in the Third Contract
suggests that it ought to be characterized as an invalid sale.

[44] Neither the lengthy term of the lease nor payment of the rent by way of a lump sum, by
themselves, would necessarily lead to the conclusion that the lease is really a sale. The critical
point is that the Lessor retains virtually no control over the Lands. By implication, it may have a
reversionary right to the Lands at the end of 35 years. In the meantime, however, the Lessor’s
common law right to re-enter for a breach has been delegated to the Lessees because the
Tenants’ Association has been granted rights to enforce the contract. Through the Association,
the Lessees also have the right to approve improvements. Not only has the owner parted with
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possession of the Lands for the term of the lease, it has relinquished virtually all its rights to the
property for that period.

[45] Sinces. 95(1) is directed, in part, at preventing unauthorized subdivision, the matter of
planning mischief is relevant to its application. The Appellants assert that this transaction
involves no planning mischief, since the Lands will continue to be used the same way as they
have for several decades. The County contests this. Regardless of which view of the facts is
correct, the Lessor’s total relinquishment of control over the Lands to the Lessees for the next 35
years could pose enforcement problems for planning authorities in the interim. Although the
Lessees have covenanted in the Third Contract to comply with municipal laws, if they do not, the
recourse of the County would be to the Lessor. The evidence is that the County would deal with
the registered owner, namely Half Moon (A.B. 36). But Half Moon has delegated its rights to the
Tenants’ Association, which does not own the Lands. Such a problem does not arise in the case
of a condominium association (after which the Association is patterned) because such an
association is itself an owner which is obligated to comply with planning laws. Most leases do
not delegate the enforcement of their provisions to the lessees themselves. Thus, contrary to the
Appellant’s argument, there may be a degree of planning mischief in the Third Contract. This is
an additional reason for characterizing it as a sale prohibited by s. 95(1).

[46] I recognize that owners may deal with their property as they see fit, subject to valid
legislation. Indeed, this principle is enshrined in s. 617 of the MGA4, which describes the purpose
of its planning provisions. Not every long-term lease of property will be characterized as the sale
of a lot. But wherever lies the line between a lease and the sale of a lot, for the above reasons it
has been crossed by the Third Contract. The second chambers judge correctly concluded that the
contract breaches s. 95(1).

SOLICITOR-CLIENT COSTS

[47] Inmy opinion, the first chambers judge erred in awarding solicitor-client costs against
the Appellants. Costs orders are discretionary and will be interfered with on appeal only if there
is a clear, palpable and overriding error: Westersund v. Westersund (1993), 157 A.R. 276 at 278
(C.A.). Notwithstanding this broad discretion and the necessity for appellate deference, it is
appropriate to interfere if the trial or chambers judge has committed such a serious error:
Sidorsky et al. v. CFCN Communications Ltd. et al. (1997), 206 A.R. 382 (C.A.).

[48] It is clear from the authorities that solicitor-client costs are to be awarded only in rare and
exceptional circumstances. Jackson and Parkview Holdings v. Trimac Industries (1993), 138
A.R. 161 at para. 12 (Q.B.). The first chambers judge concluded that solicitor-client costs were
justified because of his view that, by employing the Second Contract, the Appellants were
flaunting the intent of the interim injunction.
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[49] But the terms of the interim injunction order were appropriately precise, prohibiting only
the use of the First Contract which was attached as an exhibit (A.B. 123-24). Indeed, this is
exactly what the County had sought in its Notice of Motion. The order did not prohibit the use of
a contract similar to the First Contract. The County complains, in part, that the Appellants
neglected to inform it that they intended to employ a different form of contract. But the
injunction order did not require this. Nor does any general legal principle.

[50] While I agree with the first chambers judge that the Second Contract is illegal, there are
differences between the two contracts that make the legality of the Second at least marginally
more arguable than the First. The Appellants did not act wrongly in testing the limits of's. 95(1)
by drafting the Second Contract in terms somewhat different than the First. They were entitled to
order their affairs as they saw fit, risking the possibility that a later legal assessment of the
Second Contract would characterize it as being contrary to s. 95(1). They flaunted neither the
letter nor the spirit of the interim injunction. Thus, they were not guilty of misconduct or
blameworthiness to justify an award of solicitor-client costs.

SUMMARY

[51] All three contracts breach s. 95(1) of the LTA. Solicitor-client costs, however, should not
have been granted by the first chambers judge. Therefore, I would allow the appeal in part.

[52] Although the County sought solicitor-client costs on the appeal, I reject its assertion that

the appeal was without merit. The issues raised are complex and important. Therefore, the
County should receive only party-and-party costs under the appropriate column on the appeal.

APPEAL HEARD on NOVEMBER 28, 2000

REASONS FILED at EDMONTON, Alberta,
this 27" day of FEBRUARY, 2001

HUNT J.A.

I concur:

McCLUNG J.A.
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BERGER J.A.
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Alberta Court of Queen's Bench
Jackson v. Trimac Industries Ltd.
Date: 1993-03-17

A.D. Hunter, Q.C., and M.L. Sigurdson, for plaintiffs.
D.R. Haigh, Q.C., V.M. May, Q.C., and B.W. Conway, for defendants.

(Doc. Calgary 8901-16051)
March 17, 1993.

(1] HuTcHINSON J.:— At the conclusion of my Reasons for Judgment in this action [6
Alta. L.R. (3d) 225, [1992] 2 W.W.R. 209], | stated that costs should be settled before entry of
the judgment and may be spoken to. Counsel have now appeared before me and have
spoken to costs. This was also an opportunity for counsel to clear up one matter that was left
outstanding concerning the possibility of a set off of $250,000 from the $7,212,375 judgment
awarded to Jackson. A draft in the amount of $250,000 was tendered by Jackson to
Industries on December 16, 1987 in payment for 2,500 shares of Industries. In my judgment |
speculated that Jackson may have regained the use of such money. The parties agree that
Jackson did not obtain the use of such money free of any claim by Trimac. The $250,000 in
question was dealt with pursuant to an agreement in writing between counsel for the parties
dated April 8, 1988 (Ex. 1 — Document 2267) as follows:

DKJ will deposit with Stikeman, Elliott, on an entirely without prejudice basis, the
uncashed bank draft of $250,000 which was forwarded to Trimac Industries at the time
DKJ exercised his option to purchase 2,500 Trimac Industries shares. The said funds
will be held in our trust account, in an interest bearing form, pending either our mutual
agreement in writing, or the determination of any legal proceedings which may be
commenced concerning DKJ's rights, if any, with respect to the said option.

[2] | have held that the option to purchase additional shares of Industries was properly
exercised by Jackson and that he was accordingly entitled to purchase the 2,500 shares of
Industries. Therefore the monies tendered by Jackson became the property of Industries
which, together with the accumulated interest thereon, shouid now be paid to Industries. In
the result there will be no off-set against the amount ordered to Jackson on the sale of his
13.5% interest in Industries to Trimac for fair market value which | found to amount to
$7,212,375.

[3] Turning to the issue of costs, | find that, broadly speaking, the main issue between
the parties as to costs comes down to whether the plaintiff's should be awarded costs on an
indemnity basis in the form of solicitor-client costs or on a party and party basis as provided in
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Sched. C of the Rules of Court. There the appropriate column would be col. 6 with a multiple
to be selected given such factors as the length of the trial, the complexity and importance of
the issues and the amounts involved. The question as to whether solicitor-client costs

represent an indemnity will be discussed later.

[4] Counsel for the plaintiff argued that his client should be indemnified on a solicitor-
client basis or at the very least on a party-party basis at five times col. 6. In order to gain a
perspective on the amounts involved, | requested counsel for the plaintiff to produce a draft
Bill of Costs calculated on col. 6 of Sched. C which he has now supplied. It is understood that
the draft Bill of Costs does not have the approval of counsel for the defendants who has had
no opportunity to consider it. It is anticipated that many of the items will not present a
problem. The draft Bill of Costs calculated on the basis of single col. 6 discloses total fees of
$114,325 plus GST amounting to $6,038.20. Disbursements total $152,598.01. Five times
col. 6 applied to fees would therefore amount to $571,625 plus GST at 7% bringing the total
to $611,638.75 plus disbursements as may be agreed upon or allowed on taxation. Fees and
disbursements requested by the plaintiff at five times col. 6 as an alternative to solicitor-client
costs could therefore total in the neighbourhood of $750,000. Solicitor-client fees are normally
considered to be higher than Sched. C costs. This, of course, depends upon the multiplier. |
did not ask for disclosure of the plaintiffs' solicitor-client costs.

[5] Counsel for the defendants argues for party and party costs with a multiple of 2 1/2
or possibly three times col. 6 as a proper award. In the event of an award of either solicitor-
client or party-party costs, he says that a formal taxation would follow if the parties were
unable to agree on any of the specifics involved in calculating fees. The reasonableness of
certain items of disbursements may also require further direction in the event that the parties
are unable to agree. The disbursements which may be in dispute encompass such items as
the $52,160.35 fee, including disbursements and GST, for the expert's report compiled by Mr.
Scott of Ernst & Young on behalf of the plaintiffs calculating the losses claimed by the
plaintiffs. The defendants say that Mr. Scott's report proceeded on a wrong assumption,
namely that of a going concern scenario through 1986 and 1987 with a closing with CIL in
March of 1987. The defendants say that Mr. Scott's report was not usable. Also open to
question is the Stikeman and Elliott account totalling $24,034.08. The defendants question
whether that account represents an appropriate expense of the cost of the trial.
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[6] Counsel for the defendants does not take issue with the inclusion of GST, second
counsel fees, including attendance at examinations for discovery, daily transcript costs
including computer diskettes or photocopying fees. The level of the fees, including rates and
time spent on matters relating to the trial, remain of concern if solicitor-client costs weré to be

entertained.

(7] Apart from the main issue, counsel for the defendants identified certain subsidiary
concerns, that is, whether the Court should exercise its discretion to apportion the cost of
certain "issues" or "matters" brought into play in the trial by the plaintiffs in the presentation of
the plaintiffs' case. These concerns include the following; firstly the plaintiffs' opening where
counsel for the plaintiffs argued that on the basis of the pleadings certain matters were the
subject of issue estoppel or were an abuse of process or were res judicata having regard to
the previous litigation between Trimac and CIL and also between CIL and Trimac, Laidlaw
Transportation Limited and Jackson. Secondly, the plaintiffs request that certain documents
be produced for discovery where solicitor-client privilege and without prejudice settlement
privilege had been claimed by the defendants. Thirdly, the plaintiffs' attempt to introduce
collateral facts in their cross-examination of McCaig and Bailey. The plaintiffs did not succeed
on any of these three issues or matters raised on their behalf. Counsel for the defendants
calculates that the first item occupied 2 1/4 days of trial time, item 2 occupied 6 days of trial
time and item 3 occupied 1 1/4 days of trial time for a total of 9 1/2 days out of the 56 days
taken up by this trial.

(8] Other items of concern identified by counsel for the defendants were what level
should costs be set assuming party-party costs and whether this case was a "rare and
exceptional" case in which solicitor-client costs, however defined, should be awarded. These

latter two issues are really folded into the main issue to which | have already referred.

[9] Counsel for the plaintiffs submitted that if party-party costs are to be awarded, there
should be an additional lump sum allowance made for written arguments that were prepared
throughout the trial for which no allowance is made in Sched. C as well as an allowance for
the preparation of computer assisted charts and chronologies relating to the evidence and
documents. A lump sum of $20,000 was suggested in this regard.

[10] Returning to the main issue there is no dearth of law on the subject of costs
emanating from this Court and the Alberta Court of Appeal. | have been referred to the
following cases:
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Max Sonnenberg Inc. v. Stewart, Smith (Canada) Ltd., [1987] 2 WW.R. 75 [48 Alta. L.R. (2d)
367], (Veit J.) Nov. 21, 1986

Sturrock v. Ancona Petroleums Ltd., 111 A.R. 86 [75 Alta. L.R. (2d) 216], (Lomas J.) Aug. 23,
1990

Pharand Ski Corp. v. Alberta, 122 A.R. 395 [81 Alta. L.R. (2d) 304, additional reasons 122
AR. 395 at 398, 83 Alta. L.R. (2d) 152, [1992] 1 W.W.R. 501}, (Mason J.) Oct. 2, 1991

Canada Deposit Insurance Corp. v. Canadian Commercial Bank, 50 Alta. L.R. (2d) 1 [[1987] 3
W.W.R. 160], (Wachowich J.) Feb. 6, 1987

Mobil Oil Canada Ltd. v. Canadian Superior Oil, [1980] 1 W.W.R. 453, (Kirby J.) Oct. 5, 1979

McCarthy v. Calgary Roman Catholic Separate School District No. 1, [1980] 5 WW.R. 524,
(Sinclair C.J.Q.B.) June 24, 1980

Wenden v. Trikha, 1 Alta. L.R. (3d) 283, (Murray J.) Mar. 6, 1992
Fleck v. Stewart, 80 Alta. L.R. (2d) 334, (McBain J.) May 15, 1991

Olson v. New Home Cettification Program of Alberta, 44 Alta. L.R. (2d) 207, 209, (Lutz J.)
Apr. 11, 1986

Calbar Securities Ltd. v. Toole Feet Co., 30 Alta. L.R. (2d) 286 (C.A.), (McGillivray C.J.A.)
Mar. 5, 1984

Nathu v. Imbrook Properties Ltd., 4 Alta. L.R. (3d) 149 [[1992] 6 W.W.R. 373] (C.A.), Sept. 1,
1992

Petrogas Processing Ltd. v. Westcoast Transmission Co., 73 Alta. L.R. (2d) 246 [[1990] 4
W.W.R. 461}, (O'Leary J.) Apr. 2, 1990

Reese v. Alberta, 5 Alta. L.R. (3d) 40 [[1993] 1 W.W.R. 450], (McDonald J.) Aug. 28, 1992

Nova, An Alberta Corp. v. Guelph Engineering Co., 60 Alta. L.R. (2d) 366, (Brennan J.) Jul.
20, 1988

[11] Insofar as it is possible to distil general principles from the foregoing cases and also
from the other Canadian and English cases referred to therein, and bearing in mind s. 19 of
the Court of Queen's Bench Act, R.S.A. 1980, c. C-29, and the Alberta Rules of Court, R.
600, 601 and 605, there can be no doubt that a trial judge has a very wide discretion when
awarding costs provided that such discretion is exercised judicially. The cases themselves
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exhibit a diversity in the exercise of the Court's discretion and are bound to be influenced by

their own particular facts.

[12] The general rule is that costs follow the event. The defendants do not dispute that
the defendants are obliged to pay costs, it is the method of calculating such costs which is in
issue. Another undisputed general principle is that "it must be a rare and most exceptional
case in which costs will be awarded on a solicitor and client basis rather than on a party-party
basis". This is a statement made by Freedman J.A. at p. 570 of Evaskow v. B.B.F. (1969), 71
W.W.R. 565 (Man. C.A.), quoted by Kirby J. in Mobil Oil (supra), at p. 456. In the same Mobil
Oil case, Kirby J. quoted Keith J. in Vanderclay Development Co. v. Inducon Engineering
Ltd., [1969] 1 O.R. 41, 1 D.L.R. (3d) 337 (H.C.), at p. 344 [D.L.R.] as follows:

Keith J., at p. 343, points out that while the court does have discretion to award solicitor-
and-client costs, such discretion should be exercised most carefully. He continued, at p.
344.

. one must be extremely cautious in departing from the general rule that costs
awarded to a successful litigant are to be taxed as between party and party on the basis
of an authoritative and well recognized tariff. If this principle were departed from, other
than in exceptional cases, it is not difficult to visualize the indirect harm that could well
be done by inhibiting prospective litigants from bringing to the attention of the Courts
matters which they have every right to have put into litigation."

[13] The general principles are also clearly stated by McDonald J. in Reese (supra) at
pp. 44-45, paras. 7, 8 and 9, where he says:

While the allocation of costs of a lawsuit is always in the discretion of the court, the
exercise of that discretion must be consistent with established principles and practice. It
is traditionally accepted in Canada's common law provinces that as a general rule the
successful party recovers its costs from the unsuccessful party. However, such recovery
is normally on a party-and-party basis. That is, the costs recoverable are those fees
fixed for the steps in the proceeding by a schedule of fees (Sched. C in Alberta's Rules
of Court), plus reasonable disbursements. It is not intended that the successful party
receive full indemnification of those fees and disbursements which it would be charged
by its counsel. In England the degree of indemnification appears to be considerably
higher than is normal in Canada. In almost all jurisdictions of the United States of
America the rule is that no costs are recoverable by the successful party.

The Canadian practice reflects an attempt to balance two conflicting interests. On the
one hand, it is argued that if a party is successful and there are no circumstances
constituting blameworthiness in the conduct of the litigation by that party, it is unfair to
require the successful party to bear any costs incurred by his counsel in prosecuting or
defending the action. On the other hand, it is argued that if the unsuccessful party is
required to bear all the costs of the successful party, citizens will be unduly hesitant to
sue to assert their rights (even valid ones) or to defend their rights when sued. The
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partial indemnity practice as it exists in Canada is a compromise intended to give some
scope in practice for each of the conflicting policy considerations.

When the case is of considerable magnitude and complexity, the practice in Alberta
contemplates that the court may order the unsuccessful party to pay a multiple of the
fees that are fixed by Sched. C. But even then it is not intended that there be full
indemnity, except in extraordinary circumstances. (emphasis added)

[14] In Canada Deposit Insurance Corp. v. Canadian Commercial Bank (supra),
Wachowich J. (as he then was) discussed the options available to him in awarding costs
following a lengthy application. At p. 4 he said:

Essentially, there are four options available to me.

1. | may disallow costs and order that the participants, although successful, are to pay
their own costs.

2. | may award costs on a party-party basis.
3. I may award costs on a solicitor-client basis.
4. | may award a gross sum in lieu of, or in addition to, taxed costs (R. 601(1)(a)).
[15] And at pp. 5 and 6, Wachowich J. set out the general principles when deciding

whether costs should be awarded on a party-party basis or on a solicitor-client basis in the

following words:

The next issue to be resolved is whether costs should be awarded on a party-party basis
or a solicitor-client basis. The general rule is set out in McCarthy v. Calgary R.C. Sep.
Sch. Dist. No. 1 Bd. of Trustees, [1980] 5 W.W.R. 524 at 525, 17 C.P.C. 115, 30 AR.
208 (Q.B.):

"_.. the general rule is that costs are awarded on a party-and-party basis against the
unsuccessful litigant. An award of costs on this basis does not serve to completely
indemnify the successful party but is viewed as a reasonable apportioning of the
expense of the litigation between the parties.”

The rationale behind this rule is explained by Dubin J.A. in Foulis v. Robinson (1979), 21
O.R. (2d) 769, 8 C.P.C. 198 at 207, 92 D.L.R. (3d) 134 (C.A):

"The expense of litigation is a matter of concern for all those interested in the
administration of justice, but one must have regard for the burden which such costs
place on all parties. Generally speaking, an award of costs on a party-and-party scale to
the successful party strikes a proper balance as to the burden of costs which should be
borne by the winner without putting litigation beyond the reach of the loser. There are, of
course, cases in which justice can only be done by a complete indemnification for costs,
but, in my respectful opinion, this is not such a case." (emphasis added)

[16] In Wenden (supra), Murray J. discusses the plaintiff's proposal in that it be allowed
a multiple of three of col. 6 plus fees for certain items listed in Sched. C. Costs on an
indemnity basis were not being sought by any of the successful parties. At p. 307, Murray J.

said:
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The position in Alberta is set out in the decision of O'Leary J. in the case of Petrogas
Processing Ltd. v. Westcoast Transmission Co., 73 Alta. L.R. (2d) 246, [1990] 4 WW.R.
461, 105 A.R. 384 (Q.B.), and Wachowich J. in Canada Deposit Insurance Corp. v.
Canadian Commercial Bank, 50 Alta. L.R. (2d) 1, [1987] 3 W.W.R. 160, 64 C.B.R. (N.S.)
9, 76 A.R. 271 (Q.B.). We do not indemnify successful parties for the expense incurred
by them in prosecuting or defending an action. Rather, the fees prescribed by Sched. C
represent what is considered to be a reasonable amount to be paid for each designated
step or stage in the proceedings. These amounts are approved by the government, the
present Sched. C items and amounts having come into effect on April 18, 1984. This
court has the power by virtue of R. 601 to increase the amounts of these items in the
proper case.

[17] Madam Justice Veit makes the following observation in the Sonnenberg case
(supra) after ruling that the plaintiff in that case was entitled to costs on an indemnity basis.
She identifies the three scales of costs recognized by Sinclair C.J.Q.B., in McCarthy (supra),
as party-party, solicitor-client and solicitor and his own client. She adopts the meaning of
solicitor and his own client costs provided by Lerner J. in Re Seifz (1974), 6 O.R. (2d) 460
(H.C.), at p. 465 as the costs as would "provide complete indemnity to [the client] as to costs
essential to, and ... 'arising within the four corners of litigation.' " At p. 79, Veit J. also agrees
"with the suggestion made by Megarry V.C. in EMI/ Records Ltd. v. lan Cameron Wallace Ltd.,
[1983] Ch. 59 ... to the effect that when a judge wishes to indemnify a party in a costs award
the phrase 'indemnity basis' should be preferred to 'solicitor and his own client'." Veit J. was of
the view that R. 601(1) provides the authority to award costs to a successful party on an

indemnity basis.

[18] Madam Justice Veit identifies an important difference between solicitor-client costs
and solicitor and his own client costs, the latter which she equates to an indemnity basis. At
pp. 78 and 79, she explains:

By identifying a scale of costs as "solicitor and his own client", courts have invested that
scale with application in litigation other than between a solicitor and his own client. The
effect of the award of the scale as between general parties means only that the scale to
be used is the scale that might be used by a solicitor against his resisting client. This
concept has added significance in Alberta, where lawyers are entitled to act on a
contingency basis. Thus, where the scale is "solicitor and his own client", if the solicitor's
contract with his own client is that he will be paid for his work at the rate of $300 per
hour or on the basis of 35 per cent of the recovery, it is that fee which can be recovered
against an unsuccessful defendant. All work requested to be done on a particular file
and all work reasonably connected to the proceedings can be recovered on this scale.

Because of the suggestion that the solicitor-client scale allows only the recovery of
reasonable fees, and because of the possibility that in specific cases "reasonable” will
not be equivalent to "contractual”, | adopt, for the purposes of this decision, the meaning
attributed by Lerner J. in Re Seitz to the term "solicitor and his own client".
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[19]

At p. 80, Veit J. addresses the question as to whether costs on an indemnity basis

should be awarded in the case before her. There she says:

The third issue is, of course, whether such an award should be made in this case.
Departure from the general rule of party-and-party costs requires extreme caution and
should occur only in rare and exceptional cases: Mobil Oil Can. Ltd. v. Can. Superior Oil
Ltd., [1980] 1 WW.R. 453, 14 C.P.C. 101, 105 D.L.R. (3d) 355, 20 A.R. 111 (Q.B., Kirby
J).

Having adopted the Mobil Oil test, presumably for an award of solicitor-client costs,

much more care and concern must be exercised before awarding solicitor and his own
client costs.

Costs and damages should not be confused. | subscribe to the views expressed in much
jurisprudence, of which Olson v. New Home Certification Program of Alta. (1986), 44
Alta. L.R. (2d) 207, 69 A.R. 356 (Q.B., Lutz J.), is an example, that costs deals with the
conduct of the litigation and that damages deals with the conduct of the parties giving
rise to the cause of action.

Even a successful litigant is normally left to pay a portion of the cost of taking an issue to
court in recognition of the fact that there was objectively an issue of fact or law that had
to be determined by the court.

In concluding that the plaintiff should not contribute at all to the cost of these
proceedings, | have taken into account the evidence that the plaintiff did nothing to
hinder, delay or confuse the litigation and that it was apparent to me at the end of the
trial that there was no serious issue of fact or law which required these lengthy,
expensive proceedings.

And at p. 81, she comes to grips with the question whether an award of punitive damages

would exclude the imposition of costs on an indemnity basis. She has this to say:

[20]

| am bound to say, however, even though there appears to be authority for these
positions, that positive misconduct itself is better considered in the context of punitive
damages. What is undoubtedly unarticulated in the jurisprudence is that findings of such
positive misconduct are then taken into account one more time on the costs issue in
determining whether the positively misconducting party was "contemptuous”, to use the
Vorvis expression, of the aggrieved party in forcing that aggrieved party to exhaust legal
proceedings to obtain that which was obviously his.

Different considerations apply on this issue in criminal and civil proceedings. In a
criminal matter, no person, even if found guilty, should be punished more harshly
because he insisted on a full trial. in a civil matter, where a party positively misconducts
himself, and requires a full trial, there is no reason to ignore that litigation on the issue of
costs. (emphasis added)

In the Olson case (supra), Lutz J. cites the Mobil Oil case (supra), decided by Kirby

J., and says this at p. 229:

It is not necessary to repeat that which | detailed earlier respecting the distasteful
conduct of the defendant's operations manager, Gordon Hoult. It is appropriate in the
circumstances to exercise my discretion in favour of the plaintiff by awarding costs. That
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[21]

solicitor-client costs can be awarded is clear from the Court of Queen's Bench decision
in Mobil Qil Can. Ltd. v. Can. Superior Oil Ltd., [1980] 1 WW.R. 453, 14 C.P.C. 101, 105
D.L.R. (3d) 355, 21 AR. 111. ltis clear from that decision that the plaintiff must establish
that there was an attempt to deceive the court and defeat justice.

This is a case which | think justifies a departure from the general rule that restricts an
award of costs to a party-party basis for there was in my view an attempt to delay,
deceive and defeat justice: see Fiege v. Cornwall Gen. Hosp. (1980), 30 O.R. (2d) 691,
117 D.L.R. (3d) 152, 4 L. Med. Q. 124 (H.C.); and see Fort Smith v. Berton (1983), 54
AR. 367 (NW.T.S.C).

The conduct of the defendant that this court found particularly abhorrent and which
should not be tolerated was the requirement imposed upon the plaintiff to prove major
structural defects and other facts that should have been admitted, thus prolonging the
trial, unnecessary adjournments, concealing material documents from the plaintiff and
failing to produce material documents in a timely fashion.

Lomas J. in Sturrock (supra) deals with costs at p. 114, para. 88 as follows:

The general rule is to award a party against his opponent only party-and-party costs
(see Stevenson and Cété Civil Procedure Guide (1989), at p. 1204 and the cases
referred to therein). But, as noted in Stevenson and Cété at pp. 1205 and 1206, there
are numerous cases where the court has found sufficient grounds to give an opposite
party solicitor-and-client costs. In Drusick [sic] v. Newfon (1984), 51 B.C.L.R. 217 (S.C.),
Meredith, J., awarded costs on a solicitor-and-client basis where the defendants were
guilty of positive misconduct. His reasons were that others should be deterred from like
conduct and the defendants should be penalized beyond the ordinary order for costs. In
Davis v. Davis (1981), 9 Man. R. (2d) 236, Kraft, J., awarded solicitor-and-client costs
against defendants found to be acting fraudulently and in breach of trust, although no
damages were awarded. Orkin in The Law of Trust (2nd Edition) at pp. 2-65 notes that
costs have been awarded on a solicitor-and-client basis where the defendant had
committed a fraud. In Kepic v. Tecumseh Road Builders et al. (1987), 23 O.A.C. 72; 18
C.C.E.L. 218 (C.A)), the Ontario Court of Appeal increased an award of costs from a
party-and-party basis to a solicitor-and-client basis in view of the defendants' fraudulent
conduct in inducing a breach of conduct and in presenting a deceptive statement of
accounts to the court at trial.

And at para. 89 Lomas J. said:

[22]

In view of the fraudulent conduct of the defendants Ancona and Clare costs will be
awarded against them on a solicitor-and-client basis.

in the case of Dusik v. Newton (1984), 51 B.C.L.R. 217 (S.C.), mentioned by

Lomas J. in Sturrock (supra) and referred to in Stevenson and Cbté's Civil Procedure Guide,
Meredith J. held at p. 219:

| hold Dusik entitled to costs against both defendants as between solicitor and client. In
Winnipeg Mtge. Holdings Ltd. v. Allard (1980), 20 B.C.L.R. 179 (S.C.), | cited recent
cases supporting the proposition that costs should be awarded on this basis where the
defendants are guilty of positive misconduct. The reason is that others should be
deterred from like conduct and that the defendants should be penalized beyond the
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ordinary order for costs. In this case the defendants are guilty of misconduct which, if
they had succeeded, would have bilked Dusik of over $1 million. That money was
rightfully his and the defendants knew it. Surely this is misconduct deserving of the
solicitor-client cost order. Mr. McGivern points out that Mr. Gooderham's fault is that he
simply tripped at the last minute. Be that as it may, the trip resulted from a serious
conscious misstep which was calculated to have most serious detrimental
consequences to Dusik. Gooderham implemented the intention of his client.

[23] At pp. 355 and 356 of his judgment in Fleck (supra), McBain J. discusses costs as

follows:

A claim is made by the plaintiffs by counterclaim for solicitor-client costs on an indemnity
basis.

Solicitor-client costs may be awarded as this court has a general and discretionary
jurisdiction to award costs to a successful party as between solicitor and client. see
McCarthy v. Calgary Roman Catholic Separate School District No. 1, [1980] 56 W.W.R.
524, 17 C.P.C. 115, 30 A.R. 208 (Q.B.). An award of solicitor-client costs is to be made
to express a court's disapproval of the conduct of the litigation by a party to it. The
general rule is party-party costs, and departure from that general rule requires cogent
justification.

[24] McBain J. places emphasis on the conduct of the litigation at p. 358 where he
mentions the fact that "Mr. Low in argument argues that a distinction must be made between
punitive damages and an award of solicitor-client costs, the latter apparently going to the
conduct of the action." McBain J. then said that "I am not satisfied that the particulars here
justify an award of solicitor-client costs, and | shall make no such award." He did, however,

award punitive damages.

[25] in Pharand (supra), Mason J. awarded the successful plaintiff costs on a party and
party basis rather than on an indemnity basis. At pp. 397-98 in para. 6 through to para. 7 he
said:

Further, although the action arose out of a confidence relationship which is a cousin of
the trust relationship, it is far from the fiduciary relationship recognized by the case
authorities necessary to justify the award of costs other than on the scale of party and
party costs.

The conduct of this litigation was straightforward. There was no attempt to delay or
hinder the proceedings on the part of the defendant, nor was there any evidence
whatsoever of an attempt to deceive or defeat justice. There was no issue of fraud or
untrue or scandalous charges or any of the other recognized bases for an indemnity
scale award of costs.

[26] Mason J. then went on to discuss party-party costs at p. 399, para. 19 as follows:

Costs on a party and party scale can, in theory, totally indemnify the successful party.
See N.P.P. and M.E.P. v. Regional Children’s Guardian (Calgary) (1989), 98 A.R. 77, 68
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[27]

Alta. L.R. (2d) 394 and 398. However, in principle, costs on a party and party scale are
awarded on the basis of a reasonable apportioning of the litigation expenses incurred by
the successful party, having regard to such factors as:

(a) the difficulty and complexity of the issues;
(b) the importance of the case between the parties and/or the community at large;
(c) the length of the trial,

(d) the position and relationship of the parties and their conduct prior to and during the
course of the trial; and

(e) other factors which may affect the fairness of an award of costs.
Mason J. then awarded costs at three times col. 6 plus an additional unallocated

gross sum of $75,000 for taxable fees with disbursements as requested by the plaintiff on the

basis of certain difficulties faced by the plaintiff identified as follows:

[28]

While this was not a rare or unusual case in many respects, it arose under unusual
circumstances and the relationship between the parties was materially affected by
difficult political complications. Also, the basis of the action, breach of confidence, is a
developing area of the law involving conflicting legal theories of characterization,
application and remedy. A breach of confidence action is clearly a cousin to a breach of
fiduciary obligation. Trust and confidence are involved in a breach of confidence action
and both factors were present to a substantial degree in this case. Further, the action
was prosecuted in effect by private citizens against Provincial Government on a
contingency fee basis because the breach of confidence, proven at trial, virtually
destroyed their modest asset base and the financial commitments promised for the
success they should have achieved.

In addition, although not an appropriate measure of damages, the ultimate saving by the
Provincial Government as a result of the confidential information obtained from the
plaintiff saved many millions of dollars in capital costs. Finally, the Government
dismissed the claims by the plaintiff for recognition and recompense without carefully
examining its position and the record of its involvement with the plaintiff.

The plaintiffs are seeking indemnification from the defendants for the cost of the

lawsuit initiated by them to recover monies which they claim were rightfully payable to them.

Indemnification in this instance is equivalent to solicitor and his own client costs and not

solicitor-client costs, adopting the meaning found by Veit J. in Sonnenberg (supra). In order

for costs to be awarded on an indemnity basis or even on a solicitor-client basis, as opposed

to a party-party basis, the court must conclude that the case fits within the parameters of a

rare and exceptional or unusual case. Examples from the above cited cases resulting in the

identification of a rare and exceptional case include:

1. circumstances constituting blameworthiness in the conduct of the litigation by that party

(Reese);
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2. cases in which justice can only be done by a complete indemnification for costs (Foulis v.
Robinson);

3. where there is evidence that the plaintiff did something to hinder, delay or confuse the
litigation, where there was no serious issue of fact or law which required these lengthy,
expensive proceedings, where the positively misconducting party was "contemptuous” of the
aggrieved party in forcing that aggrieved party to exhaust legal proceedings to obtain that
which was obviously his (Sonnenberg),

4. an attempt to deceive the court and defeat justice, an attempt to delay, deceive and defeat
justice, a requirement imposed on the plaintiff to prove facts that should have been admitted,
thus prolonging the trial, unnecessary adjournments, concealing material documents from the

plaintiffs and failing to produce material documents in a timely fashion (Olson);

5. where the defendants were guilty of positive misconduct, where others should be deterred
from like conduct and the defendants should be penalized beyond the ordinary order of costs
(Dusik v. Newton);

6. defendants found to be acting fraudulently and in breach of trust (Davis v. Davis);

7. the defendants’ fraudulent conduct in inducing a breach of contract and in presenting a
deceptive statement of accounts to the court at trial (Kepic v. Tecumseh Road Builder et al.),

8. fraudulent conduct (Sturrock);

9. an attempt to delay or hinder proceedings, an attempt to deceive or defeat justice, fraud or
untrue or scandalous charges (Pharand).

[29] Mention of Stevenson J.A. and Cété J.A. unleashes a plethora of cases involving
the application of R. 601(1) referred to in that work at pp. 1414 to 1417 inclusive (1992
edition). Approximately 100 examples are given where sufficient grounds exist or do not exist
for awarding party and party costs on a solicitor and client basis. This demonstrates that a
careful analysis has to be made of the facts in each case and also illustrates the wide
discretion to be exercised by the trial judge who had the benefit of seeing and hearing the
witnesses and distilling the essence of the lawsuit.

[30] Two major propositions appear to mitigate against an award of solicitor-client costs.

The first is that it is the conduct of the action and not the conduct of the party that gives rise to
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the action that determines an award of solicitor-client costs. Secondly, punitive damages or
damages should not be confused with a costs award.

[31] Madam Justice Veit appears to agree with the above propositions but goes on to
decide that positive misconduct gives the court reason to take such conduct into account [p.
81] "one more time on the costs issue in determining whether the positively misconducting
party was 'contemptuous' ... of the aggrieved party in forcing that aggrieved party to exhaust
legal proceedings to obtain that which was obviously his."

[32] Where the positive misconduct of the party which gives rise to the action is so
blatant and is calculated to deliberately harm the other party, then despite the technically
proper conduct of the legal proceedings, the very fact that the action must be brought by the
injured party to gain what was rightfully his in the face of an unreasonable denial is in itself
positive misconduct deserving of indemnification whether punitive damages are awarded or
not. Such positive misconduct must be taken into account one more time on the costs issue

to use the words of Madam Justice Veit in Sonnenberyg.

[33] In the present case, | have found that the plaintiffs were entitled to receive payment
for their 13.5% interest in Industries valued at $7,212,375. To this amount interest is to be
added, calculated in accordance with s. 2.6(d) of the Management agreement (Ex. 1,
Document 969) at the Royal Bank of Canada prime rate commencing 30 days following
Jackson's resignation from industries on December 29, 1987. Accordingly interest has been
accumulating for over 5 years and will represent a considerable sum by itself. The issue of
punitive damages was never seriously argued by counsel for the plaintiffs and in view of the
eventual size of the judgment based on the value of the Tricil shares which had escalated to
$91 million by December 29, 1987, it seemed to me to be unnecessary to award punitive
damages to the already sizeable judgment particularly where interest was payable. | do not
view the issue of costs to have been determined by the fact that punitive damages were not
awarded in this case. The issue of costs is still a live issue and is influenced by the reasons

which gave rise to this lawsuit in the first instance.

[34] | find that this lengthy trial came about as a result of the fault of one man within the
Trimac organization, the man who held the ultimate power and who refused to recognize a
commitment which he had personally given to the plaintiff Jackson. The commitment was
documented and other executives within the organization recognized the commitment and

were working towards its fulfilment when it was derailed by J.R. McCaig (JR). Such was the

1993 CanLll 7031 (AB QB)



authority of JR, as the dominant force behind the control block shareholders of Trimac, that
no one within the Trimac organization was in a position to prevail against JR or dared to cross
him when it came to a showdown between himself and Jackson. JR determined to deny
Jackson the benefits accruing to him either to enhance the value of his own 15% interest in
Trimac or, alternatively, JR simply did not wish to see Jackson reap the benefits of his
entrepreneurial skills because of the unexpectedly high reward. Ironically, it was Jackson's
skill and farsightedness which created the auction atmosphere between CIL and Laidlaw
which in turn caused the value of Tricil to escalate. The enhanced value of Trimac's interest in
Tricil was a major contributing force to the salvation of Trimac, then admittedly very low in the
water as JR himself described it. Jackson's reward was to be denied the benefits previously
promised to him by JR.

[35] | find JR's conduct to have been calculated to force Jackson to exhaust the legal
proceedings to obtain that which was obviously his. Jackson did indeed have to decide
whether to accept JR's second unilateral revision to the Industries’ proposal or sue and quit
the Trimac organization. Jackson knew that he would be pitted against the significant
resources of the Trimac organization and that the cost of a protracted lawsuit would be very
expensive, drawing on his own experience in the CIL lawsuit. JR was contemptuous of
Jackson's rights. In addition, | have found that JR's evidence given during the trial was
unreliable. This is as charitable a view as | can place on JR's testimony. It affected the
conduct of the action.

[36] | find that JR was guilty of positive misconduct in inducing Industries to breach its
contract with Jackson. This was done in the face of what JR had previously personally
promised to Jackson and contrary to that which | have found to be reflected in the
agreements.

[37] | find that this is a proper case to award costs on an indemnity basis against the
defendants adopting the meaning of that phrase attributed to Lerner J. in Veit J.'s decision in
Sonnenberg. There that meaning is described as the costs as would "provide complete
indemnity to [the client] as to costs essential to, and ... 'arising within the four corners of
litigation' ". | do not take this to be a complete carte blanche so that a successful party can
charge an unlimited amount. The contractual arrangement between the solicitor and client

must be established and some check is necessary in order to justify the time spent and hourly
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rates which were presumably contracted for by Mr. Jackson. The key words are "essential to

... and '"arising within the four corners of litigation' ".

[38] In this later connection the defendants have challenged the apportionment of the
cost of certain "issues" or "matters" brought before the court in the presentation of the
plaintiffs' case. The defendants say that these issues took up 9 1/2 days of trial time. The
cases sometime refer to an award of "selective costs" where the plaintiff has failed to prove

an issue.

[39] In Calbar Securities Ltd. v. Toole Peet Co. (supra), McGillivray C.J.A. said at p.
288:

We do not think that costs should be affected by the particular disposition of any issues
that arise in the course of a trial. On the whole case, the court held that the plaintiff
should not have been in court.

[40] In Nathu (supra), the issue was whether it was a proper case to deny the
respondent, who was largely unsuccessful on the appeal, her trial costs as they related to the
calculation of damages. The damages awarded at trial of $465,000 were reduced on appeal
to $233,000 as a result of the assessment of profit margins being substantially reduced. At p.
151, the Court said:

While costs routinely follow the event, all costs are not dictated by the bottom line of
recovery. Sensibly the expense of litigating unsuccessful issues may not be recoverable,
or may even be awarded to the successful opponent, notwithstanding the fact that the
plaintiff succeeds on other issues. It must and does lie within the court's discretion: the
Court of Queen's Bench Act, R.S.A. 1980, c. C-29, s. 19; R. 601, Rules of Court.

Within the case law, the award of selective costs was recognized as long ago as 1893:
see Forster v. Farquhar, [1893] 1 Q.B. 564 (C.A)). It was recently affirmed in Herman v.
Miller, [1988] 2 W.W.R. 72, 64 Sask. R. 71 (Q.B.), where Gerein J. ruled [p. 76 WW.R/]:

"In short, the plaintiff put forth a serious and very substantial claim which is notoriously
difficult to prove. The defendants of necessity had to resist and they did so successfully.
It would be grossly unfair were the successful defendants still required to indemnify a
party who had been unsuccessful in pursuing a claim and had expended large sums of
money in such pursuit.

"As | see it, the plaintiff obtained a part of what he sought and having been successful in
the broad sense he is entitled to taxable costs as | ordered in my judgment. However, in
this instance he should not be permitted to include in those taxable costs any tariff items
or disbursements which relate to witnesses tendered on behalf of a losing cause."

A similar result calls for similar relief here. The plaintiff-respondent, Mrs. Nathu, will
recover the costs of the trial to be taxed under col. 6 of Sched. C with no restrictive rule
to apply. That was the trial direction. But having failed, in the outcome, on damages, the
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[41]

[42]

plaintiff will not be allowed to tax as tariff items fees or disbursements pertaining to her
witnesses on the calculation of damage issue.

At p. 152, the Court said:

We are not forgetful that the respondent, Mrs. Nathu, was partially successful on the
appeal (on the issue of liability), but the respondent will, at least, be adequately
compensated overall in that we have not limited her counsel fees for the extended trial
although it is obvious that a substantial portion of that time was occupied in the litigation
of an issue in which she eventually failed.

| note that the restriction was only placed on tariff items relating to witness or

disbursements in the calculation of damages which is far less than what the defendants are

requesting here. The defendants ask that they be allowed to tax the costs of the unsuccessful

"issues" raised by the plaintiffs during the trial against the plaintiffs as an off-set to the

plaintiffs' taxable costs.

[43]

AC.

The cases of Forster v. Farquhar (supra) and Reid, Hewitt & Co. v. Joseph, [1918]
717 (H.L.), considered Order LXV, R. 1. This rule is explained by Viscount Haldane in

Reid, Hewitt (supra) at pp. 738-39 as follows:

[44]

The effect of the earlier part of the order is to repeal the old law and to put costs in the
discretion of the Court or judge, but from this principle a departure is made by the
proviso that "where any action, cause, matter, or issue, is tried with a jury," the costs are
to follow the "event" unless the judge who tries the case, or the Court, shali for good
cause otherwise order. This departure from the general principle is aggravated by r. 2 of
the same order, which applies to ali issues in law or fact, whether tried with a jury or not,
and provides that the costs, unless otherwise ordered, shall follow the event. It goes on
to say that an order giving a party costs, except so far as they have been occasioned or
incurred by or relating to some particular issue or part of the proceedings, shall be read
and construed as excluding only the amount by which the costs shall have been
increased by such issue or proceedings; but the Court or judge, if the whole costs of the
action are not intended to be given to the party, may, wherever practicable, by the order
direct taxation of the whole costs and payment only of a proportion. I/t might well, my
Lords, have been better to have adhered to the simple principle of placing the whole of
the costs in the discretion of the judge or Court, and to have left to them the duty of
disposing of the whole of them by definite direction to be inserted in the judgment. But
that course has not been taken, and we have to interpret the application of the order as
we find it. Now it is plain that, as the language stands, the bare result stated in the
judgment is not to be taken as conclusive. If an issue is disposed of separately and has
an "event" in some judgment in the action, the costs will automatically follow that
"event," unless the judge for good cause provides by his order otherwise. (emphasis
added)

In that case as well as in Forster v. Farquhar it became important to define the

meaning of the words "event" and "issue". It was argued that the use of the word "event" got

rid of all questions as to specific issues arising from the "event" as opposed to reading the
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word "event" distributively as applying to more than one issue. The latter interpretation found
favour. At p. 741, Viscount Haldane said:

It is on the material extent to which by the verdict and judgment the plaintiff's claim was
successfully met and cut down that | lay stress in the present case. | think that there has
been an event following on the trial of an issue distinctly and separately raised by the
defence.

[45] At p. 742, Viscount Haldane defined the meaning of issue as follows:
For the reasons | have indicated | have arrived at the conclusion that an issue which has
a direct and definite event in defeating the claim to judgment in whole or in part is within

the meaning of the rule, and that in the case under consideration such an issue was
raised by the pleadings and decided.

[46] There is no similar rule to the English Order LXV, R. 1 and 2 to be found in the
Alberta Rules of Court where the trial judge's discretion as to costs is unfettered. This might
have pleased Viscount Haldane who had the task of deciding how the words “"event" and
"issue" arising from the English Order were to be applied in Reid, Hewitt. The defendants
argue, however, that there is an analogy to be drawn in the present case where a judge "for
good cause" should apportion costs between parties to an action where the defendant is
successful in meeting or defeating an issue raised by the plaintiff.

[47] A rule similar to the English rule is found in the British Columbia, Supreme Court
Rules, O. 65, R. 2, quoted in part as follows:

2. When issues in fact and law are raised upon a claim or counterclaim, the costs of the
several issues respectively, both in law and fact, shall follow the event, unless the Court
or Judge shall for good cause otherwise order...

[48] The British Columbia rule was applied in the case of lreton v. Heizer, [1971] 3
WWR. 77 (B.C.S.C), decided by Seaton J. in Chambers on December 4, 1970. Seaton J.
referred to Bowen L.J.'s decision in Forster v. Farquhar at p. 569 of that decision found at p.

79 of Seaton J.'s reasons for judgment:

Forster v. Farquhar, supra, dealt with a similar situation and | respectfully adopt the
language of Bowen L.J. at p. 569:

"Serious expense, however, was occasioned at the trial by reason of the plaintiff having
put forward a claim under a head of damage which he failed, in the opinion of the jury, to
make good. The expert witnesses called by the defendants to rebut this untenable head
of damage cost money and time ... But why should any burden in respect of this portion
of the plaintiff's claim be cast upon the defendants? It is said by the plaintiff that the
various items of damage claimed do not create separate issues in the pleader's sense,
nor for purposes of taxation. That is perfectly true; but it is a mere technicality of
pleading and of the taxing office, which has survived to us from the time when pleadings
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were more accurate and when the term 'issue’ had a recognised meaning with respect
to them. The real controversy in the present action was as to the damage suffered, and
the question as to damage, though not an issue in the pleader's sense of the word, was
a matter in controversy and one which could be split up into separate heads, each
involving a different class of evidence. For all purposes of justice these separate heads
of controversy were different issues, though not different issues, nor even issues at all,
in the sense in which pleaders use the term. Why should the defendants, whose
defence has succeeded on the most expensive and most important of these heads of
controversy bear the cost of litigating it? If by making a special order as to costs the
judge could apply distributively to these heads of controversy the maxim that he who
loses pays, was it not fair and reasonable so to direct? It seems to us that it was. So far
from thinking that Cave, J., had no good cause for making the order he did, what he has
directed appears to us, on the contrary, to be an exact and admirable instance of the
way in which, in the hands of a competent and accurate judge, the rule as to good cause
can usefully be applied.”

[49] At p. 80, Seaton J. concluded that he had good cause within the rule and said:

The appropriate order here, in view of the various competing factors, would be to allow
the plaintiff to tax as though the trial had lasted one day, with the plaintiff and her
general practitioner the only witnesses. She is thus not able to tax for three days of the
trial, or with respect to a number of medical witnesses. The defendants should tax and
recover the disbursements they incurred with respect to medical examinations and
witnesses.

[50] | note that this award was not an off-set award to the defendants but was a
reduction in the plaintiff's taxable costs only.

[561] The same British Columbia rule had previously been considered in Canada Rice
Mills Ltd. v. Morgan (1934), 49 B.C.R. 202 (S.C.), decided by Murphy J. on November 9,
1934. There he adopted the meaning of "issue" as defined by Buckley L.J. in Howell v. Bering
(1914), 84 L.J.K.B. 198 (C.A.), found at p. 203 of that report as follows:

An issue is that which, if decided in favour of the plaintiff, would in itself give a right to
relief, or but for some other consideration would in itself give a right to relief.

[52] Murphy J. found that but for the language of the contract as to the effect of final
payment, the plaintiff would have obtained judgment on the issue of the determination of the
question of defective roof construction. He held that his finding on this issue in favour of the
plaintiff to be an "event" and apportioned costs on a 60-40 basis, that is the defendant
recovered 60% of the amount taxed as a whole as if no question of separate issues had
arisen. In other words, Murphy J. found good cause for otherwise ordering that the costs
should follow the event and relieved the plaintiff from paying 40% of the defendant's taxed

costs.
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[63] The cases involving the interpretation of the English Order LXV, R. 1 and 2, and the
British Columbia O. 65, R. 2, revolve around discussions of what constitutes a separate
"issue" in an "event" where costs generally follow the event except where a judge can "for
good cause" award costs against the party who unsuccessfully advances an "issue" which is
found to be an "event". Our Court of Appeal in the recent case of Nathu applied the reasoning
in Forster v. Farquhar (supra) where an award of "selective costs" was recognized 100 years
ago. However, in Forster v. Farquhar, Order LXV, R. 1 and 2 authorized the departure from
the general principle that costs are to follow the event. In Alberta no such rule has to be relied
on or is indeed available having regard to the wide discretion as to costs which normally rests

with the trial judge.

[54] Counsel for the plaintiff in his opening address identified 30 or so paragraphs in the
defendant's pleadings which he claimed ought not to be considered by the court on the
grounds of issue estoppel, res judicata and abuse of process arising out of the previous CIL
litigation where presumably these matters had been decided. If this was a motion to strike out
a portion of the defendants' pleadings, | declined to intervene and directed that the trial

proceed on the issues identified in the pleadings.

[55] | cannot say that my decision gave the defendants a right to relief or that the
matters which were raised on behalf of the plaintiffs were issues which had a direct and
definite event in enabling the defendants to defeat the plaintiffs' claim to judgment in whole or
in part. It was a part of the trial process just as the admissibility of certain documents had to
be decided for which the defendants claimed privilege. | also had to rule on the scope of the
cross-examination of certain witnesses who were being cross-examined by counsel for the
plaintiffs. There | rule that certain questions were disallowed under R. 255 as being vexatious
and not relevant to the matters pleaded by the plaintiff in the action. These were not

severable issues which formed an event where costs would normally follow.

[56] | decline to exercise my jurisdiction to apportion the costs between the plaintiffs and
the defendants on the basis of the success or failure of the parties on the procedural matters
raised during the trial as to the pleadings or the admissibility of the evidence or the propriety
of questions being put to the witnesses on cross-examination by counsel. | do not believe that
any of such matters went to the issues of liability or the quantification of damages which were
the real issues in dispute in this lawsuit. To again use the analogy in the English and British
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Columbia cases mentioned above, | find no good cause for apportioning costs or awarding
costs on a selective basis arising out of the determination of an event.

[57] In my reasons for judgment, | stated that | found both the appraisals prepared by
Mr. Scott for the plaintiffs and by Mr. Clark for the defendants to have been helpful. They both
proceeded on assumptions given to them by their respective clients which | did not use in
coming to my decision on damages. It would have been negligent for the plaintiffs not to have
produced some basis for the plaintiffs' estimate of damages and it was difficult, if not
impossible, to second guess the final determination by the Court. Both appraisals were useful
counterpoints in identifying the issues and illustrating methods of computing the plaintiffs'
losses.

[58] In the result the plaintiffs are to be indemnified for their costs arising out of the

lawsuit and there is to be no apportionment of the costs or award of selective costs.

[59] The plaintiffs' costs are subject to taxation if required in order to justify the time
spent and hourly rates contracted for or otherwise by Jackson which were essential to and
arising within the four corners of this litigation. The plaintiffs are also entitled to tax against the
defendants, their reasonable disbursements which will include those disbursements relating
to Mr. Scott's report.

Order accordingly.
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ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR BRITISH COLUMBIA

Family law -- Custody -- Access -- Best interests of the child -- Access parent insisting on instruct-
ing children on religion -- Custodial parent and children objecting to religious instruction -- Court
ordering that access parent discontinue religious activities with children -- Scope of "best interests
of the child" -- Whether or not "best interests of the child" equivalent of absence of harm -- Whether
or not restriction on access in best interests of the children.

Family law -- Children -- Best interests of the child -- Access parent insisting on instructing chil-
dren on religion -- Custodial parent and children objecting to religious instruction -- Court order-
ing that access parent discontinue religious activities with children -- Scope of "best interests of the
child" -- Whether or not "best interests of the child” equivalent of absence of harm -- Whether or
not restriction on access in best interests of the children.

Family law -- Property and financial awards -- Lump sum payment -- Family debts -- Principles
governing reallocation of property.

Constitutional law -- Charter of Rights -- Freedom of religion -- Freedom of expression -- Divorce
Act requiring that orders concerning children only take into account "the best interests of the child"
-- Access parent insisting on instructing children on religion -- Custodial parent and children ob-
Jjecting to religious instruction -- Court ordering that access parent discontinue religious activities
with children -- Whether or not access restriction infringing freedom of religion -- Whether or not
access restriction infringing freedom of expression -- Divorce Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. 3 (2nd Supp.),
ss. 16(8), 17(5) -- Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, s. 2(a), (b).

Courts -- Costs -- Principles governing awards of costs on solicitor-client basis.
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Torts -- Maintenance -- Religious society carrying cost of action -- Common religious action --
Whether or not tort of maintenance.

Appellant's and respondent's separation was marked by a protracted series of court battles. Appel-
lant was awarded custody of the couple's three daughters and respondent was granted access subject
to court imposed restrictions arising from appellant's objection to his religious activity with the
children. Respondent was ordered not to discuss the Jehovah's Witness religion with the children,
take them to any religious services, canvassing or meetings, or expose them to religious discussions
with third parties without appellant's prior consent. Organized religion was not important to appel-
lant although she wanted the children to be raised within the United Church.

The two older daughters liked their father but came to dislike his religious instruction to the extent
that it was damaging his relationship with them and was contributing to the stress the children were
experiencing in adjusting to their parents' separation.

The trial judge also made orders for the distribution of property and for costs. The respondent's in-
terest in the matrimonial home was ordered transferred to the appellant because any remaining in-
terest in the house, after respondent paid what was already owing to appellant, was to be transferred
in the form of lump sum maintenance. Respondent was found responsible for debts incurred by the
appellant for the support of herself and the children pending maintenance and for a debt made to a
family corporation. Costs were awarded on a solicitor-client basis against respondent, his lawyer
and a religious society not a party to the proceedings.

Respondent appealed. The Court of Appeal set aside the limitations on religious discussion and at-
tendance, on the ground that it was in the best interests of the children that they come to know their
non-custodial parent fully, including his religious beliefs, unless the evidence established the exist-
ence of or the potential for real harm or the child did not consent to being subject to the access
parent's views or practices. The Court of Appeal also altered the division of property and the awards
of costs made by the trial judge. Appellant appealed these rulings to this Court.

Four constitutional questions queried (1) whether ss. 16(8) and 17(5) of the Divorce Act (requiring
that judicial decisions regarding custody and access be made "in the best interests of the child") de-
nied the Charter guarantees of freedom of religion, of expression and of association (s. 2(a), (b), and
(d)), and if so, (2) were they justified under s. 1; (3) whether ss. 16(8) and 17(5) violated the equal-
ity guarantee of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (s. 15(1)), and (4) if so, were they
justified under s. 1. The Court considered the requirements of the "best interests of the child" and
whether this standard infringed the guarantees of freedom of religion and expression under the
Charter. A main consideration was unrestricted access by a non-custodial parent and the conditions
necessary to curtail that access.

Held (L'Heureux-Dubé J. dissenting in the result): The appeal should be allowed in part.
The issues should be decided as follows:

1. The test regarding access is the best interests of the child (L'Heureux-Dubé J., La Forest and
Gonthier JJ., and Iacobucci and Cory JJ.). McLachlin J. suggests that in cases such as this harm is
usually an important element in determining the best interests of the child. Sopinka J. would recog-
nize a threshold element of harm.
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2. Sections 16(8) and 17(5) of the Divorce Act do not violate ss. 2(a), (b), (d) or 15(1) of the Char-
ter. L'Heureux-Dubé J. (and La Forest and Gonthier JJ.) found the Charter to be inapplicable.
McLachlin J. found the impugned legislation did not violate the Charter. Cory and Iacobucci JJ.
agreed that there was no Charter violation. Sopinka J. found that the Charter applied and could only
be overridden in limited circumstances.

3. The restrictions on access should be removed (L'Heureux-Dubé J. and La Forest and Gonthier JJ.
dissenting).

4, The judgment dealing with property and financial matters and the award of costs should be varied
(L'Heureux-Dubé J. dissenting).

Best Interest of the Child, Charter Considerations and Access

Per L'Heureux-Dubé J.: The power of the custodial parent is not a "right" with independent value
granted by courts for the benefit of the parent. Rather, the child has a right to a parent who will look
after his or her best interests and the custodial parent a duty to ensure, protect and promote the
child's best interests. That duty includes the sole and primary responsibility to oversee all aspects of
day-to-day life and long-term well-being, as well as major decisions with respect to education, reli-
gion, health and well-being. The non-custodial parent retains certain residual rights over the child as
one of his or her two natural guardians.

Child placement decisions should safeguard the child's need for continuity of relationships, reflect
the child's (not the adult's) sense of time, and take into account the law's inability to supervise in-
terpersonal relationships and the limits of knowledge to make long-range predictions. This need for
continuity generally requires that the custodial parent have the autonomy to raise the child as he or
she sees fit without interference with that authority by the state or the non-custodial parent. A cus-
tody award is a matter of whose decisions to prefer, as opposed to which decisions to prefer. Courts
cannot make the necessary day-to-day decisions which affect the best interests of the child. Once a
court has determined who is the appropriate custodial parent, it must presume that that parent will
act in the best interests of the child.

Decisions are made according to the best interests of the child without the benefit of a presumption
in favour of either parent. The Act envisages contact between the child and each of his or her par-
ents as a worthy goal which should be in the best interests of the child. Maximum contact, however,
is not an unbridled objective and must be curtailed wherever the welfare of the child requires it.

The right to access is limited in scope and is conditioned and governed by the best interests of the
child. The legislation makes it quite explicit that only the best interests of the child as it is compre-
hensively understood should be considered in custody and access orders. The role of the access
parent is that of a very interested observer, giving love and support to the child in the background.
He or she has the right to know but not the right to be consulted. Access rights recognize that the
best interests of the child normally require that the relationship developed with both parents prior to
the divorce or separation be continued and fostered. The right to access and the circumstances in
which it takes place must be perceived from the vantage point of the child. Wherever the relation-
ship to the non-custodial parent conflicts with the best interests of the child, the furtherance and
protection of the child's best interests must take priority over the desires and interests of the parent.
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As the ultimate goal of access is the continuation of a relationship which is of significance and
support to the child, access must be crafted to preserve and promote that which is healthy and help-
ful in that relationship so that it may survive to achieve its purpose. Sources of ongoing conflict
which threaten to damage or prevent the continuation of a meaningful relationship should be re-
moved or mitigated. Notwithstanding a general concern about the vulnerability of access rights to
the caprices of a vengeful custodial parent, courts should not be too quick to presume that the access
concerns of the custodial parent are unrelated to the best interests of the child. Courts should also
not be blind to issues, such as financial support, which form part of the broader context in which
these rights are exercised. The access parent has no obligation to exercise those rights and cannot be
forced to comply with such an order even if that contact has been determined to be in the child's
best interest.

Where there is a genuine problem with access, the non-custodial parent is not without recourse in
any case. This stems from the statutory directive to facilitate access where it is in the child's best
interests and the role of the judge as the arbiter of those interests in the case of a dispute between
the parents. Generally, courts will grant liberal access to the non-custodial parent and usually this is
consistent with the best interests of the child. Parents will also normally respect their children's
wishes and best interests with regard to access. When disagreements between parents do reach the
courts, the judge must always draw the line in favour of the best interests of the child, from a
child-centred perspective.

The best interests of the child cannot be equated with the mere absence of harm: it encompasses a
myriad of considerations. Courts must attempt to balance such considerations as the age, physical
and emotional constitution and psychology of both the child and his or her parents and the particular
milieu in which the child will live. One of the most significant factors in many cases will be the re-
lationship that the child entertains with his or her parents. Since custody and access decisions are
pre-eminently exercises in discretion, the wide latitude under the best interests test permits courts to
respond to the spectrum of factors which can both positively and negatively affect a child. What
may constitute stressful or damaging circumstances for one child may not necessarily have the same
effect on another.

The most common presumption now governing the best interests test is the primary caregiver pre-
sumption. It explicitly restores the values of commitment and demonstrated ability to nurture the
child and recognizes the obligations and supports the authority of the parent engaged in day to day
tasks of childrearing.

The order of the trial judge is not subject to the Charter. Even if it were, the best interests test is
nevertheless value neutral and does not, on its face, violate any Charter right. Its objective, the pro-
tection of a vulnerable segment of society, is completely consonant with the Charter's values. Broad
judicial discretion is crucial to the proper implementation of the legislative objective of securing the
best interests of the child. Such discretion in a legislative provision does not of itself give rise to an
inference of Charter infringement. It cannot be considered in the absence of an examination of the
legislative objectives and must be rationally tied to those objectives.

The standard for finding a legislative provision unconstitutional because of vagueness is high. The
provisions need only permit the framing of an intelligible legal debate with respect to the objectives
contained in the legislation. The best interests test is not so uncertain as to be incapable of guiding a
consideration of the factors relevant to custody and access determinations. The fact that it must be
applied to the facts of each case does not militate in favour of its unconstitutionality.
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The vagueness of a legislative provision cannot be examined in the abstract but must be considered
within the context of the particular legislative objectives in question, bearing in mind that some ob-
jectives will require a panoply of judicial remedies for their meaningful fulfilment. Among the fac-
tors with which courts should be concerned when the vagueness of a law is at issue are: (a) the need
for flexibility and the interpretive role of the courts, (b) the impossibility of achieving absolute cer-
tainty, a standard of intelligibility being more appropriate and (c) the possibility that many varying
judicial interpretations of a given disposition may exist and perhaps coexist.

The custodial parent need not show harm in order to restrict access to the children by the
non-custodial parent. There is no rationale for defining the best interests of the child with the ab-
sence of harm. Nothing in the Act mandates or even suggests that "real danger of significant harm
to the child" be the sole consideration in matters of custody and access. Indeed, the harm test would
require courts to ignore the very factors which are set out in the Act and invert the basic focus of the
inquiry into custody and access. The welfare of children is put at considerable risk if the prospect of
harm becomes the sole prerequisite for restrictions on access. The best interests of the child is not
simply the right to be free of demonstrable harm; it is the positive right to the best possible ar-
rangements in the circumstances of the parties. The harm test cannot meet the legal system's prima-
ry goal in divorce situations -- minimizing the adverse effects of children. This goal requires a vi-
sion of the best interests of the child that is more than neutral to the conditions under which custody
and access occur. Judges must exercise their discretion to prevent harm to the child rather than
merely identify or establish its presence after the damage is done.

Expert evidence should not be routinely required to establish the best interests of the child. Expert
testimony, while helpful in some circumstances, is often inconclusive and contradictory because
such assessments are both speculative and may be affected by the professional values and biases of
the assessors themselves. Experts are not always better placed than parents to assess the needs of the
child. The person involved in day to day care may observe changes in the child that could go unno-
ticed by anyone else and normally has the best vantage point from which to assess the interests of
the child. The custodial parent, therefore, will often provide the most reliable and complete source
of information to the judge on the needs and interests of that child. The importance of the evidence
of children in custody and access disputes, too, must be emphasized.

Restrictions on access do not necessarily prevent children from coming to know their parents in
meaningful ways. Interpreting the goal of maximum contact as requiring unrestricted access may
defeat the Act's objective if the pre-eminence of unlimited "knowledge" results in the ultimate de-
struction of the relationship. In this case, the purpose of the restrictions was to ensure that the chil-
dren will continue to know their father "at all".

Freedom of religion and freedom of expression are public in nature and encompass the freedom of
the individual from state compulsion or restraints. The state's role in custody and access decisions
does not transform the essentially private character of parent-child interchanges into activity subject
to Charter scrutiny. Legitimate questions may arise about the role of the state, and hence the appli-
cation of the Charter in regulating other aspects of family law. A valid purpose can hardly be
served, however, by importing the discourse of freedom of expression and religion into orders made
in the resolution of custody and access disputes. Once the best interests test itself has been found to
accord with Charter values, the trial judge's order itself is not subject to further constitutional re-
view, as the necessary state infringement of religious rights required to sustain a Charter challenge
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is not present. The principles enunciated in Dolphin Delivery apply as custody and access matters
are essentially private in nature and there exists no state action to be impugned.

Decisions regarding custody and access must not be based on the parents' faith. The religion of the
parties, however, may be relevant as one of the circumstances to be assessed in the determination of
the best interests of the child. Where there is conflict over religion, the court is not engaged in adju-
dicating a "war of religion" and the religious beliefs of the parties themselves are not on trial. Ra-
ther, it is the manner in which such beliefs are practised together with the impact and effect they
have on the child which must be considered. In all cases where the effects of religious practices are
at issue, the best interests of the child must prevail.

Ordinarily, the exposure of a child to different religions or beliefs may be of value to the child.
Where religion becomes a source of conflict between the parents or is the very cause of the mar-
riage breakdown, it is generally not in the best interests of the child and may in some circumstances
be very detrimental for the child to be drawn into the controversy over religious matters. Where
there is conflict over religion, courts must secure the longstanding authority of the custodial parent
to make decisions over religious activities. This ensures that stress occasioned by such issues does
not become a continuing and ultimately destructive feature in the life of the child after divorce.

Freedom of religion is not an absolute value. Here, powerful competing interests must also be rec-
ognized, not the least of which, in addition to the best interests of the children, are the freedoms of
expression and religion of the children themselves.

Respondent's religious beliefs and practices and his general rights of access were not threatened.
The restrictions were aimed at reducing the area of conflict which had arisen on account of the re-
spondent's behaviour with his children during access and the effects of that behaviour on their best
interests. Much of the stress the children were experiencing was related to their resistance to be-
coming involved in their father's religious practices. The restrictions were to further the best inter-
ests of these children by removing the source of conflict, particularly as the ultimate purpose of the
restrictions was to preserve the relationship between the respondent and his children. Evidence
supported the conclusion that the respondent would not respect the wishes of the children without
an order to do so.

Per La Forest and Gonthier JJ.: Agreement was expressed for the reasons of L'Heureux-Dubé J.
holding that access be determined on the basis of what is in the best interests of the child and for her
resolution of the constitutional issue.

Per Tacobucci and Cory JJ.: The best interests of the child standard does not violate in ss. 2(a), (b),
(d) and 15 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms substantially for the reasons given by
L'Heureux-Dubé and McLachlin JJ. No opinion was expressed on the questions of whether a Char-
ter infringement, if found, would be so trivial as not to warrant Charter protection and of whether or
not the Charter applies to judicial orders made in custody or access proceedings.

For many of the reasons advanced by L'Heureux-Dubé J., access to children should be determined
on the basis of what is in the best interests of the child. Expert evidence, while sometimes helpful, is
not always necessary to establish the best interests of the child; that question can be determined
normally from the evidence of parties themselves and the testimony, where appropriate, of the chil-
dren concerned.
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The matters of the children's attending religious services with the respondent and accompanying
him on his proselytizing activities were resolved by the respondent's undertaking to respect his chil-
dren's wishes in this regard. The order forbidding the respondent from discussing his religion was
not supported by a proper application of the best interests of the child test. Indeed, curtailment of
explanatory or discursive conversations between a parent and his or her child should only be rarely
ordered.

Per McLachlin J.: The Divorce Act mandates that, on matters of access, the ultimate test in all cases
is the best interest of the child. This is a positive test, encompassing a wide variety of factors, in-
cluding the desirability of maximizing contact between the child and each parent if compatible with
the best interests of the child. The custodial parent has no "right" to limit access. The judge must
consider all factors relevant to determining what is in the child's best interests. The risk of harm to
the child, while not the ultimate legal test, may also be a factor to be considered. This is particularly
so where the issue is the quality of access -- what the access parent may say or do with the child. In
such cases, it will generally be relevant to consider whether the conduct in question poses a risk of
harm to the child which outweighs the benefits of a free and open relationship which permits the
child to know the access parent as he or she is. The judge must act not on his or her personal views
but on the evidence.

The legislative provision for the "best interests of the child" does not limit and therefore does not
violate the Charter right to religious and expressive freedom. Religious expression not in the best
interests of the child is not protected by the Charter because the guarantee of freedom of religion is
not absolute and does not extend to religious activity which harms or interferes with the parallel
rights of other people. Conduct not in the best interests of the child, even absent the risk of harm,
amounts to an "injury" or intrusion on the rights of others and is clearly not protected by this Char-
ter guarantee. "Injure" in this context is a broad concept. To deprive a child of what a court has
found to be in his or her best interests is to "injure", in the sense of not doing what is best for the
child. A child's vulnerability heightens the need for protection and any error should be made in fa-
vour of the child's best interests and not in favour of the exercise of the alleged parental right. An
additional factor which may come into play in the case of older children is the "parallel right" of
others to hold and manifest beliefs and opinions of their own.

The ambit of freedom of expression is broader than that of freedom of conscience and religion be-
cause even harmful expression may be protected. Some forms of harmful expression, however, are
not constitutionally protected: violence or threats of violence or a direct attack on the physical in-
tegrity and liberty of another. Criminal conduct is an indication, although not a conclusive one, that
expressive conduct is constitutionally unprotected.

A prima facie case for protection under the guarantee of freedom of expression can be made out
here. The expression challenged does not take the form of the non-protected categories of expres-
sion. The harm done, if any, is of a psychological nature.

A purposive approach to Charter interpretation requires that associated rights -- religious freedom
and freedom of expression -- be interpreted in a consistent and coherent manner. The ambit of a
particular right or freedom, moreover, cannot be defined in the abstract but rather should be defined
in the context of the particular activity in question.

The teaching of religious beliefs and practices to one's children, while it has an expressive aspect, is
predominantly religious. In seeking to reconcile the rights of freedom of religion and freedom of
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expression in this context, it is the religious aspect which must dominate. Reading the two guaran-
tees together, the limits of the guarantee of freedom of expression should govern in the context of
religious instruction of children.

The custodial parent does not have the "right" to determine limits on access. The only question to be
considered, where limitation of access is in issue, is what is in the best interests of the child. The
custodial parent's obligation to make certain basic decisions as to how the child is educated (which
may extend to religious matters) does not automatically mean that religious contacts with the access
parent of a different faith are to be excluded. The failure of the child to consent to instruction on the
part of the access parent does not necessarily preclude such instruction's being in the child's best
interests.

The benefits which might enure to the children from coming to know their father as he was -- as a
devoutly religious man devoted to the Jehovah's Witness faith -- were not considered at trial and no
reference was made to Parliament's instruction that a child have as much contact with both parents
as is compatible with his or her best interests. The question of whether there was any evidence of a
risk of harm to the children which might offset the benefit of full access to their father's values, in-
cluding those related to religion, was not adequately considered. While access may be limited in
some circumstances on grounds unrelated to harm, where the issue is whether entirely lawful dis-
cussions and activities between the access parent and the child should be curtailed, the judge should
enquire into whether the conduct poses a risk of harming the child. The evidence did not establish
that harm was being caused to the children.

The order restricting respondent's access was unnecessary given his undertaking and the order en-
joining him from preventing blood transfusions was unnecessary from a practical point of view.
Parents should not make disparaging comments about the other parent's religion, but the matter
might best be left to the parents' good sense.

Per Sopinka J.: While the "best interests of the child" test is the ultimate determination in deciding
issues of custody and access, it must be reconciled with the Charter. General language in a statute
which, in its breadth, potentially confers the power to override Charter values must be interpreted to
respect those values. Here, the best interests test must be interpreted to allow the Charter right to
freedom of religious expression to be overridden only if its exercise would occasion consequences
that involve more than inconvenience, upset or disruption to the child and incidentally to the custo-
dial parent.

The long-term value to a child of a meaningful relationship with both parents is a policy that is af-
firmed in the Divorce Act. Each parent, therefore, can engage in those activities which contribute to
identify the parent for what he or she really is. The access parent is not expected to act out a part or
assume a phony lifestyle during access periods. The policy favouring activities that promote a
meaningful relationship is not displaced unless there is a substantial risk of harm to the child.

The best interests of a child are more aptly served by a law which recognizes the right of that child
to a meaningful post-divorce relationship with both parents. The "rights" must be distributed be-
tween the custodial and the access parent so as to encourage such a relationship. The traditional no-
tion of guardianship giving the custodial parent the absolute right to exercise full control over the
child, even when the other parent is exercising his or her right of access, is at odds with this con-
cept.
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"Harm", in this context, connotes an adverse effect on the child's upbringing that is more than tran-
sitory. The impugned exercise by the access parent must be shown to create a substantial risk that
the child's physical, psychological or moral well-being will be adversely affected. Exposure to new
experiences and ideas may upset children and cause them considerable discomfort but these experi-
ences are not necessarily in the long-term best interests of the child. Similarly, conflict between
parents on many matters including religion is not uncommon, but in itself cannot be assumed to be
harmful unless it produces a prolonged acrimonious atmosphere.

Risk of substantial harm must be shown if religious expression is to be restricted in applying the
best interests of the child test. The statutory test in s. 16(10) of the Divorce Act does not constitute a
limitation on freedom of religious expression. This freedom does not extend to protect conduct
which is harmful to others. However, the concept of harm should not be expanded to reach the con-
clusion that anything which is not in the best interests of the children is injurious within the mean-
ing of s. 2(b) and thus not protected by the Charter.

Financial Considerations and Costs

Per McLachlin J.: A judge, to fix lump sum maintenance, must fix it in a sum certain with reference
to the principles applicable to such an award. The goal of conveying the entire interest in the mat-
rimonial home to the wife did not support an award of lump sum maintenance; more was required.
There was ample basis here for an order under s. 51 of the Family Relations Act awarding appellant
a greater portion of the family assets because respondent, for a considerable time, paid little or
nothing for the support of the family. The debts incurred during this period can serve as a consider-
ation supporting reduction of respondent's interest in the family property. The equity in the home
was not substantial and respondent was permitted to retain other assets.

The trial judge, in effecting a de facto reapportionment of the interest in the family assets to do jus-
tice, as was permitted on the facts and the law, did not expressly allude to the factors for realloca-
tion. This omission should not result in a new trial being ordered because of the length and cost of
the current litigation. The result achieved by the trial judge should be endorsed because the evi-
dence was capable of supporting an order for reallocation of the parties' interest in the family assets
to the extent required to give the appellant the entire interest in the matrimonial home.

The money owed by the family's jewelry corporation was not, in law, a debt for which respondent
was personally liable. Only the corporation was liable. The debt appellant incurred to support her-
self and the children before she applied for maintenance is similarly unenforceable against re-
spondent as a debt, although it could be taken into consideration in an order for reduction of his in-
terest in the family assets.

Solicitor-client costs are generally awarded only where there has been reprehensible, scandalous or
outrageous conduct on the part of one of the parties. The facts that an application has little merit and
that part of the cost of the litigation may have been paid for by others do not justify awarding solic-
itor-client costs.

No order for costs should have been made against respondent's barrister. Costs are awarded as
compensation for the successful party, not to punish a lawyer. Any member of the legal profession
might be subject to a compensatory order for costs if it is shown that repetitive and irrelevant mate-
rial, and excessive motions and applications, characterized the proceedings in which he or she was
involved, and that the lawyer acted in bad faith in encouraging this abuse and delay. The courts
have jurisdiction to make such an award, often under statute and as part of their inherent jurisdiction
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to control abuse of process and contempt of court. The proceedings here, despite their length and
acrimonious progress, did not fall within these characterizations. Courts, moreover, must be ex-
tremely cautious in awarding costs personally against a lawyer, given the duties upon a lawyer to
guard confidentiality of instructions and to bring forward with courage even unpopular causes. A
lawyer should not be placed in a situation where his or her fear of an adverse order of costs may
conflict with these fundamental duties of his or her profession.

Since the Society did not appear as a party, the costs awarded against it must be taken to be the
equivalent of an award for the tort of maintenance. A person must intervene "officiously or improp-
erly” to be liable for the tort of maintenance. Provision of financial assistance to a litigant by a
non-party will not always constitute maintenance. Funding by a relative or out of charity must be
distinguished from cases where a person wilfully and improperly stirs up litigation and strife. The
society's support was "out of charity and religious sympathy" and so did not constitute maintenance.
It did not put forward respondent in an attempt to escape liability for costs. Its interest in the consti-
tutional issue was insufficient to distinguish it from interveners who appear on constitutional cases
and who have never been liable for costs.

Per La Forest and Gonthier JJ.: The reasons of McLachlin J. were agreed with on the property and
monetary issues and on the principles governing costs.

Per Iacobucci and Cory JJ.: The reasons of McLachlin J. were agreed with on the property, mone-
tary and costs issues.

Per L'Heureux-Dubé J. (dissenting): The reasons of the trial judge on the issues of maintenance, di-
vision of property and costs were agreed with.
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The reasons of La Forest and Gonthier JJ. were delivered
by

1 LA FOREST J.:-- I have had the advantage of reading the reasons of my colleagues. I am in
agreement with the reasons of Justice L'Heureux-Dubé that the issue of access should be determined
on the basis of what is in the best interest of the child. I also agree with her on the constitutional is-
sue.

2 On the property and monetary issues, [ am in agreement with the reasons of Justice McLach-
lin. I also agree with her on the principles that should govern costs and accordingly with the order of
the Court of Appeal respecting the costs at trial. However, since the appellant was largely successful
in the final result, I would allow her costs on this appeal and the Court of Appeal.

3 Accordingly, I would allow the appeal and restore the order of the trial judge on all matters
except the monetary issues, which I would dispose of in the manner proposed by McLachlin J. I
would award the appellant her costs at trial as set forth by the Court of Appeal, as well as costs on a
party and party basis in this Court and in the Court of Appeal.

The following are the reasons delivered by

4 L'HEUREUX-DUBE J. (dissenting in result):-- I have had the advantage of reading the opin-
ion of my colleague, Justice McLachlin. With great deference, I disagree both with her reasons and
the result she has reached. Since I do not characterize the issue quite as my colleague does, I will
pursue my own analysis.

5 The main issue in this case, in my view, concerns access by a non-custodial parent to his
children whose custody was granted to the other parent. More precisely, this Court must determine
whether curtailment of access is warranted in the circumstances of this case. The focus of the in-
quiry is the standard applicable to such a determination. According to the Court of Appeal, the test
is one of harm to the children. I disagree. In my view, the only applicable test is the best interests of
the children, assessed from a child-centred perspective, a test which is mandated by the Divorce
Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. 3 (2nd Supp.) (the "Act"), as well as provincial legislation and which is uni-
versally applied and constitutionally sound. While the respondent, the father in this case, raises the
issues of freedom of religion and expression and the infringement of his guarantees under s. 2(a)
and (b) of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (the "Charter") due to the trial judge's order
restricting access to his children, these questions simply do not arise in the circumstances of this
case. If they do, I agree with my colleague that there is no infringement of the Charter.

6 On the related issues of maintenance, division of property and costs, I agree with the trial
judge for the reasons that she expressed at length, given her privileged vantage point and her find-
ings of fact. Accordingly, I will deal only with the main issue: access.

Facts and Judgments

7 Since the facts leading to the dispute between the parties have been set out by my colleague, I
will only point out those most relevant to my subsequent discussion.

8 The parties, who had two children when they first separated in February, 1987, resumed co-
habitation and finally separated in August, 1987, shortly after the birth of their third child. It appears
from the evidence that the breakdown of their marriage was due, to a great extent, to religious dif-
ferences between the parties. The respondent became involved, unbeknownst to the appellant, in the
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as suggested above. I agree with Southin J.A., at p. 39, that "[t]he court cannot make a spouse
jointly liable to a creditor for a debt of the other spouse, no matter for what purpose it was incurred,
or, in the absence of some contractual foundation, make one spouse liable to indemnify the other,
either in whole or in part, for a liability of the latter." Accordingly, the paragraphs of the order
making Mr. Young liable for one-half of these debts must be struck out.

C. Costs

1.  Costs Against the Respondent

249 The trial judge ordered solicitor-client costs against the respondent. This award was made
on the basis that the custody claim had "little merit", that the respondent attempted to mislead the
court, that the respondent was recalcitrant on matters of custody and maintenance and, finally, on
the basis that unnecessary proceedings had resulted. The trial judge also referred to the fact that
someone else was promoting and paying for the legal action and that repetitive and irrelevant evi-
dence was tendered.

250 The Court of Appeal, per Cumming J.A., upheld the imposition of solicitor-client costs for
four days of the trial and for four days of the interlocutory proceedings concerned with financial
issues, on the basis of the husband's non-disclosure of financial information. Otherwise, costs
against the respondent were reduced to party-and-party costs.

251 The Court of Appeal's order was based on the following principles, with which I agree. So-
licitor-client costs are generally awarded only where there has been reprehensible, scandalous or
outrageous conduct on the part of one of the parties. Accordingly, the fact that an application has
little merit is no basis for awarding solicitor-client costs; nor is the fact that part of the cost of the
litigation may have been paid for by others. The Court of Appeal meticulously considered all the
proceedings in the light of these principles to arrive at its conclusion that only partial solicitor-client
costs were justified.

252 Finding no error in the reasoning or conclusion of the Court of Appeal on this question, I
conclude that its order for costs should remain, save to the extent different conclusions on the merits
in this Court require that an adjustment be made. As I have made clear, the only respect in which I
would vary the order of the Court of Appeal is that instead of ordering lump sum maintenance and a
moratorium on the sale of the matrimonial home, I would restore the trial judge's order that the en-
tire interest in the home be conferred on the wife. In my view, this difference does not warrant al-
tering the award of costs against the respondent made below.

2. Costs Against the Respondent's Counsel

253 The trial judge ordered solicitor-client costs against counsel for the husband, Mr. How. For
the reasons recited above in connection with costs against the respondent, she concluded that the
proceedings had been unnecessarily lengthened. She also referred, at p. 216, to the fact that
"[c]ounsel for the respondent had a forum and a cause to pursue. Unfortunately, what was in the
best interests of the children, their welfare, was totally lost by the respondent and his counsel in
these protracted proceedings. . . . The court was subjected to unwarranted abuse, criticism and in-
sult." She made no finding, however, that Mr. How had been in contempt of court.

254 The Court of Appeal held that no order for costs should have been made against Mr. How.
There is no need to repeat that entirely satisfactory analysis. The basic principle on which costs are
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Memorandum of Decision
G.A. VERVILLE J.:--
Introduction

1 In May 2005, Strategy Summit Ltd. ("Strategy") offered to purchase from Remington Devel-
opment Corporation ("Remington") a portion of unsubdivided land. Strategy paid a $25,000 deposit
upon acceptance of the offer. The offer was contingent upon Remington obtaining subdivision ap-
proval and a phase III environmental report. Remington failed to obtain either within the time con-
templated in the offer and refused in December 2005 to grant an extension.

2 Strategy registered a caveat on the title to the unsubdivided lands and claimed specific per-
formance or in the alternative damages. Remington asserted that the caveat prevented it from de-

veloping, selling, financing or otherwise dealing with the lands and claimed resulting damages by
way of counterclaim.

3 Following the trial of this action I issued Reasons for Judgment (Strategy Summit Ltd v. Re-
mington Development Corporation, 2011 ABQB 549), dismissing both Strategy's claim against
Remington for specific performance or damages and Remington's counterclaim for damages.

4 The parties submitted written arguments with respect to costs and subsequently made oral
submissions. Randy Remington, the president of Remington, and Brad Ferguson, the president of
Strategy, filed affidavits in support of the costs application. Both provided a draft Schedule C Bill
of Costs on Column 5 which were relatively similar in amount.

5 Each side argues that it is entitled to solicitor client costs, or in the alternative substantial
party and party costs, because: it was substantially successful in the lawsuit (or at least more suc-
cessful than the other party), high costs were reasonably incurred, and the other side unsuccessfully
alleged bad faith.

Positions of the Parties

6 Remington submits that solicitor client costs, or in the alternative a costs award providing
40% to 50% indemnity or more in the form of a lump sum, are warranted for the following reasons:

1. Strategy maintained its allegation that Remington acted in bad faith until
the end of trial;
2. Remington was justified in retaining its usual Calgary counsel although the

trial was heard in Edmonton;
3. Strategy attempted to conceal its efforts to flip the lands in question and
other information in the possession of its real estate broker, Avison Young;

4. Strategy's failure to produce the listing agreement and other Avison Young
documents delayed the litigation;

5. Strategy had to obtain leave to withdraw an admission made six years be-
fore trial;

6.  Strategy put up the second deposit of $475,000 six years after the fact;

7. Strategy refused to admit its claim for specific performance had no merit

because it was trying to sell the land when it listed it for sale with Avison
Young;
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8.  The caveat filed by Strategy prevented Remington from developing or
selling the lands for six years;

9. Strategy rejected Remington's offer, made the day before trial, to settle the
claim and counterclaim on the basis of a discontinuance without costs to
any party; at that time, Remington's Schedule C costs were well over
$150,000;

10. Remington took steps to shorten the proceedings;

11. Remington incurred total legal fees of $1,145,000 defending the action,
and total expert and other witness fees of $116,725;

12.  The property in question is valued at $10,000,000;

13.  The action was complex;

14.  Shortly before the originally scheduled trial date, Strategy changed law-
yers, resulting in delay, duplication of trial preparation work, and addition-
al legal costs.

(] Strategy responds to Remington's arguments and submits that if any party is entitled to solic-

itor client costs it is Strategy, its fall back position being that each party should bear their own costs
for the reasons set out below:

1.

2.

The contractual dispute between Strategy and Remington required Strategy
to present its case on the basis that Remington did not act in good faith;
Strategy's alternative claim for damages was for $2.5 million; Remington
filed a Statement of Defence and Counterclaim claiming damages of $25
million, thereby raising the stakes considerably;

Strategy attempted to have reasonable discussions with Remington in order
to resolve the legitimate dispute between the parties, but Remington re-
fused;

Remington maintained throughout the proceedings an allegation of malice
on the part of Strategy, and slander of title and damages for wrongfully
filing a caveat under s 144 of the Land Titles Act;

Remington hired Calgary counsel, when it knew the trial would take place
in Edmonton, where the land was located;

Strategy did not have a copy of the Avison Young Listing Agreement, and
had forgotten about it until it was discovered on the Avison Young file;
when it was found, Strategy followed legal advice; Avison Young most
certainly communicated the essence of whatever it was doing on behalf of
Strategy to Remington; Remington chose not to call a principal of Avison
Young as a witness at trial;

There was significant evidence at trial that Strategy intended to develop
this unique property for a specific purpose, whereas Remington persisted
in an allegation that Strategy had no real interest in, or even financial ca-
pacity, to purchase the property when it knew full well the principals of
Strategy are well known and successful businessmen;

Remington agreed to an adjournment of the trial from January to May of
2011; neither party was ready to proceed in January 2011 as Remington
had not provided rebuttal expert reports;
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11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Factors
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The Court found that Strategy did not cause any substantial financial harm
to Remington;

Remington is no stranger to litigation whereas Strategy has been involved
only in this dispute with Remington, and therefore Remington's reputation
has not been adversely affected by the litigation;

Remington wanted to win the litigation at any price, and hopes to finan-
cially cripple Strategy with a costs award;

The Court found that Strategy had a reasonable belief that a caveat may be
reasonably filed, that its interpretation of the wording of the offer was not
unreasonable and that malice on its part had not been established

Strategy took steps to shorten the proceedings and made a reasonable for-
mal offer demonstrating willingness to compromise; Strategy's withdrawal
of an admission had no impact of any significance on the trial;

Remington raised the issue of the second deposit for the first time at the
start of trial; this point was not pled, nor was it the subject of any examina-
tion for discovery; at law there was no continuing obligation for Strategy
to fulfil its further contractual obligations until a court ordered specific
performance;

Given that Remington's counterclaim was for more than ten times Strate-
gy's claim, costs should be awarded in favour of Strategy for successfully
defending the counterclaim; alternatively, the parties should bear their own
costs.

Strategy has incurred legal fees and disbursements in advancing its claim
and defending the counterclaim in the approximate amount of $665,000.

8 Under Rule 10.33, when making a costs award, the Court may consider all or any of the fol-

lowing:
(a) the result of the action and the degree of success of each party;
(b) the amount claimed and the amount recovered,
(¢c) the importance of the issues;
(d) the complexity of the action;
(e) the apportionment of liability;
(f)  the conduct of a party that tended to shorten the action;
(g) any other matter related to the question of reasonable and proper costs that
the Court considers appropriate.
9 Further, in deciding whether to impose, deny or vary an amount in a costs award, the Court

may consider all or any of the following:

(a)
(b)

the conduct of a party that was unnecessary or that unnecessarily length-
ened or delayed the action or any stage or step of the action;

a party's denial of or refusal to admit anything that should have been ad-
mitted;
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(c)  whether a party started separate actions for claims that should have been
filed in one action or whether a party unnecessarily separated that party's
defence from that of another party;

(d)  whether any application, proceeding or step in an action was unnecessary,
improper or a mistake;

(e) anirregularity in a commencement document, pleading, affidavit, notice,
prescribed form or document;

(f)  acontravention of or non-compliance with these rules or an order;

(g) whether a party has engaged in misconduct.

10 The parties cite a number of authorities which provide guidance as to when solicitor and
client costs should be awarded, what matters should be considered when there is a counterclaim,
and when Schedule C Costs should be increased, including: Mahe v. Boulianne, 2010 ABCA 74 at
para 6, Phinny v. MacAulay, 2009 CanLII 13614 (ON SC) at paras 19 and 21, Evans v. The Sports
Corporation, 2011 ABQB 616, Cope v. Morton, 2004 BCSC 1726, paras 9-11 and Jawanda v. Ja-
wanda, 2005 BCSC 1721 at paras 22 and 23; Conway v. Zinkhofer, 2007 ABQB 2, Hamilton v.
Open Window Bakery Ltd., 2004 SCC 9, [2004] 1 SCR 303, Buchanan v. Lamoureux, 2011
ABQB 256, Trizec Equities Ltd v. Ellis-Don Management Services Ltd., 1999 ABQB 801, LST
Logic Corp of Canada Inc v. Logani, 2001 ABQB 968, Calgary (City) v. Alberta (Minister of
Municipal Affairs), 2008 ABQB 433, M Orkin, The Law of Costs, 2d ed (Aurora, Ont. : Canada
Law Book, 1987-), Dwyer v. Fox (1996), 181 AR 223 (CA), Johnston v. Law Society of PEI
[1987] P.E.LJ. No. 89, (1987), 206 APR 52 (PEI CA), Waterous Investments Inc v. Liberton
Holdings Ltd (1996), 183 AR 229 (QB), Jackson v. Trimac Industries Ltd (1993), 138 AR 161, 8
Alta LR (3d) 403 at paras 28-37 (QB), costs orders affirmed 155 AR 42, 20 Alta LR (3d) 117 (CA),
and Medway Oil & Storage Company Ltd v. Continental Contractors Ltd, [1929] AC 88. I have
also reviewed College of Physicians and Surgeons of the Province of Alberta v. JH, 2009 ABQB
48.

11 I should mention that none of these cases is on all fours with the facts in this case and some
only provide guidance on a particular point. Further, some are more relevant than others regarding
the issue of costs. Finally, I am mindful that this Court has considerable discretion when awarding
costs.

Solicitor-Client/Solicitor and his own Client Costs

12 Graesser I in College of Physicians and Surgeons of the Province of Alberta at paras 4-23,
468 AR 101 summarized some of the factors which militate in favour of a court exercising its dis-
cretion to award solicitor-client costs due to party misconduct:

- the conduct of a party has been reprehensible, scandalous or outrageous

- the conduct occurred during the course of the litigation

- solicitor and client costs might suffice to satisfy the objectives of deter-
rence and punishment that would otherwise be served by a punitive dam-
age award

- the case is rare and exceptional or unusual

- allegations of morally reprehensible conduct by such party are held to be
groundless by the trier of fact
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- there was no reasonable basis on which to commence, or continue, litiga-
tion.

13 In Jackson v. Trimac, Hutchinson J set out the rare and exceptional circumstances which
might justify solicitor and his own client costs:

- circumstances constituting blameworthiness in the conduct of the litigation
by that party;

- cases in which justice can only be done by a complete indemnification for
costs;

- where there is evidence that the plaintiff did something to hinder, delay or
confuse the litigation, where there was no serious issue of fact or law
which required these lengthy, expensive proceedings, where the positively
misconducting party was "contemptuous” of the aggrieved party in forcing
that aggrieved party to exhaust legal proceedings to obtain that which was
obviously his;

- an attempt to deceive the court and defeat justice, an attempt to delay, de-
ceive and defeat justice, a requirement imposed on the plaintiff to prove
facts that should have been admitted, thus prolonging the trial, unnecessary
adjournments, concealing material documents from the plaintiffs and fail-
ing to produce material documents in a timely fashion;

- where the defendants were guilty of positive misconduct, where others
should be deterred from like conduct and the defendants should be penal-
ized beyond the ordinary order of costs;

- defendants found to be acting fraudulently and in breach of trust;

- the defendants' fraudulent conduct in inducing a breach of contract and in
presenting a deceptive statement of accounts to the court at trial;

- fraudulent conduct;

- an attempt to delay or hinder proceedings, an attempt to deceive or defeat
justice, fraud or untrue or scandalous charges.

See also Evans (supra).
Analysis

14 Counsel on both sides of this case conducted themselves in an exemplary fashion throughout
the course of the trial. They were at all times cooperative. While at times they were tough and
probing in cross examination they were all times civil and professional. Clearly there was a level of
animosity which existed between the principals of both parties and a level of distrust. With respect
to matters which would elevate a cost award to that of solicitor-client or beyond, I have considered
below the principles summarized in Jackson and College of Physicians in light of each party's as-
sertions (paras 6 & 7 supra) that the other acted in bad faith.

Against Strategy

15 With respect to Remington's assertions against Strategy, I note that Strategy did not ex-
pressly allege bad faith against Remington in its Amended Statement of Claim. It asserted that Re-
mington breached its covenant of good faith. However this allegation was in the context of the
wording of the offer the parties entered into, which provided in part:
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13.2 ... In the event the Purchaser requests an extension or a variance to any of
the time periods set out in this Agreement, the Vendor agrees to in good faith
consider the request for such extension or variation and within two (2) days of
receiving such request advise the Purchaser of whether the Vendor is in agree-
ment with such a request ...

(emphasis added)

16 Allegations that Remington was not acting in good faith were required by Strategy to ad-
vance its claim that it was entitled to an extension, and this was the context within which the lawsuit
was fought. This was a matter of contractual interpretation against the backdrop of legal principles,
and then application of the provision - as interpreted by the Court - to the facts of the case. Para-
graphs 154 to 202 of the trial judgment contain a fulsome discussion of this issue with the conclu-
sion being, after a consideration of the case law and evidence, that Strategy did not establish that
Remington failed to consider in good faith its request for an extension.

17 In my view Remington's submission on this point reduced to its simplest is that Strategy
should never have alleged that Remington failed to consider in good faith its request for an exten-
sion as once it did so it exposed itself to solicitor client costs. I disagree.

18 Remington's complaint with respect to Strategy's slow production of the listing agreement
with Avison Young is that Strategy persisted in maintaining its caveat and tying up the land for five
years when it knew its chance of obtaining specific performance was minimal. It says that it was
only after obtaining the listing agreement that it filed its counterclaim. After oral argument, counsel
for Strategy provided a letter (copied to counsel for Remington) which clarified the time frame as to
when the counter claim was in fact filed. The letter advised that the Avison Young listing agreement
was provided to Remington no later than February 1, 2008 whereas the amendment by Remington
to add a counterclaim was done on December 9, 2008 the same date the Statement of Claim was
amended.

19 In my view Strategy's slow production of the listing agreement did not have a significant
impact on the litigation. Remington was aware that Strategy was involved in listing the property. It
had a close business relationship with Avison Young. Further, as noted above it obtained a copy of
the listing agreement in early 2008.

20 Remington further asserts that it suffered lost opportunity costs as well as direct out of
pocket costs of around $2,000,000 because of the subdivision. In my view, Remington was simply
rearguing in the costs application, a portion of the case it lost at trial. There is another forum for this
type of submission. As to the $2,000,000 incurred because of the subdivision, this was as a result of
the contract, not the lawsuit, and it was Remington that decided it would not grant the extension re-
quested by Strategy.

21 The Court of Appeal in Strategy Summit Ltd v. Remington Development Corp, 2009
ABCA 30 overturned a decision by a chambers judge which affirmed an earlier master's decision
granting Remington summary Judgment and dismissing Strategy's claim for specific performance
Watson J.A. for the court stated:
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6 In our view, there were a considerable number of matters of fact that needed to
be resolved by trial in this dispute. The finding by the chambers judge that the
appellant only intended the land for a commercial profit on a quick re-sale was
disputed and it could not be made without a trial (or perhaps a summary trial):
see Diegel v. Diegel, [2008] A.J. No. 1261 (QL), 2008 ABCA 389 at paras. 18 to
19. It was in error for him to make a finding on such conflicts in the evidence and
examinations. The chambers judge's error in this respect was overriding because
it influenced him to believe that the situation before him was one where the ap-
pellant's position to justify specific performance was "exceedingly difficult" un-
der Walton, [2007] A.J. No. 1260, supra at para. 5.

7 The chambers judge proceeded on the premise that the onus was upon the ap-
pellant to show that the land was "unique" within the meaning of the case law,
and that the appellant had fallen short of proving this characteristic of the prop-
erty. The chambers judge did not refer to Mr. Ferguson's evidence as to why the
alleged alternative locations did not meet the project needs. Rather, he said that
the appellant had to prove they were unavailable [at para. 12], even though the
respondent's "best foot forward" was that he did not know if they were available
or not at the time. The conclusion of uniqueness also required a trial. The cham-
bers judge's conclusion is also, with respect, a victim of palpable and overriding
error - possibly being a product of the stringent test that he imposed. We cannot
agree that the evidence as set out before him failed to establish a workable argu-
ment that the property was unique both from its own position and against alterna-
tives. There was a body of evidence which, arguably, went beyond showing that
the appellant was pursuing a "business opportunity" (Walton, supra at para. 8) or
wanted to acquire the property "strictly for resale or development" or "investment
purposes” (Walton, supra at para. 10) compensable by damages. The present case
differs from Walton. The appellant offered evidence that the specific project had
a variety of characteristics making it unique and to the benefit of large sectors of
the community, as and where planned.

8 In our respectful conclusion, this was not a situation where there was "no gen-
uine issue" or "no real chance of success" or a "non-existence of material issues”
to justify summary judgment dismissing the appellant's entire lawsuit. The appeal
is accordingly allowed, the summary judgment is set aside and the case is re-
turned to the Court of Queen's Bench.

22 Further with respect to the caveat filed by Strategy, I made the following finding:

[208] I am satisfied that Strategy had a reasonable belief at the material time that
it had an interest in the property, and that a caveat may reasonably be filed. Alt-
hough I have found that Remington did not breach its obligation under the Offer
to consider in good faith Strategy's request for a further extension, Strategy's in-
terpretation of the wording of the Offer in the context, while not correct, was not
unreasonable. Further, although the Arena Concept was somewhat up in the air in
December 2005, I find that Strategy had not given up on the project. In the cir-
cumstances, I find that Strategy reasonably believed that it had a sufficient inter-
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est in land at the time it filed the caveat. Further, in my view, malice on the part
of Strategy has not been established.

23 In Evans, Graesser J. noted:

67 Solicitor and client costs are also routinely sought after trial, often without
any proper basis or foundation. I am reluctant to see the costs process become
another trial after the trial, revisiting every strategic decision, paragraph in
pleadings, application, position, question on direct and question on
cross-examination, looking for misconduct. Such a process would seem to run
afoul of the foundational rule 1.2 relating to proportionality, economy and effi-
ciency, although this process does appear to be invited by Rule 29.33.

24 In my view the types of arguments raised by Remington are precisely what Graesser J. was
referring to in Evans, namely revisiting each step Strategy took in the litigation..

25 I find taking into consideration the nature of this lawsuit, that Strategy's conduct does not
fall within the rare and exceptional case where solicitor and client costs are warranted. I therefore
dismiss Remington's application for solicitor-client costs.

Against Remington

26 Although Remington may have taken a hard nosed approach in this action, I am not satisfied
that it did anything which could be categorized as circumstances constituting blameworthiness in
the conduct of the litigation. Further, I am not satisfied that there were any other circumstances
where there was conduct by Remington which would warrant solicitor and client costs.

27 In my view, the trial itself proceeded in an expeditious fashion and was shortened by per-
haps a few days when Remington decided it was unnecessary to call two witnesses it initially indi-
cated it would call. Strategy unsuccessfully submitted in argument that an adverse inference should
be drawn against Remington for failing to call these witnesses (Paras 140-146, Reasons for Judg-
ment).

28 In the circumstances of this case, I find that Strategy is not entitled to solicitor-client costs.
Increased Schedule C Costs
29 In Trizec Equities, Mason J. considered factors relevant to an increase in costs, including

the following:

. the time for preparing and organizing documents for the purposes of pro-
duction;

- the preparation time required in relation to examinations for discovery;

- the utilization of technology and computers to prepare immediate court
records;

- the inordinate efforts involved in collating testimony and thousands of
pages of exhibit documents in order to prepare written submissions fol-
lowing trial;

- the fact that these trials consume counsels' time for many months to the
exclusion of any other work
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- given the magnitude of the damages sought some defendants without the
benefit of adequate insurance coverage had little choice but to defend
against the claims, a task which, by itself, had the potential to bankrupt
both parties.

30 Strategy in its Amended Statement of Claim sought inter alia an order declaring that its ca-
veat was validly registered against the lands, specific performance or in the alternative judgment in
an amount not less than $2,500,000. Remington in its Amended Amended Statement of Defence
and Counterclaim sought damages in excess of $25,000,000, asserting that Strategy committed
slander of title by filing the caveat. Randy Remington testified at the trial that Remington made a
profit of $22,000,000 when it developed adjacent lands referred to as the Eastern Block and sold the
development to a pension fund (Para. 67). This testimony was supported by that of a chartered ac-
count and chartered business valuator who gave expert testimony on behalf of Remington.

31 The trial, absent oral argument, took 25 half days. Three ordinary witnesses were called on
behalf of Strategy and five on behalf of Remington. In addition each party called three expert wit-
nesses.

32 This was an "electronic" trial in that almost five hundred documents some of which consist-
ed of numerous pages were listed on an XL spread sheet. A significant number of these documents
were referred to during the course of the trial. The spread sheet gave each document a number,
identified the type of document, the title of the document, the author and the recipient. Simply
clicking on the document number on the spread sheet produced the document in PDF on a number
of screens. A program was available for the convenience of the Court which permitted notes or
highlighting to be made on these documents while in electronic PDF form solely on my screen as
well as for them to be copied into WordPerfect. This elaborate undertaking was undertaken by
counsel for Strategy with the full cooperation of counsel for Remington.

33 In my view the trial proceeded in an expeditious manner. Prior steps taken in the litigation
including proceeding to the Court of Appeal were not unreasonable. The stakes were high.

34 There was evidence of some effort on the part of Strategy to settle prior to trial, and what I
would characterize as a half-hearted offer by Remington at the 11th hour to allow both parties to
walk away from the litigation.

35 In the end result both parties were left in the same position they were in prior to engaging in
the litigation, except that they had both expended significant amounts in legal and related fees.
Strategy's claim for specific performance or alternatively damages was dismissed as was Reming-
ton's much larger counterclaim for damages. In the end both parties lost. I agree with the submission
of counsel for Strategy that the counterclaim which was roughly ten times the amount of the Strate-
gy damages claim considerably increased the stakes (Phinny supra). Although dismissed, it was a
serious claim.

36 While this was a case where after taking into consideration some of the factors referred to in
Trizec, a winner might have been entitled to a costs award providing 40% to 50% indemnity or
more in the form of a lump sum, it is my view that there was no winner. In the circumstances of this
case, I find that each party should bear their own costs.

Summary of Conclusions
37 I find that:
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1. The applications of the parties for solicitor and client costs are dismissed
as are the applications for increased party and party costs.
2.  Each party should bear its own costs.

G.A. VERVILLE J.
cp/e/qlect/qlvxw/qlhes/qlhes/qlana
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(Edmonton No. 8203-25412)
November 21, 1986.

[1] VEITJ..—

1. INTEREST

[2] On any analysis of the plaintiff's recovery, interest should be allowed.

[3] Interest is payable in equity. On a breach of fiduciary duty the person whose

interests have been infringed has a right to the payment of interest. Interest should be
paid on converted funds. In negligence, the measure of damages is what the plaintiff
would have had, had the defendant acted properly.

[4] Based on the evidence, the rate of interest should be prime plus 2 per cent,
compounded semi-annually. From the calculations of D. Aarsteinsen, this amount is
$497,321.76 to 31st March 1986 and a per diem of $438.32 from that date onward.

[5] Because of my decision that the plaintiff should also be compensated for loss

of economic opportunity, there is no need to make American calculations.

[6] It is argued that there was a late claim for interest; the jurisprudence indicates
that interest may be awarded even where it is not specifically claimed at all. It is argued

that there is no evidence of investment loss; the jurisprudence indicates that interest
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may be awarded on a basis that approaches judicial notice, i.e., if a party (at least a
party who is in business and has the capacity to invest) had had the money,
investments would have been available to provide a reasonable rate of return. It was
argued that the plaintiff should not be able to recover more than it paid out to its bankers
in interest; that ignores the loss of economic opportunity to the plaintiff. It is argued that
proper legal arguments were advanced to support the defence that the insurance

moneys were not unjustly withheld; the evidence does not support the legal arguments.
2. PUNITIVE DAMAGES

[7] The plaintiffs claim for punitive damages is not allowed against the
unsuccessful insurance broker defendants but is allowed against the defendant

Rasmussen.

[8] As against the defendant Rasmussen, there is no excuse tendered for the
false representation made to the insurer; as phrased by the plaintiff, this decision should
at least affirm the maxim that tort should not pay.

[9] Insofar as the defendants Stewart, Smith (Canada) Limited and Robert d’Arcy
are concerned, the plaintiff characterizes their conduct as a high-handed, arrogant,
reckless gamble that funds would be made available to make their scoop of the funds
good. | agree with that description. However, their conduct, while reckless, was not
malicious or vindictive or criminal. Indeed, a comparison of their conduct with that of
Rasmussen illustrates the difference in quality of act required before punitive damages

can be imposed.
3. CosTs

a) Power to award other than party-party costs
Appropriate Scale-Appropriate Column

[10] The plaintiff is entitled to costs on an indemnity basis.

[11] In Alberta, the rules allow a trial judge great discretion in awarding costs: Rule
601(1). Alberta jurisprudence, of which McCarthy v. Calgary R.C. Sep. Sch. Dist. No. 1
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Bd. of Trustees, [1980] 5 W.W.R. 524, 17 C.P.C. 115, 30 A.R. 208 (Q.B. — Sinclair
C.J), is an example, recognizes three scales of costs: party-party, solicitor-client,

solicitor and his own client.

[12] The first issue is the proper definition of these various scales, and particularly,
the last scale. In Alberta, at least, the jurisprudence is not uniform: Vegreville & Dist.
Savings & Credit Union Ltd. v. Rurka (1978), 7 Alta. L.R. (2d) 390, 15 A.R. 347 (Dist. Ct.
— Stevenson D.C.J.); Kalke v. 213156 Hidgs. Ltd. (1983), 47 AR. 215 (Q.B. —
McDonald J.); Den Boon v. Wall, 19 Alta. L.R. (2d) 240, [1982] I.L.R. 1040 (Q.B. —
Dixon J.); Ferris v. Rusnak (1984), 54 AR. 319 (Q.B. — McDonald J.).

[13] Research indicates that ambiguity with respect to the meaning and potential
application of the “solicitor and his own client’ scale to general litigation is not limited to
Alberta. Lerner J., in Re Seitz (1974), 6 O.R. (2d) 460, 53 D.L.R. (3d) 223 (H.C.), at p.
465, interpreted the “solicitor and his own client” award as allowing those costs as
would “provide complete indemnity to the client as to the costs essential to, and arising

within, the four corners of litigation”.

[14] By identifying a scale of costs as “solicitor and his own client”, courts have
invested that scale with application in litigation other than between a solicitor and his
own client. The effect of the award of the scale as between general parties means only
that the scale to be used is the scale that might be used by a solicitor against his
resisting client. This concept has added significance in Alberta, where lawyers are
entitled to act on a contingency basis. Thus, where the scale is “solicitor and his own
client”, if the solicitor's contract with his own client is that he will be paid for his work at
the rate of $300 per hour or on the basis of 35 per cent of the recovery, it is that fee
which can be recovered against an unsuccessful defendant. All work requested to be
done on a particular file and all work reasonably connected to the proceedings can be

recovered on this scale.

[15] Because of the suggestion that the solicitor-client scale allows only the
recovery of reasonable fees, and because of the possibility that in specific cases
“reasonable” will not be equivalent to “contractual’, | adopt, for the purposes of this
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decision, the meaning attributed by Lerner J. in Re Seitz to the term “solicitor and his

own client”.

[16] Because of the confusion in the jurisprudence, | agree with the suggestion
made by Megarry V.C. in EMI Records Ltd. v. lan Cameron Wallace Ltd., [1983] Ch. 59,
[1982] 3 W.L.R. 245, [1982] 2 All E.R. 980 (Ch. D.), to the effect that when a judge
wishes to indemnify a party in a costs award the phrase “‘indemnity basis” should be

preferred to “solicitor and his own client”.

[17] The second issue is whether, as between litigants other than a solicitor suing
his own client for fees, there is authority to award costs to a successful party on an
indemnity basis. | am of the view that R. 601(1) provides that authority and that nothing
in RR. 613-626 derogates from it. Because of the broad authority in the empowering
rule, clear, specific language would be required to cut down the discretion. Not only is
that type of language absent in the latter group of rules, those rules appear to apply only
to a dispute between a solicitor and his client concerning the solicitor's fees. The
framework of English rules and orders relating to costs is, understandably, different from
our own. As the EMI case indicates, even where the language is much more pointed
and appears to prevent an indemnity award in general litigation, the courts have found

that such awards are not prohibited.

[18] Vorvis v. I.C.B.C. (1984), 53 B.C.L.R. 63, 4 C.C.E.L. 237, 9 D.L.R. (4th) 43
(C.A), is an example of Canadian jurisprudence suggesting that the “solicitor and his
own client’ scale may not be awarded in general litigation. Those decisions depend in
part on specific rules and some contain a mix of comment relating to the existence of

the scale and to the propriety of applying the scale.

[19] The third issue is, of course, whether such an award should be made in this
case. Departure from the general rule of party-and-party costs requires extreme caution
and should occur only in rare and exceptional cases: Mobil Oil Can. Ltd. v. Can.
Superior Oil Ltd., [1980] 1 W.W.R. 453, 14 C.P.C. 101, 105 D.L.R. (3d) 355, 20 AR.
111 (Q.B. — Kirby J.).
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[20] Having adopted the Mobil Oil test, presumably for an award of solicitor-client
costs, much more care and concern must be exercised before awarding solicitor and his

own client costs.

[21] Costs and damages should not be confused. | subscribe to the views
expressed in much jurisprudence, of which Olson v. New Home Certification Program of
Alta. (1986), 44 Alta. L.R. (2d) 207, 69 A.R. 356 (Q.B. — Lutz J.), is an example that
costs deals with the conduct of the litigation and that damages deals with the conduct of
the parties giving rise to the cause of action.

[22] Even a successful litigant is normally left to pay a portion of the cost of taking
an issue to court in recognition of the fact that there was objectively an issue of fact or

law that had to be determined by the court.

[23] In concluding that the plaintiff should not contribute at all to the cost of these
proceedings, | have taken into account the evidence that the plaintiff did nothing to
hinder, delay or confuse the litigation and that it was apparent to me at the end of the
trial that there was no serious issue of fact or law which required these lengthy,

expensive proceedings.

[24] Insofar as the defendant Rasmussen is concerned, the jurisprudence
indicates that solicitor-client costs have been awarded against a party guilty of positive
misconduct: Dusik v. Newton (1984), 51 B.C.L.R. 217 (S.C.). The evidence in this case
establishes that Rasmussen knowingly filed a fraudulent proof of loss, without any

excuse.

[25] The defendants Stewart, Smith (Canada) Limited and Robert d’Arcy also
committed grave positive misconduct. They were fiduciaries insofar as the plaintiff was
concerned. They were not only negligent in failing to consult their files, where the
information concerning the plaintiffs status could easily and clearly have been found,
they positively misconducted themselves in unilaterally designing and implementing a
unique reporting-to-underwriter system which they must have known might lead to the
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underwriter being misled as to who was entitled to recovery on a loss and to the failure

to pay loss payees.

[26] | am bound to say, however, even though there appears to be authority for
these positions, that positive misconduct itself is better considered in the context of
punitive damages. What is undoubtedly unarticulated in the jurisprudence is that
findings of such positive misconduct are then taken into account one more time on the
costs issue in determining whether the positively misconducting party was
“contemptuous”, to use the Vorvis expression, of the aggrieved party in forcing that

aggrieved party to exhaust legal proceedings to obtain that which was obviously his.

[27] Different considerations apply on this issue in criminal and civil proceedings.
In a criminal matter, no person, even if found guilty, should be punished more harshly
because he insisted on a full trial. In a civil matter, where a party positively misconducts
himself, and requires a full trial, there is no reason to ignore that litigation on the issue of

costs.

[28] On the specific question of conduct of the litigation, in addition to these
general observations, | must add that the defendant d’Arcy, an employee of the
defendant Stewart, Smith (Canada) Limited, produced only during the trial, although
painstakingly requested at discovery, a coil telephone notebook which included a note
of two telephone conversations which were extremely material on the central question

of the actual knowledge of those defendants of the plaintiff's position as a loss payee.

[29] All three of the unsuccessful defendants, having committed positive
misconduct, were then contemptuous of the plaintiff in requiring the plaintiff to go to trial
to get its money. Moreover, insofar as the broker-defendants were concerned there was

conduct in the trial process which was deserving of sanction by a costs award.

[30] A separate factor to take into account in awarding costs against the defendant
broker is its position as a fiduciary relative to the plaintiff.

[31] A review of the jurisprudence indicates that courts have been reluctant to
award solicitor-client costs on breaches of fiduciary duty of professionals other than
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lawyers: B.C. Auto Assn. v. Mfrs. Life Ins. Co. (1979), 14 B.C.L.R. 237 at 260-61 (S.C).
However, where the conduct of the defendant is “extraordinary” or “unreasonable”, that

award has been made against fiduciaries other than lawyers.
[32] In the B.C. Auto Assn. case, Hutcheon J. stated [p. 261]:

[The application of adjectives such as “unreasonable” or “extraordinary”] is one of
impression and not subject to great elaboration. | have taken as determinative the
inference, which is open on the facts, that Pudney was satisfied that no damage
would be suffered by B.C.AA. from the alteration of the funding method to one
which was less secure but nevertheless realistic.

[33] No such generous assessment of the unsuccessful defendants’ conduct can
be made here. Indeed, the only inference that can be drawn from their conduct is that
they knowingly took the plaintiff's money, hoping to be reimbursed by Rasmussen. That

cannot be called realistic treatment of a loss payee.

[34] Finally, this is not a situation where another remedy for the inappropriate
conduct of the defendants might be available to the plaintiff. If the plaintiff is to obtain
redress it must be in these proceedings.

[35] It may well be that it is not possible to protect the plaintiff from taxation (RR.
638 and 614, except perhaps by the award of a gross sum under R. 601(1)(a)), but any
taxation should allow the plaintiff all costs, disbursements, expenses and fees

reasonably connected to these proceedings.

[36] With respect to costs other than lawyers’ fees, after the adoption of the new
tariff, col. 6 should be applied for the reasons | recently gave in Madgett. Before that
amendment, because of the complexity of the trial, five times col. 5 should be applied.

4. SANDERSON ORDER

[37] As the plaintiff had good grounds for joining the successful defendants as
parties, there is no good cause for depriving the successful defendants of their costs,
and among the co-defendants the unsuccessful defendants were wholly responsible for
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the action; therefore, the successful defendants shall recover their costs direct from the
unsuccessful defendants.

[38] 11th December 1986. Addendum.
PuNITiveE DAMAGES

[39] The evidence established that, insofar as the defendant Rasmussen was
concerned, there was no excuse for the misrepresentation concerning the ownership of
the plaintiff's aircraft. There was no suggestion in the evidence of any particular financial
emergency facing Shirley Air Services Ltd. at the time of the misrepresentation. The
evidence did establish that money was being made available to Shirley Air Services Ltd.
from other sources at the time of the misrepresentation.

[40] In these circumstances, the award of punitive damages against the defendant
Rasmussen shall be in the amount of $150,000.

Order accordingly.
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Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta

Citation: Chrystian v. Topilko, 2010 ABQB 456

Date: 20100708
Docket: 0803 09995
Registry: Edmonton

Between:
Marie Chrystian
Plaintiff
- and -
Rosie Topilko, Elsie Achtemichuk, Dorothy Hanson,
Randy Misyk and Richard Misyk
Defendants

Reasons for Judgment
of the
Honourable Mr. Justice R.P. Marceau
on application by the Defendants for solicitor-client costs
against the Plaintiff

[1] Orest Ehner Misyk, born August 14, 1945, died on the 19* of October, 2007. The
deceased’s pilot’s license and the handwritten will were alleged to have been found by a friend
of the deceased who was going through documents at the deceased’s farm along with the
Plaintiff’s family which include herself, her husband, and her son Kyle. This will (which I will
call “the envelope will” because it was written on the back of an envelope) along with the pilot’s
license which all agreed was signed by the deceased was taken to a lawyer in Wetaskiwin, Mr.
Deckert, by the Plaintiff. The will is dated April 27, 2007 and was found on October 22, 2007.

[2] Later on, from the evidence, probably around the 26" or 27" of May, 2008, a second will
written on the back of the Duplicate Certificate of Title to the S.E. 33-47-15-W4 in the name of
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Orest Misyk (the “DCT will”) dated the 4™ of January, 2007, and was delivered to Mrs.
Chrystian’s new solicitor, Ms. Henderson-Lypkie. In hand printing similar to the envelope will,
the January 4, 2007, DCT will gives the farm (2 quarter sections of land) to Kyle and Babe
Kostantine, the son and grandson of the Plaintiff. Gas wells and minerals are given to sister
Marie (the Plaintiff) and the acc (probably to stand for account) “spit” (sic) Marie, Ross, Els and
Rick. The only sibling not mentioned is Randy Misyk.

[3] The envelope will gave Kyle the deceased’s airplane. Then it says that Lisa, Kyle and
Babe Chrystian keep 2 1/4's of “my Misyk farm” “must farm it and keep for him” “WS bank acct
= gpit (sic) Marie Rose Else and Rick.” In both wills, Marie is to look after the “business” which
is probably a sufficient appointment of an executor.

[4] On the 6™ of May, 2008, two of the siblings, Elsie Achtemichuk and Rosie Topilko
applied for a grant of administration. On May 8, 2008, Marie Chrystian applied to prove in
solemn form the will of Orest Misyk dated 27 April 2007.

[5] There were other court applications and court orders but on June 17, 2008, Justice Read

of this court directed the trial of an issue as to whether Orest Ehner Misyk prepared a holograph
will in the fall of 2007 (the word “fall” is probably an error as the only will in question in early

May 2008 was the will dated 27 April 2007).

[6] The parties were to be as in the style of cause, i.e. Marie Chrystian as Plaintiff; all of the
other siblings of the deceased as Defendants with Notice to the Public Trustee with respect to
Kostantine Ethan Chrystian (the person named in the will as “Babe”), a minor. It is common
ground the deceased left no parents, children, wife or adult interdependent person so if the
will(s) are invalid, there is an intestacy and the Plaintiff and Defendants share the estate equally.

[7] The matter proceeded in accordance with the orders and eventually the trial was set to
commence before me starting on June 14™, 2010 for a period of two weeks.

[8] Shortly before the trial date, new counsel for the Plaintiff, Field & Co., notified the
Defendant’s counsel that they wished to apply to discontinue the Statement of Claim. This
amounts to a concession the Plaintiff is not able to prove the envelope will of 27 April 2007 was
wholly in the handwriting of the deceased. The onus is on the Plaintiff to prove the will and it
cannot satisfy that onus. Taken by itself the application for a discontinuance does not mean the
Plaintiff is guilty of any wrongdoing in commencing the proceedings nor in the manner the
proceedings were conducted. I allowed the discontinuance and declared the will not to be the
valid last will of the deceased. However, having heard the evidence, especially that of the
handwriting expert Mr. Peace, I find the will was in fact a forgery.

9] The only matter before the court is the matter of costs of the proceedings to the time of
discontinuance and the costs of this cost hearing which went on for 3 days and an additional 3
hours of argument. The Plaintiff’s position is that all costs should come from the estate, and the
Plaintiff should have party and party costs out of the estate.
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[10] The Plaintiff also says that the Defendants have not proved to the standard required that
the Plaintiff is guilty of conduct which would justify punitive costs. Polar Ice Express Inc. v.
Arctic Glacier Inc 2009 ABCA 20 is clear authority for the proposition that solicitor-client costs
should not be awarded for misconduct prior to the litigation or which caused the litigation but
punitive costs are an appropriate remedy for misconduct in the course of litigation. In this case,
the forgery of the will is misconduct prior to the action but the attempt to convince Mr. Purdy
that the will was that of the deceased by supplying Mr. Purdy, but not Mr. Peace (until just
before the date set for trial), a number of other forged documents was misconduct throughout the
litigation which merits an award of solicitor-client costs. Of course, persisting in the course of
litigation in attempts to prove a forged will (which the Plaintiff knew was forged) was valid is
also misconduct in the course of the action.

[11] The Defendants seek solicitor-client costs against the Plaintiff throughout.

[12] Counsel for the Defendants claimed the initiation of the efforts of the Plaintiff to prove
the will through to the discontinuance was based on a forgery of the Plaintiff in preparing the
envelope will, supporting documents and the DCT will all to ensure that her son and grandson
would inherit the farm and anything on the farm which was practically speaking, the entire
estate. Obviously, if there is no will, the estate will be divided among the six siblings of the
deceased including the Plaintiff.

[13] The alternative to the Plaintiff having conceived and acted on the fraudulent will is that
someone other than the Plaintiff forged some or all of the documents, but the Plaintiff was an
active participant in the scheme. If not an active participant in the scheme, the Plaintiff was
willfully blind and should have known from the start the wills and supporting documents were
fraudulent and solicitor-client costs should follow.

[14] For the reasons which follow, I find the Defendants have failed to prove that the Plaintiff
actually performed the forgeries. I find, however, that there are too many coincidences which
must have happened for the Plaintiff not to have been an active participant in that although she
may not have prepared the documents, she knew they were fraudulently prepared to divert the
lion’s share of the estate to her son, his wife and her grandson. Hers was not willful blindness, it
was knowledge and complicity.

[15] The Defendants argued at some length that the lawyers were at fault in not recognizing
sooner that the documents principally relied upon by the Plaintiff were false. In argument, I
indicated that all lawyers or firms acting for the Plaintiff, in my opinion, acted most
professionally. So long as there were two handwriting experts who had differing views of the
validity of the envelope will, it was the professional duty of the Plaintiff’s lawyers to seek to
prove the envelope will. Once it was apparent the Plaintiff’s expert could not give evidence that
the will was valid, the solicitors for the Plaintiff sought instructions to discontinue and made the
necessary application. I cannot see how any of the Plaintiff’s lawyers should be tarred with the
broad sweep of the Defendants’ brush. I will deal with the fact that these allegations against the
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lawyers, in my opinion, increased the length of the hearing by reducing the award of costs of this

hearing.

Chronology of Events and Documents Examined by Handwriting Experts and their

Opinion

[16] November 19, 2007, Mr. Stephens, solicitor for the Defendants, sent to Leslie Peace,
Forensic Document Examiner, the following documents:

Exhibit C - a reproduction of a six-page Alberta Right-Of-Way Agreement
document describing the terms of an agreement between Orest Misyk and
Burlington Resources Canada L.td., dated February 9, 2005, bearing in several
locations specimen handwritten signatures and initials purportedly written by
Orest Misyk.

Exhibit D - a digitally-scanned facsimile reproduction of a Canada Revenue
Agency form titled “Authorizing or Cancelling a Representative”, completed in
the name of Orest E. Misyk, dated April 21, 2007, bearing a specimen signature
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit E - a digitally-scanned facsimile reproduction of a Canada Revenue

Agency form titled “Information Return For Electronic Filing Of An Individual’s
Income Tax and Benefit Return”, completed in the name of Orest E. Misyk, dated
April 21, 2007, bearing a specimen signature purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

[17] December 17,2007, Mr. Peace personally attended at the office of the then-Plaintiff’s
solicitor and obtained:

1.

2.

Exhibit A - a white business envelope; and

Exhibit B - a Transport Canada Licence Validation Certificate.

[18] January 8, 2008, Documents received at Mr. Peace’s office:

1;

Exhibit K1 - nine (9) cancelled cheques drawn on the personal account of Orest
Misyk at the Bank of Nova Scotia, Camrose, Alberta, bearing various dates
between Sept. 4, 2001 and Oct. 23, 2001, each purportedly written and signed by
Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K2 - eleven (11) Visa and MasterCard credit card sales slips issued in the
name of Orest E. Misyk, bearing various dates between 96/05/13 and 01/10/11,
each purportedly signed by Orest Misyk.
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Exhibit K3 - a Ukraine Customs Declaration form completed in the name of Orest
Ehner Misyk, dated June 6, 2006, purportedly written and signed by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K4 - a reproduction of a Rediform Work Invoice No. 207256 dated
January 4, 2003, completed in favour of Morris Komarnisky, bearing handwritten

10.

11.

and hand printed notations purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K5 - a reproduction of a Transfer of Land document, Form 11, dated
February 10, 2006, describing the terms of a land transfer from Orest Misyk to
Ducks Unlimited Canada, bearing a specimen signature purportedly written by
Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K6 - five (5) Alberta Water Well Drilling Report forms bearing
various dates between May 12, 2005 and May 30, 2005, each bearing a
number of handwritten and handprinted notations, plus a signature, all
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K7 - carbon copies of five (5) Blueline Repair Order forms
bearing various dates between May 25, 2005 and July 7, 2005, each
completed in the name of New Park Environmental, bearing a number of
handwritten and handprinted notiations purportedly written by Orest
Misyk.

Exhibit K8- reproductions of three (3) Blueline Statement forms
dated May 24, 2005, each prepared in the name of Brian Hejnar,
bearing a number of handwritten and handprinted notations
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K9 - a reproduction of a Blueline Repair Order form dated
May 12, 2005, completed in the name of New Park Environmental,
bearing a number of handwritten and handprinted notations
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K10 - carbon copies of two (2) Canadian Firearms Safety Course
Reports dated August 24, 2002, each completed in the name of Orest
Ehner Misyk, each bearing a number of handwritten notations and a
signature purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K11(1-2) - carbon copies of two (2) Blueline Sales Order

forms Nos. 140151 and 140152, dated in January and February of
2006, bearing a number of handwritten and handprinted notations
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.
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Exhibit K11(3-6) - four (4) original Blueline Sales Order forms
Nos. 140153, 104054, 140155 , and 140156, two of which are
dated “2007" and each bearing a number of handwritten and
handprinted notations purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K12 - a Blueline DC101 book of numbered Statement forms
containing carbon copies of twenty-five (25) partially-completed or fully-
completed statements dated between Nov. 15, 2003, and No. 01, 2006,
each bearing a number of handwritten and handprinted notations
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K13 - a Rediform 5M062 book of numbered Counter Sales
forms containing carbon copies of thirty-two (32) partially-
completed or fully-completed invoices dated between Jan. —, 2002,
and Dec. 27, 2002, each bearing a number of handwritten and
handprinted notations purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K14 - the front and back covers from a Hilroy spiral-ring
Science Note Book bearing a number of handwritten and
handprinted notations pertaining to equipment descriptions,
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K15 - two (2) attached sheets of treated paper, each
bearing a hand-drawn sketch and handwritten land descriptions
produced in the form of facsimile memoranda from Orest Misyk of
Misyk Drilling to “1-78—427-1214", purportedly written by Orest
Misyk.

Exhibit K16 - three (3) attached sheets of steno-pad paper and
ruled notepaper, each bearing various handwritten and handprinted

work notations and cost estimates, purportedly written by Orest
Misyk.

Exhibit K17 - a cancelled cheque drawn on the account of Orest
Misyk at the Bank of Nova Scotia, Camrose, Alberta, dated “Nov.
93", payable to Edmonton Opera in the amount of $90.00,
purportedly written and signed by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K18 - a cancelled cheque drawn on the account of Orest
Misyk at the Bank of Nova Scotia, Camrose, Alberta, dated “Jan
94", payable to Edmonton Opera in the amount of $35.00,
purportedly written and signed by Orest Misyk.
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[19] In his report dated February 7, 2008, Mr. Peace said that the purpose of his examination
was:

(1) To examine and compare the questioned hand printed notations and “Orest E
Misyk” signature on Exhibit A with the specimen writing, printing, and signatures in
Exhibits B, C, D, E. and K1 through K13, all purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

(2) To determine whether or not the questioned “Orest E Misyk” signature on Exhibit
A was written by the person who produced the specimen signatures in Exhibits B, C, D,
E, and K1 through K13, purportedly Orest Misyk.

3) To determine whether or not the hand printed notations in the body of Exhibit A
were written by the person who produced the specimen writing and printing in Exhibits
B, C, D, E, and K1 through K3, purportedly Orest Misyk.

[20] His conclusion was “There is a high probability that the questioned “Orest E Misyk”
signature on Exhibit A was not written by the person who produced the specimen signatures in
Exhibits B, C, D, E, K1, K2, K3, K5, K6, K8, and K10, purportedly Orest Misyk.” Added as
remarks on Page 6 of his opinion is the following:

“(1)  The above observations and recommendations should not be construed as
formal forensic opinions, as they are primarily derived from a PRELIMINARY
REVIEW AND APPRAISAL of the documents submitted for analysis. These
observations are not intended for courtroom presentation in their present form,
and must be supported by a more detailed study of the documents if testimony or
Affidavits are required at some time in the future.”

[21] I have set out this disclaimer because much was made in argument by the Plaintiff about
the tentative nature of the opinion.

[22]  On the 14™ of May, 2008, Dan C. Purdy, Forensic Document Examiner, wrote an opinion
to Kyle Chrystian (the Plaintiff’s son) headed “Personal and Confidential”. Mr. Purdy stated in
his letter of opinion that:

“We have been retained by you to examine certain documents related to the above
matter and to provide an opinion supported by the evidence with respect to the
authorship of a signature and hand printing on an envelope. Specifically, you
wish to know if the questioned signature and hand printing was written by Orest
Misyk or whether these entries were written by someone else.

The following documents were received at this laboratory from you personally on
22 April 2008: See Appendix A.

[23] Mr. Purdy’s conclusion was as follows:
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“The questioned hand printing and signature on item Q-1 were probably written
by the writer (Orest Misyk) of the specimen material on items K-1 through K-
108.”

[24] The conclusion of the opinion was communicated to solicitors for the Defendants. Mr.
Peace recommended that an application be made to send the documents to an ink specialist who
could date the documents. This happened in mid-2009, but the ink chemist reported the ink was
too old to date, so nothing turns on that.

[25] The Substance of Opinion Statement, Rule 218.1 of Dan C. Purdy is dated February 16,
2010 and was served very shortly thereafter upon solicitors for the Defendants.

[26] Mr. Peace was then consulted. He realized that he did not have many of the documents
which had been forwarded to Mr. Purdy. He obtained the documents that Mr. Purdy had seen and
then wrote his opinion of April 7, 2010. I am attaching as Appendix B, the description of
documents received by Mr. Peace on March 8, 2010, from Simons & Stephens, received from
solicitor for the Plaintiff, Greg A. Harding Q.C. on March 10, 2010, and those received on
March 25, 2010, by electronic file transmission from the solicitors for the Defendants and finally
additional exhibits received March 25, 2010 by electronic file transmission from the account of
Roger C. Stephens.

[27] At this point, the conclusions and opinions of Mr. Peace on April 7, 2010, are:

“(1) The hand printed notations on Exhibit Q-1 were not written by the person
who produced the various examples of specimen handwriting and hand printing in
the “Misyk Sample”, purportedly Orest Misyk.

2) There is a high probability that the “Orest E Misyk™ signature on Exhibit
Q-1 was not written by the person who produced the various specimen signatures
in the “Misyk Sample”, purportedly Orest Misyk.”

[28] A significant aspect of the investigation by Mr. Peace was that until March 0f 2010, he
had not seen the totality of the documents. In March 2010, he had many, many documents signed
by the deceased and he challenged several of the documents which had been held by the Plaintiff
or their counsel and although they had been seen by Mr. Purdy had not yet been seen by Mr.
Peace. The most significant finding, however, was a number of the documents, such as the
envelope will, were produced by the Plaintiff or her family and in Mr. Peace’s opinion, some of
these documents were not written by the deceased (the notes to self,) some were partly written
by the deceased but signed by some else (some of the hotel receipts), or were written by
someone else (probably the hotel desk clerk) but signed in the deceased’s name by someone else
(some of the hotel receipts).
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[29] Iwill deal specifically with certain of the documents which were challenged by Mr.
Peace. These were in the possession of Mr. Purdy until they were obtained by Mr. Peace.

[30] Q-1 is the envelope will. It was seen by Mr. Peace before his first report as was the
signature on the pilot’s license and the signature on some old cheques.

[31] P-1is described by Mr. Peace as the notations on the back of a legal invoice. In fact it
appears to be page 1 of the airfare invoice for his September 2007 trip to the Ukraine. The
document is undated. It is in pencil in part and in ink in part. It is made to look like notations
made by the deceased. It is also made to look somewhat like the bad handwriting in the
challenged will. The significant aspect is that we know the deceased travelled to the Ukraine on
September 7, 2007, and returned September 25, 2007. This document is made to appear as
though the deceased is preparing for departure and is relying on the Plaintiff and Kyle. One
notation says “Marie get land tax pd yet” and “#1 did Kyle off work to take me and B WC leave
truck at his--". And in another place “will have tickets Monday”.

[32] P-2: All the document including the signature is excluded as not being in the deceased’s
handwriting and the signatures challenged as not being that of the deceased. The receipt itself is
made out to Orest Misyk and relates to the sale of a Ford truck December 20, 2001. In different
ink at the bottom is the signature “Orest Misyk”.

[33] This is one of many documents which on their face appear authentic, but the signature is
false. In my view, since I accept Mr. Peace’s conclusion the challenged signatures were
forgeries, this signature was placed there by someone who wanted to create a paper trail of
alleged specimen signatures of the deceased for comparison to the signature on Q-1. Otherwise,
why would one go to the trouble of finding documents as old as 2001 and forging on it the
deceased’s signature?

[34] P-3is of little significance. The Tri-Bit Service invoice was written by someone other
than the deceased, but it was signed by the deceased.

[35] P-4: Mr. Peace found cheque no. 167 had the hand printed portions done by the deceased,
i.e. “200" and “cash” as the payee. The endorsement on the reverse was that of the deceased, but
the signature as drawer of the cheque was a forgery, not unlike the signature on Q-1. Of the
close to 200 cancelled cheques examined by Mr. Peace, this was the only challenged signature as
drawer. There was follow up. A photocopy of the cheque as it was cleared at the bank was
obtained and it showed no signature of the drawer. There is almost only one inference to be
made. After the death, someone seeking to provide signatures that would look like they were that
of the deceased would be in among other authentic signatures, but forged. Mr. Peace speculated
that because the ink on the details and the ink on the drawer’s signature was often different when
the payee was “cash”, the deceased had the habit of writing out a cheque for cash but prudently
not signing it till he was at the bank. In the case of cheque 167, he probably forgot to sign the
face of the cheque. This strengthens Mr. Peace’s theory.
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[36] P-101 - the DCT will. All of the handwriting is challenged. It is made up out of the whole
cloth. There are two reasons to create a second forgery. First, it expresses the same intention as
the other (though not first) will Q-1. It also appears to have similar signature to Q-1. Although
Mr. Peace was not asked to compare the two signatures, to myself, a layman, they appear to be
similar signatures and if I had been duped into believing both signatures were authentic, [ would
have likely opined that the deceased had a fixed intention to give most of his estate to his
grandnephew, his wife and their child because the same intention is evidenced in a document
January 4™ and another April 27" of the same year, the year of his death.

[37] P-102. The undated document is like P-1, an attempt to show the deceased had trouble
writing at times. This document is also not made in any part by the deceased but it is meant to
serve the interests of the Plaintiff’s son. This is found on the back of the travel itinerary
document for the trip September 7 to 25 September 2007.

“Thank you Yonika for leter — hand two sore to write back — call her at 10 nite let
her know what time we get in from airport”.

[38] These are meant to convey the evidence (which I heard from the Plaintiff) that the “gout”
in the deceased’s hands was so bad he could sometimes not write.

[39] The next notations are :

“Need to get pills from Dr. before me off — Go to farm and get tickets from Kyle
— Kyle Royal Bank me insurance — What size is Babe for UK cloths ask Lisa.”

[40] This is the third reference to “Babe”. Finding out about the size of Babe from his mother
is meant to convey closeness of the deceased to Babe which explains the will. Of course, an
intention to purchase clothes in UK for the child is also evidence of the closeness of the child to
the deceased which was the testimony of the Plaintiff. No clothes purchased in the UK for the
child was placed in evidence.

[41] At the top of the document was a reference to “put up no trespass signs”. The Plaintiff
testified that the deceased did this before going to the Ukraine.

[42] In the top printing, there are signs of shakiness not found in all his documents, but there
are signs of same in the other forged documents, i.e. the two wills.

[43] P-103 is a currency exchange slip with a Ukranian stamp. The signature over the stamp
appears unnecessary and is not that of the deceased.

[44] P-104 is a hotel receipt not made out by the deceased, but signed “O Misyk”. That is a
forgery.
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[45] P-105 is a receipt similar to P-104 but on this one, the printed name at the top is printed
by the deceased. The signature on the bottom is a forgery.

[46] P-106 is again a hotel receipt where the name at the top was written by the deceased, but
the signature at the bottom is a forgery.

[47] P-107 is another hotel receipt where the top details and charges are not those of the
deceased (looks like the hotel clerk). The three letter signature is a forgery.

[48] P-104, 105 and 106 are all signed in the same black ink, are remarkably the same. I am
led to the conclusion that these documents were found in the deceased’s possession after death as
he had returned from the Ukraine less than a month earlier. The obvious intent is to create
“authentic signatures” that are contemporary to authenticate the will.

[49] P-108 is a forged signature on a customs declaration. I conclude the same as for P-105,
106 and 107.

[S0] P-109 is a forgery dated October 12, 2007. I place no significance on this document as he
may have asked someone to make a deposit for him in the last days before he died.

[51] I make mention of a red herring in the evidence. There is a transmission verification
facsimile report which on its face sends a copy of the DCT will to fax number 1403 3265826 on
01/05/2007 at 08:58. This fax number is that of Parlee McLaws, a law firm, for their Calgary fax.
Although the practise is to record all incoming faxes, they are sometimes not recorded and the
law firm had no record of this transmission. The second document produced was in bad
handwriting but similar to the forged wills “FAX 402 265 263 Kanne” ??? (The question marks
are mine as I cannot be sure of the spelling).

[52] I suppose the suggestion was that the deceased, several months before his death, had
faxed a copy of his DCT will to his law firm. The law firm was unable to confirm they ever did
any legal work for the deceased. No one went to the “Cooperators” whose name appeared at the
top of the fax transmission to find out whether one of their branches sent out a fax at 01/05/2007,
08:58 to Parlee McLaws. I have a suspicion this was just another attempt to show the DCT will
actually existed before the death of the deceased but I do not place much reliance on these two
documents.

[53] My conclusion is that Kyle or the Plaintiff and maybe others in the immediate Chrystian
family organized a plot to place before Mr. Purdy signatures that would appear to be authentic
and be recent signatures remarkably like that on the two wills in order to get Mr. Purdy to
believe the signatures on the other documents were those of the deceased and then to find the
signatures on the wills were also that of the deceased. In that, at least initially, they succeeded.

[54] I came to the conclusion the Plaintiff was privy to the fraud partially based on her and her
son having control and “finding” most of the documents submitted to Mr. Purdy.
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[55] Besides the fact there was a blatant attempt to fool the handwriting experts, I also take
into account:

1. Where it is true or not ( and I think it probably is true) the Plaintiff was
able to show a closer connection of her family to the deceased than the
other siblings.

2: The will(s) would have given her son, wife and child, the bulk of the
estate, in fact practically all of the distributable estate.

3. The evidence of the Plaintiff that the deceased’s gout was so bad he could
hardly write yet not one authentic document of the deceased reasonably
contemporary to his death was produced that confirmed an inability to
write. No medical evidence was presented. On the contrary, there are
documents (water well drilling report - p113) which showed that he was
able to write legibly in 1977 (not print). His cheques even in 2007 are well
signed.

[56] I make these findings notwithstanding the fact Mr. Peace was not asked to further
investigate to determine if all the forged signatures were from the same source. Specimens of
handwriting were not obtained from Kyle and the specimen of handwriting from the Plaintiff
was not of a kind that Mr. Peace could make use of as an authentic writing for comparison
purposes.

[57] In making my ruling on costs I am cognizant of the authorities submitted by the parties. |
cite the English case of Mitchell v. Gard (1863) 164 E.R. 1280 (Probate Court) where the Court
held that costs will be awarded against an unsuccessful party in estate litigation in the following
context. “ First where the cause of the litigation originates in the fault of the testator or of those
interested in the residue, costs may be properly paid out of the estate...” That has no application
here as the testator did not cause any confusion leading to litigation and, of course, it is those
interested in the residue who were successful. I agree that costs are more frequently ordered
payable out of the estate even where a claim of fraud has been made but unproven (by those
interested in an intestacy).

[58] Those general rules apply except in exceptional circumstances and the bar is high.
However, in this case, my finding that the wills were created, then attempts made by producing
the forgeries to authenticate the signature on the wills is extreme conduct, certainly as extreme in
civil law as it can be before other authorities of the state take interest. My findings support an
order for full indemnity costs.

Conclusion
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[59] Having concluded the Plaintiff was complicit in the attempt to perpetrate a fraud upon the
court and upon her relatives to benefit her family, the Defendants shall have their costs of all the

proceedings, including the applications in court prior to the filing of the Statement of Claim until
the discontinuance on a full indemnity basis.

[60] With respect to the cost of the proceedings with respect to costs, I am of the view that too
much time was spent by the Defendants in pursuing wrongdoing by the Plaintiff’s lawyer(s) and
the case could have been presented in a much more succinct manner by the Defendants. On this
aspect, the Defendants will have costs against the Plaintiff for two days of proceedings only at 2
times column 2 of Schedule C. The Defendants will not have any costs from the estate for the
other day and 3 hours of proceedings.

[61] The Plaintiff is not awarded any costs against the estate.

Heard on the 21%, 22™, 23 24™ and 25™ days of June, 2010.
Dated at the City of Edmonton, Alberta this 8™ day of July, 2010.

R.P. Marceau
J.C.Q.B.A.

Appearances:

Gregory A. Harding, Q.C.,
and Jon Faulds Q.C., Field LLP
for the Plaintiff

Roger C. Stephens, Simons & Stephens
for the Defendants
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Item K-1:

Item K-2:

Item K-3:

Items K-4 to
K-100:

Appendix A

One (1) torn computer generated Gaede Fielding Rostad & Syed
Barristers, Solicitors statement bearing specimen hand printing on the
reverse side reportedly written by Orest MISYK.

One (1) Blueline receipt numbered 333025, dated 20 December 2001 and
bearing a specimen signature reportedly written by Orest MISYK.

One (1) carbon copy Tri-Bit Services Ltd. invoice numbered 5358, dated
19 June 1996 and bearing a specimen signature reportedly written by
Orest MISYK.

Ninety-seven (97) cancelled checks numbered, dated and in the amounts
as follows bearing specimen signatures and handwritten face details
reportedly written by Orest MISYK. Those items followed by an asterisk
(*) contain handwritten face details that were not written by Mr. Misyk.

Item

K-4

K-6
K-7
K-8
K-9

K-10

K-11

K-12

K-13

K-14

K-15

K-16

K-17

Number
167
169
170
171
174
176
172
173
178
168
166
165
160
164

Date
23 December 2005
27 December 2005
27 December 2005
27 December 2005
27 December 2005
28 December 2005
2 January 2006
3 January 2006
3 January 2006
4 January 2006
10 January 2006
15 January 2006
16 January 2006
28 January 2006

Amount

$200.00
$ 17.90
$133.75
$376.11
$ 100.00
$ 68.14
$100.00
$ 109.00
$ 125.00
$73.09
$ 100.00
$ 300.00
$223.52
$ 100.00
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K-18
K-19
K-20
K-21
K-22
K-23
K-24
K-25
K-26
K-27
K-28
K-29

K-30*

K-31*
K-32
K-33
K-34
K-35
K-36
K-37

K-38*
K-39

K-40*

K-41*

K-42*
K-43
K-44

163
199
198
161
192
197
196
191
193
194
195
204
180
181
189
203
182
187
188
190
186
243
244
246
247
185
241
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31 January 2006
31 January 2006
1 February 2006
4 February 2006
11 February 2006
11 February 2006
12 February 2006
21 February 2006
28 February 2006
28 February 2006
28 February 2006
1 March 2006
3 March 2006
3 March 2006
4 March 2006
7 March 2006
10 March 2006
10 March 2006
14 March 2006
14 March 2006
17 March 2006
22 March 2006
28 March 2006
29 March 2006
29 March 2006
30 March 2006
30 March 2006

$ 64.90
$ 100.00
$ 150.00

$82.34
$ 181.09
$ 100.00
$ 100.00
$300.00
$ 500.00
$ 500.00
$ 500.00
$119.15

$ 68.27

$70.63

$ 84.91
$200.00
$ 178.81
$614.17
$200.00
$ 100.00

$ 75.00
$ 500.00

$1,824.36
$321.00

$ 85.60
$ 100.00

$ 67.54
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K-45 249 30 March 2006 $ 500.00
K-46 250 30 March 2006 $181.22
K-47 183 1 April 2006 $ 100.00
K-48 184 2 April 2006 $ 100.00
K-49 240 4 April 2006 $200.00
K-50 242 4 April 2006 $71.48
K-51 262 9 April 2006 $ 60.63
K-52 245 11 April 2006 $1,700.00
K-53 248 14 April 2006 $5,000.00
K-54 256 21 April 2006 $ 500.00
K-55%* 257 24 April 2006 $224.70
K-56 251 26 April 2006 $103.25
K-57* 282 27 April 2006 $3,000.00
K-58 255 28 April 2006 $3,856.31
K-59 252 30 April 2006 $767.70
K-60 253 1 May 2006 $6,337.18
K-61 259 4 May 2006 $71.26
K-62 162 5 February 2006 $ 100.00
K-63* 283 5 May 2006 $571.00
K-64 254 6 May 2006 $6,630.26
K-65 258 12 May 2006 $66.36
K-66 280 14 May 2006 $10,000.00
K-67 281 14 May 2006 $357.61
K-68* 286 16 May 2006 $1,037.29
K-69 291 19 May 2006 $500.00
K-70 299 4 July 2006 $81.23
K-71 298 5 July 2006 $38.30
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K-72
K-73*
K-74
K-75
K-76
K-77
K-78
K-79
K-80
K-81
K-82
K-83
K-84
K-85
K-86
K-87
K-88
K-89
K-90
K-91
K-92*
K-93
K-94
K-95
K-96
K-97
K-98

871
875
873
872
874
876
877
878
260
261
263
879
267
269
268
266
270
264
275
265
274
277
279
300
271
272
278
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7 July 2006
24 July 2006
27 July 2006
31 July 2006

4 August 2006
8 August 2006
9 August 2006
25 August 2006
27 August 2006
30 August 2006
31 August 2006
1 September 2006

27 September 2006
29 September 2006

1 October 2006
2 October 2006
3 October 2006
4 October 2006
4 October 2006
6 October 2006
10 October 2006
24 October 2006
26 October 2006
30 October 2006
31 October 2006
31 October 2006
31 October 2006

$ 500.00
$ 45.54
$712.43
$ 133.84
$58.89
$ 100.00
$ 500.00
$ 900.00
$77.34
$78.80
$ 500.00
$239.34
$ 681.01
$ 500.00
$477.25
$137.92
$250.00
$ 65.67
$ 68.16
$42.76
$6,782.71
$98.55
$551.61
$500.00
$ 405.56
$229.12
$596.75
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K-99* 301 7 November 2006 $ 556.00
K-100 302 22 November 2006 $ 19.61

Item K-101:  One (1) Duplicate Certificate of Title from North Alberta Land
Registration district dated 11 August 1967 bearing a specimen signature
and hand printing reportedly written by Orest MISYK.

Item K-102: One (1) Expedia.ca travel itinerary from Edmonton to Kiev on September
7/8 bearing specimen hand printing on the reverse side reportedly written
by Orest MISYK.

Item K-103:  One (1) receipt dated 9 September 2007 bearing a specimen signature
reportedly written by Orest MISYK.

Item K-104 to
K-107: Four (4) hotel receipts each bearing a specimen signature reportedly
written by Orest MISYK.

Item K-108: One (1) Ukranian Customs Declaration form dated 24 September 2007
bearing a specimen signature and hand printing reportedly written by
Orest MISYK.
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Appendix B

FORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Poga2- Apxil 7, 2010

FOR:
RE:

Roger C. Slephers

Esiole of Orest Misyk - Examination of Alleged Holograph Wil

2. DESCRIPTION Q€ DOCUMENTS:

(1) The foowing specimen exhibils were received af this office on March 08, 2010, vio
Purofatar Courter Service, from the office of Roger C. Stephems, of the lem Simons and
Stephens, Barristers and Sokcitors. Edmonion, Alberia:

Exhibil B - o reproduction of a Transport Canada “Licence Validation Certificate” No.
250436, msued on June 15, 1990, in the name of Crest EBhney Mayk, bearing a specimen
sgnoture pupoartedly writhen by Orasl Misyk, (Mote: The orginal of his document was
exgrnined on Decembey 17, 2007, ot the offices of Deckert Allen Cymbaluk Genest ULP,
Wetaskwin, Aberte.}

Exhibii C - areproduchon of o six-page "Alberta Right-Of-Wey Agreement” document
descrioing the terms of an agreement between Orest Misyk and Burlington Resowrces
CancdoLid.. dafed February 9, 2005, bearng in severaol locations specimen handwrithen
signatures and nitials purportedty wiltten by Orest Misyk.

Exhibli O - a focsimie reproduction of a Canada Reverue Agency lorm tfited
"Authorizing or Canceiling # Represantative”, completed in {he names of Orest E. Misyk,
dated Aprl 21, 2007, bearing o specimen signature puparedly wiitten by Orest Misyk,

Exhibt E - o facsmile reproducton of a Canada Revenues Agency foom fifled
“nformation Retuwn For Electronic Filing OF An Individugi’s Income Tax and Benefit Retum*,
completed In the name of Orast E. Mk, doted A 21, 2007, beaning a specimnen

signature plyportedly writien by Orast Misyk.
(MCMWEU on Poge 3
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FORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Page 3- Aprl 7, 2010

FOR: RogerC. Stephens
RE:  Estote of Orest Misyk - Examination of Alleged Holograph Will

2. DESCRIPTION OF DOGUMENTS: Cont'd.

Exhibits K-1{1-9) - nine (?) cancelled cheques drawn on the personal account of Orest
Misyk at the Bank of Nova Scolia, Camrose, Alberta, bearing varous dales batwean
sapt. 4, 2001, and Oct. 23, 2001, each puportedty written and signed by Orest Misyk.
(Note: A more detalted description of these specimen cheques. #sted in opproximate
chronological sequence, is attoched fa this report as Tatde |, Appendix "C”.)

Exhibls K-2 (1-11) - eleven (11] Visa and MasterCard sabes slips ssued on the occounts
of Crest €. Misyk, bearing various dates between 95/05/13 and 01/10/11. and each
purportadly signed by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K-3 - a “Ukraine Custorns Daclaration” form completed In the name of Orest
Ehner Misyk, datad June &, 2006, purpartedly written and signed by Orast Misyk.

Exhibl K-4 - o reproduction of a "Rediform” work invoice No. 207256 dated Januory 4,
2003. compleled in fovour of Monis Komamisky, bearing handwritten and handprinted
nolations purportedty written by Orest Misyk.

Exhiblt K-8(1-2) - o reproduction of a ‘Transfer of Land” document. Form 11, with
oftachad “Acceptance”’, dated feb. 10, 2006, describing the terms of @ lond transfer from
Crast Misyk to Ducks Unimited Canadag, bearing two specimen signotures puportedly
written by Orasi Misyk.

Exhibk K-4(1-5) - Gve [5] "Alberta Water Well Drilling Report” forms begring various dates
betwean May 12, 2008, and May 30, 2005, each bearing a number of handwritten and
handprinted natations, plus a signature, all purportedly writlen by Orest Misyk.

Exhiblt K-7(1-5) - corbon copies of five (5] Blueline *Repair Order* loms bearng various
dales between May 25, 2005, and July 7, 2005, each campieted in the name of New
Park Erwironmental, baaring a number of handwritten and handprnied notations
puperiedty wiitten by Orast Misyk.

Exhiblt K-8{1-3) - reprocuctions of three (3] Blueline “Statament” forms daled May 24,
2005, each praparad in the name of Bdan Hejnar, bearing a number of handwritien and
handprinted nototions purportedly writlen by Crest Misyk,

Exhiblt K-? - o reproduction of @ Blueline “Repair Order® form dated May 12, 2005,
compleled in tha nome of New Park Environmental, bearing a number of hanchwritien
ond handprinted notatiorns purporedly written by Orast Misyk.

Exhibl K-10{1-2) - carbon copies of two (2) “‘Canadian Firearms Safety Course Reports”®
dated August 24, 2002, eoch completed in the name of Orest Ehner Misyk, each bearing
o number of handprinted notations and a signature pupoﬂe:w written by Orest Misyk,

. Contnued on Poge 4
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FORENSIC EXAMINATION REFORT - Page 4 - Apd 7, 2010

fOR: Roger C.Slephens
RE: estate of Orest Misyk - Examination of Alleged Holograph Will

2 DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENTS; Conta.

Exhibl K-11(1-2) - carbon coples of twa (2) Blusline “Sales Order” forms Nos. 140151 and
140152, dated in lanuary and February of 2004, bearing a number of handwritien and
handprinted notations purportedty wrilten by Orast Misyk.

Exhiblt K-11(3-4) - four (4] origingl Blueling "Sales Order" forms Nos. 140153, 140154,
140155, and 140154, two of which are dated “2007". and each bearing a numbar of
handwritten and handprinted notalions purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibli K-12 - aBlueline DC 101 book of numbearad “Statement” forms containing carbon
copies of twanty-five (25) partialy-compleled or fully-compleled statemsents dated
between Nov. 15. 2003, and Nov. 01, 2006, each bearing a number of handwritten and
handprinted notations purportedly written by Orest Misyk. '

Exhibit K-13 - o Rediform 5M062 book of numbered “Counter Safes” forms containing
carbon copies of thity-two (32) partiolty-completed or fully-completed invoices dated
batween lan, —, 2002 and Dec, 27, 2002, ecch bearing o number of handwritten and
hondprinted notations purportedly written by Orast Misyk.

Exhibit K-14 - the fron! and back covers from a Hiroy spiral~ing “Science Note Book”
bearing a number of handwriten and handprinted nolations pertaining to aquipment
descriptions, purportadly writtan by Orest Misyk.

Exhiblt K-15{1-2) - two (2) attached sheets of reated paper, each bearing o hand-
crown skelch and handwritten land descriptions produced in the form of facsimile
mamaoranda from Orest Misyk of Misyk Drilling to “1-780-427-1214", purportedly written by
Orest Misyk,

Exhioll K-18(1-3) - three (3) attached sheets of steno-pad paper and ruled notepaper,
each bearing various handwrilten and handprinted wark notafions and cost estimates,
purportadtly written by Crast Misyk,

Exhibit X-17 - a concelled cheque drawn on the account of Crest Misyk al the Bank
of Nova Scolia, Camrose, Alberto, dated "Nov. 23", payoble to Edmonton Opera in the
amount of $20.00, purportediy written and signed by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K-18 - o cancelled cheague drawn on the account of Orasl Misyk at the Bonk
of Nova Scotia, Camsose, Alberda, dated “Jan 947, payable fo Edmonion Opera in the
amount of $35.00, purportedly written and signed by Crest Misyk.

M. Conbinued an Poge §
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FORENSIC EXAMINANON REPORT -Poge 5- Apd 7, 2010
FON: Roger C, Staphens
RE: Estate of Orest Misyk - Examination of Alleged Holograph Wil

4. DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENTS: Cont'd.

{2} The following gdditiongl exhibits were received ot this office on March 10, 2010, vio
Federal Express Courier Service. from the office of Greg A. Harding, Q.C.. of the firm Fiekt
LLP, Edmonion, Alberta:

Exhiblt Q-1 - & soiled white business envelope bearing. on the face. the typewitten
address "COrast Misyk Box 175 Bruce, Albarta TOB ORY". and bearing, on the raverse, o
hondwritten notation which commences “Aprll 27, 2007 1 my body ash then plant ma
with Dad", and concludes with the handwriten and handprinted signature “Orest E
Mizyk™,

Exhibit P-1 - a tom sheel of white paper bearing portions of a computer-generated
involce 1o Harry Misyk from Gaede Fielding Rostad & Syed Bamisters, Salicilors, bearnng
on he revene side a number of unsigned handprintad notations purportedly writien by
Ovest Misyk, ‘

Exhibit P-2 - a Bluseline DC-9| sales racelpt No. 333025, doted Dec. 20, 2001, ksued in |
ther naame of Orest Misyk, and signed "Grest Misyk”

ExhibR P-3 - the carbon capy of a “Tri-Bit Services Lid." invaice No. 5358, dated Jun. 19,
1994, issued in the name of Misyk Drilling, and bearing a signoture appearing to be the
name “0 Misyk™

Exhibits P-4 to P-100 - ninety seven (97) cancealled cheques drawn on e personal
occount of Oresl Misyk ot the Bank of Nova Scotla. Carmrose, Alberia, beoaring voartous
daotes between Dec. 23, 2005, and Nov. 22, 2004, each purportedly written and/or signed
by Orest Misyk. (Nole: A more detaved descriplion of these specimen chegues. lsfed in
gppraximate chronotogical sequence, is attached to s report as Table 2, Appendix "C”.}

Exhibit P-101 - a Duplicate Cerlificate of Title issued 1o Orast Misyk on August 11, 1967,
bearing cn ihe reverse a handprinted notation dated Januory 4, 2007, commencing “-
put rne next to dad”, and concluding with the ptrase and signature © - Help with doctor Orest
Misyk”™.

Exhibit P-102 - < two-poge Expedia.ca travel itinerary listing for Orest Misyk and Brion
Hejnar ravel from Edmonton 1o Kiev, pricted on August 25, 2007, bearing, on the reverse,
of Page !, a numbar of undated handprinted notations and a shorl handprinted letter;
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibk P-103 - o cumancy exchangea raceipt fom dated Sep. (8. 2007, bearing a

signature appeanng 1o be the nome "0 E Misyk™.
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FORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Poge 6 - April 7, 2010
FOR: Roger C: Slephens
RE: Estate of Orest Misyk - Examingtion of Alleged Holograph Will

2. DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENTS: Cont'd.

Exhibli P-104 - a ‘Hotel Service " receip! form issued in the amount of “120.008 7, bearing
a signature oppearing to be the name "0 Misyk”,

Exhiblt P-105 - G "Hote! Service™ receipt form ssued in the amount of “240.008", bearing
a signature appedaring to be 1he name “O Misyk®.

Exhibit P-106 - o “Hotel Service” receipt form issued in the amount of “300.008°, bearing
a signafure appeaning to be the name “C Misyk".

Exhibl P-107 - a “Hote! Service” recelpt form Bsuad In the amount of “300.00$°, bearing
a signhature appearing 1o be the name "“OE M",

Exhiblt P-108 - a document bearng foreigndanguoge commercial prnting and
purparting to e a Ukroinion Customs Declaration, completed in the name of Orest
Ehner Misyk, dated Sep. 24, 2007, bearing a sanes of handprinted notalions and a
signature appaaring 1o be the name “Ovest E Misvk”,

Exhibl P-10% - a Scotiabank “Business Account Deposit” form completad in the name
of Qresl Misyk, dated " Oct 12°, bearing handprinfed details and o signature appearing
to be tha name “C Misyk”,

Exhibit #-113 - an “Alberta Water Weli Drifling Report” form daled July D7, 2005, bearing
a number of handwritten and handprinted notations, plus a signature, cll purportedly
wrilten by Orast Misvk,

Exhiblt P-114 - o Co-operators “General Alteration Endorsemant” form dated May 22,
1984, complatad In the name of Crast Misyk, baaring a signature purponedly written by
Qrest Misyk,

Exhiblt P-115 - 0 Co-operators “General Alteration Endorsement” form complated m the
nama of Orast Misyk, dated May 17, 1784, bearing @ signature purportedy written by
Crest Misyk.

ExhibM P-114 - the carbon copy of a Holiday Rent-A-Car “Rental Agreement” dated Jan,
30. 1975, bearing two signatues purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibl P-117 - o sheat of white ruled nolepaper bearing a handwritten bill of sale
pertaining to the purchase of a 1977 Chevolel, dated February 5. 1997, bearing G

sgnatura purporedly wrilten by Orest Misyk.
Mmh’nu&d or Poge 7
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FORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Page 7 - April 7, 2010
FOR: Roger C. Stephans
e Estate of Orest Misyk - Exomination of Allegad Holograph will

Exhibit P-118 - the carbon copy of an Albera “Appiication For Vehicle Registration”
completed in the nome of Crest Eimer Misyk, dated Apr. 29, 1985, bearing a signofure
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhiblt P-119 - the carhion copy of an Alberia “Application For Vehicle Registration®
completad in the name of Orest Misyk, dated Feb. 08, 1985, bearing a signature
purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

Exhiblt P-120 - an Alberta “Vehicle Reglstration Certificate” for Licence Mo, 435323,
gsuad on Oct. 08, 1992 in the name of Orest Eimer Misyk. bearing a signoture
puportadly written by Orast Misyk.

Exhibit P-121 - an Alberta “Vehicle Registration Certificate” for Licence No. 030513,
ssuad on Fab. 24, 1988 In tha name of Orest Eimer Misyk, bearing a signalure purportedly
written by Orest Misvk.

Exhibit P-122 - o partial Alberta registration cerification for o 1974 Caodiloc DeVile,
Licence No. GIM262 expiring on Feb. 28, 1986, bearing o signature purportedly witten
by Orast Misytk.

Exhibll P-123 - on Alberta “Vehicke Raglstration Certificate” for Licence No. 00E833,
issued on Apr, 01, 1994 in the nome of Orest Eimer Misyk, bearing @ signature pueportedly
written by Orast Misyk.

ExhibB P-124 - o portial Albeda registrotion cedification for a 1947 Chav impala,
expiring on Mar. 31, 1980, bearing a signature purporiedly writlen by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit P-125 - an Alberta “Vehicle Registration Cartificate” for Licence No. 44G471,
issued on Feb. 28, 1997 in tha nome of Orest Bmer Misyk, bearing a signature purportedly
written by Orest Misyk.,

Exhibi P-126 - an Alberia “Vehicle Registration Certificate” for Licence No. 01 F489,
issued on Feb, 28, 1994 in the nome of Orest Eimer Misyk, bearing a signalure purportedly
writlen by Orest Misyk,

Exhibit P-127 -  an Alberia “Vehicle Registration Certificate” for Licence No. 44470,
issued on Fab_ 28, 1997 in the nare of Orest Eimer Misyk, beanng a signalure purportedly

writen by Orest Misyk,

weenenn CONMNMUEd oN Poge B
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PORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Poge 8 - April 7, 2010
FOR: FRoger C. Stephens
RE: Eslate of Orest Misyk_- Examimation of Alleged Holograph Wil

2. DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENTS: Cont'd.

Exhibit P-128 - an Alberta “Vehicle Registration Certificate” for Licence Mo, KWS921,
ssued on Apr. 18, 1990in the name of Orest Eimer Misyk, bearing a signalure purportedly
wrilen by Orest Miyic

Exhibit P-12* -  an Alberta "Temporary Vehicle Registration Certificate” for Licance No.
76E372, Issued on Apr, 15, 1991 in the nome aof Orest BBmer Misyk, bedaring a signature
purportedly writlen by Orasl Misyk.

Exhibit P-130 - Q one page typewritten memorondum addrassed 1o the Alberia
Energy and Ufifities Board In relation to Burington Resources Coanoda Lid., doted
February ¥, 2005, bearing a signature purportedly writtan by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit P-131 - o “Goods And Services Tax / Harmonized Sales Tax Return® complated
in the name of Orest Misyk. dated Mar, 20, 2003. bearing a signature purpariedly written
by Orest Misyk.

Exhiblt P-132 - g Caltech Surveys Ltd. Well Site bluepsint for Title No. 187F224, dated
Apr. 10, 2002, bearing a sgnature purportedly wiilen by Orest Misyk,

Exhib#® F-133 - a partial Alberta registration cedification for @ 1970 Mercury Cougar
eaxpling on Mar. 31, 1980, bearing a signature purportedly writlen by Qrest Misyk,

Exhibl P-134 -  an Alberta “Vehicle Registration Certificate” for Licence No, 00EB33,
lssued on DOct. 08, 1992 in the name of Oresl Eimer Misyk, bearing o signatue
purportedly writan by Orest Misyk.

Exhib® P-135 - a cheque drawn on the account of Oresl Misyk ot the Bonk of
Monireal, Tofleld, Alberta, dated Sep. 05, 1986, bearing handwriiten datals and o
signoture purportadly wiilen by Orast Misyk.

Exhiblts P-136 fo P-218 - seventy -nine (79) cancelied cheques drawn on the persanal
account of Cresl Misyk af the Bank of Nova Scolia, Camrose, Alberta, bearing vornous
dates between Jun, 04, 1994, and Sep. 03, 2007, each purportedly written and/or signed
by Orest Misyk, (Nofe; A mare detalled description of these specimen cheques, Isfed in
opproximate chronological sequence, s atlached fo this report as Tabke 3, Appendix "C".)

Exhibits F-214 to P-219 - four (4] Visa sales slips issved on account No. 4560906741573,
bearing various dates between ¥7/01/02 and $7/07 /07, and each purportedly signed by
Crest Misyk.

... Contnued on Page 9
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FORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Page 9 - Aprl 7, 2010
FOR: Roger C. Slephens
RE: Estate of Orest Misyk - Examination of Alleped Holograph Wil

4. DESCRIFTION OF DOCUMENTS: Cont'd.

Exhibii P-220 - ihe final page of a Lease agreemeni between Orest Misyk and Edwin
Lackner, dated Mar, 31, 1980, bearing two signatures purportedly written by Ovest Misyk.

Exhibk P-222 - a Scotiabank “Business Account Deposit™ book containing carbon
copies of fitty (50) separate deposit forms which bear bank stamps dated from Jan. 08,
2005, to Oct. 12, 2007, oo becring handwaitten and/or handprinted notations, phus
initiots or signatures, purportedly written by Ovast Misyk.

Exhbbit P-223a - a manillacolowred envelops postmarked at Holden, Alberta on Dec.
0%, 1998, bearing the handprinted address “FLoyd McVIG Box 2 BRUCE TOB 0RO, ond
o handprinted retum address purporedty wiitlen by Orest Misyk.

Exhiblt P-223b - a sheel of whita papar bearing a handwritien lefter dated Dec. 5,
1998, commencing "Dear Flopd McVig ... ", and concluding wilh the handprinted notation
“Orest. Misyk Box 175 Bruce TOB ORU™. purportedly writlen by Orest Misyk,

Exhiblt P-224 - o "Bill Of Sale” document describing the tarms of a motorcycle sale by
Qrast Misyk to Mike MocNel, dated May 25, 1995, bearing handprinted nototions and
a signatwe purportedty writlen by Orest Misyk.

Exhibl P-227 - o typewritten Cash Lease Agreement”® describing the terms of an
agreemant batwaen O.E. Misyk and R. Korbyl, cdaoted July 01, 1991, bearing a
handprinted name and a signoture purportedly writien by Orest Misyk.,

Exhib® P-228 - areproduciion of a two-page “Transfer OF Land™ document describing
the terms of o land agreement batweean Orast Miyk and Ducks Unlimited Canada..
dated Feb. 10, 2004, bearing in several lacations signatures purportedty written by Orest
Misyk. [Note: Sorme sections of this document have been previously ited and described as
Eximbit K-5).

Exhibk P-22¢ - o reproduction of a Swon City Realty “Exclusive Listing Agreement”
completed in the nome of “Crest Misak™, dated Apr. 27. 2005. bearing o signotwe
purponedly writtan by Crast Misyk.

Exhibh P-230 - areproduction of a “Dual Agency Disclosure Statement” completed in the
nomeas of Crest Misyk and Duck Unlimitad Conada, bearing on undated signahure
puporedly written by Orest Misyk.

.

............... Confinued an Page 10
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FORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Page 10- April 7, 2010
FOR: Roger C.5tephens
RE: Estate of Orest Misyk - Examination of Alleged Holograph Wil

2. DESCRIPTION OF DQCUMENTS: Cont'd,

{3) The following addifional exhibils were received ot this office on Morch 25. 2010, via
electronic fike fronsmission (digital fite attachment 1o a-mall) frorn the account of Roger
C. Stephens. of the firm Simons ond Stephens, Barristers ond Sodicitors, Edmonion, Alberia:

Exhibit P-110 - @ scanned reproduction of an Alberta “Vehivle Registration Certificate”
for Licance No. 1X4813, issped on June 30, 1984 in the nome of Orest Misyk, baamng ¢
signature purportedty written by Orest Misyk.

Exhibl P-111 - a reproduction of a handwritten bill of sole dated May 18, 1983,
descrbing the terms of an aogreement batweaen Orest Misyk and Bruce Weber, bearing
a signotue purpartedty written by Oresl Misyk.

Exhibit F-112 - a4 reproduction of tha signalure page from Canadian Passport No.
MJI742084 gsved in the mame of Orost Elners Misyk on Apr, 09, 2003, bearing a signature

purportadly writtan by Orast Misyk.

Exhibll P-224 - a reproduclion of a diabates 1.D. cord completed in the handprinted
name “Orest Misyk”, purportedly written by Ores! Misyl,

Exhibh P-228 - < reproduction of a Department of Transport "Student Plfet Permit™ No,
XDX-250634, bsuad on Nov. 25, 1977 in the name of Orest Ehner Misyk, baaring a
specimen signature purportedly written by Orest Misyk.

{4) The following addifional exhibits were recefved at this office on March 25, 2010, via
elecironic fite fransmission (digital file attachment to a-maill from the account of Roger
C. Stephens. of the firm Simons and Stephens, Barristers and Soficitors. Edrmonton, Alberfa:

Exhibit K-1? - a microfilm reproduction of a “Customs Declaration Card” completed in
e name of Orest E. Misyk, badaring an llegible date stamp, and bearing a sgnoture
purportedly writhen by Orest Misyk.

Exhibit K-20 - o microfim reproduction of a “Customs Declaration Card” compleled in
the name of Onast E. Msyk, appedaring fo be dale starmped ih june 2007, bearing a
signature purportedly writen by Orast Misyk.

Exhibit K-21 - o microfim reproduction of a “Customs Declaration Card” compleled:in
the name of Owest E. Misyk, date stamped “Sep 25 2007, bearing a signoture
purpartedly written by Orest Misyk.
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FORENSIC EXAMINATION REPORT -Page |1 - Aprl 7, 2010
FOR: Roger C. Stephens
RE: Estate of Orest Misyk - Examination of Alleged Holograph Will

4. DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENTS: Cont'a.

{5) The following additional exhibit was received at this office on March 26, 2010, via
efectronic file iransmission (digital file oltachment to e-mail) from the occount of Roger
C. Stephens, of tha firm Simans ond Stephens, Bamisters and Soficitors, Edmonton, Alberia:

Exhiblt P-221 - a reproduction of various poges from the duplicate cheque ook of
Crest Misyk, including copias of twenty (20] cheques dated from April through Augusl
of 2001, each apparenily bearing handwritten and/or handprinted antries, plus o
signalure, purportedly writhan by Orest Misyk. [Mote: A number of these cheques include
handwritten f handprinted enfries no! produced by Orest Misyk. and In mast coses. the signofure
is not Tully visible due fo an opaquing secuity pattemn on the dupficaote cheque.)
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